
Buchanan Inger soli ARooney PC 
Attorneys &. Government Relations Professionals 

Lauren M. Lepkoski 
717 237 4841 
lauren.lepkoski@bipc.com 

17 North Second Street, 15th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101-1503 

T 717 237 4800 
F 717 233 0852 

www.buchananingersoll.com 

June 10,2011 

VIA HAND DELIVERY 

Rosemary Chiavetta, Secretary 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
Commonwealth Keystone Building 
400 North Street, 2nd Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Re: NGS license application of Just Energy to offer, render, furnish, or supply natural 
gas supply services to the public in Pennsylvania 

Dear Secretary Chiavetta: 

Enclosed is Just Energy's Application to expand its Natural Gas Supplier license to all 
service territories in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The proof of publications in the 
Application contains counsel's incorrect contact information. Just Energy has resubmitted the 
newspaper advertisements with counsels correct contact information. Just Energy will resubmit 
the corrected proof of publications once the Company receives the proof of publications. 

Lauren M. Lepkoski 

LML/kra 
Enclosure 
cc: Certificate of Service 
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BEFORE THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

Application of Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., for approval to offer, render, furnish, or as afn) Natural Gas Supplier 
to the public in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

To the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission: 

1. IDENTITY OF THE APPLICANT: The name, address, telephone number, and FAX number of the 
Applicant are: 

Just Energy Pennsylvania, Corp. 
635 Dixie Rd, Suite 200 
Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6 Canada 
Phone: (905) 670-4440 
Fax: (905) 564-6069 

Please identify any predecessor(s) of the Applicant and provide other names under which the Applicant has 
operated within the preceding five (5) years, including name, address, and telephone number. 

None. 

2. a. CONTACT PERSON: The name, title, address, telephone number, and FAX number of the person to whom 
questions about this Application should be addressed are: 

Michael Haugh 
Manager, Regulatory Affairs 
6345 Dixie Rd, Suite 200 
Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6 Canada 
Phone: 614-364-2232 
Fax: 905-564-6069 

b. CONTACT PERSON-PENNSYLVANIA EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT AGENCY: The name, title, address 
telephone number and FAX number of the person with whom contact should be made by PEMA: 

Michael Haugh 
Manager, Regulatory Affairs 
6345 Dixie Rd, Suite 200 
Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6 Canada 
Phone: 614-364-2232 
Fax: 905-564-6069 
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3. a. ATTORNEY: If applicable, the name, address, telephone number, and FAX number of the Applicant's 
attorney are: 

John F. Povilaitis, Esquire 
Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney, PC 
17 North Second Street, 15th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
Phone: 717-237-4825 
Fax: 717-233-0852 

b. REGISTERED AGENT: If the Applicant does not maintain a principal office in the Commonwealth, the 
required name, address, telephone number and FAX number of the Applicant's Registered Agent in the 
Commonwealth are: 

National Registered Agents, Inc. 
600N 2nd Street 
Harrisburg, PA 
Phone: 800-562-6429 

4. FICTITIOUS NAME: (select and complete appropriate statement) 

The Applicant will be using a fictitious name or doing business as ("d/b/a"): 

Attach to the Application a copy of the Applicant's filing with the Commonwealth's Department of State 
pursuant to 54 Pa. C.S. §311, Form PA-953. 

or 

• The Applicant will not be using a fictitious name. 

5. BUSINESS ENTITY AND DEPARTMENT OF STATE FILINGS: (select and complete appropriate 
statement) 

• The Applicant is a sole proprietor. 

If the Applicant is located outside the Commonwealth, provide proof of compliance with 15 Pa. C.S. §4124 
relating to Department of State filing requirements. 

or 

Q The Applicant is a: 

Q l domestic general partnership (*) 
Q domestic limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8511) 
Q foreign general or limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §4124) 
• domestic limited liability partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8201) 
Q foreign limited liability general partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8211) 
• foreign limited liability limited partnership (15 Pa. C.S. §8211) 

Provide proof of compliance with appropriate Department of State filing requirements as indicated 
above. 

Nacuiil Gas Supplier License Application 
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Give name, d/b/a, and address of partners. If any partner is not an individual, identify the business nature of 
the partner entity and identify its partners or officers. 

• * If a corporate partner in the Applicant's domestic partnership is not domiciled in Pennsylvania, attach 
a copy of the Applicant's Department of State filing pufsuantto 15 Pa. C.S. §4124. 

or 

• The Applicant is a: 

Q domestic corporation (none) 

• foreign corporation (15 Pa. C.S. §4124) 
• domestic limited liability company (15 Pa. C.S. §8913) 
• foreign limited liability company (15 Pa. C.S. §8981) 
• Other 

Provide proof of compliance with appropriate Department of State filing requirements as indicated above. 
Additionally, provide a copy of the Applicant's Articles of Incorporation. Please see Appendix E. 

Give name and address of officers. 

Please see Appendix H. 

The Applicant is incorporated in the state of Delaware. 

6. AFFILIATES AND PREDECESSORS WITHIN PENNSYLVANIA: (select and complete appropriate 
statement) 

m Affiliate(s) of the Applicant doing business in Pennsylvania are: 

1. Commerce Energy, Inc. 
2. Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

Give name and address of the affiliate(s) and state whether the affiliate(s) are jurisdictional public 
utilities. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. Hudson Energy Services, LLC 
575 Anton Boulevard, Suite 650 6345 Dixie Road, Suite 200 
Costa Mesa, CA 92626 Mississauga, Ontario L5T 2E6 

Canada 

The Affiliates are not jurisdictional utilities, rather brokers/marketers in the business of supplying natural gas. 

Naluial Gas Supplier License Application 
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x| Does the Applicant have any affiliation with or ownership interest in: 

(a) any other Pennsylvania retail natural gas supplier licensee or licensee applicant, 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC and Commerce Energy, Inc. 

(b) any other Pennsylvania retail licensed electric generation supplier or license applicant, 

Hudson Energy Services, LLC and Commerce Energy, Inc. 

(c) any Pennsylvania natural gas producer and/or marketer, 

No. 

(d) any natural gas wells or 

No. 

(e) any local distribution companies (LDCs) in the Commonwealth 

No. 

If the response to parts a, b, c, or d above is affirmative, provide a detailed description and explanation of the 
affiliation and/or ownership interest. 

Provide specific details concerning the affiliation and/or ownership interests involving: 

(a) any natural gas producer and/or marketers, 

None. 

(b) any wholesale or retail supplier or marketer of natural gas, electricity, oil, propane or other 
energy sources. 

None. 

x| Provide the Pa PUC Docket Number if the applicant has ever applied: 

(a) for a Pennsylvania Natural Gas Supplier license, or 

A-2009-2098011 

(b) for a Pennsylvania Electric Generation Supplier license. 

A-2009-2097544 

Q If the Applicant or an affiliate has a predecessor who has done business within Pennsylvania, give 
name and address of the predecessor(s) and state whether the predecessor(s) were jurisdictional 
public utilities. 

Natural Gas Supplier License Applies!ion 
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or 

L I The Applicant has no affiliates doing business in Pennsylvania or predecessors which have done 
business in Pennsylvania. 

7. APPLICANTS PRESENT OPERATIONS: (select and complete the appropriate statement) 

Q The Applicant is presently doing business in Pennsylvania as a 

• natural gas interstate pipeline. 
Q municipal providing service outside its municipal limits. 
Q local gas distribution company 

x| retail supplier of natural gas services in the Commonwealth 

U a natural gas producer 
Q Other. (Identify the nature of service being rendered.) 

or 
Q The Applicant is not presently doing business in Pennsylvania. 

8. APPLICANT'S PROPOSED OPERATIONS: The Applicant proposes to operate as a: 

Q supplier of natural gas services. 
Municipal supplier of natural gas services. 

Q Cooperative supplier of natural gas services. 

B Broker/Marketer engaged in the business of supplying natural gas services. 
Aggregator engaged in the business of supplying natural gas services. 

• Other (Describe): 

9. PROPOSED SERVICES: Generally describe the natural gas services which the Applicant proposes to offer. 

Just Energy Pennsylvania, Corp. will provide residential, business and industrial customers with 
electricity and natural gas programs that reduce or eliminate their exposure to changes in the price 
of these essential commodities; as well as environmentally friendly energy solutions from renewable 
sources for example wind, biomass etc. 

10. SERVICE AREA: Provide each Natural Gas Distribution Company (NGDC) in which Applicant proposes to 
offer services. 

Just Energy Pennsylvania, Corp. proposes to begin marketing in all service territories within the 
Commonwealth beginning with the service territory of State of Pennsylvania. 

11. CUSTOMERS: Applicant proposes to initially provide services to: 

|x] Residential Customers 

Commercial Customers - (Less than 6,000 Mcf annually) 

Natural Gas Supplier Ucense Application 
PA P U C Document ft; 139346 



X 

• 
• 
• 
• 

Commercial Customers - (6,000 Mcf or more annually) 

Industrial Customers 
Governmental Customers 
All of above 
Other (Describe): 

12. START DATE: The Applicant proposes to begin delivering services on July 1, 2011 
(approximate date). 

13. NOTICE: Pursuant to Section 5.14 of the Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §5.14, serve a copy of 
the signed and verified Application with attachments on the following: 

Irwin A. Popowsky 
Office of Consumer Advocate 
5th Floor, Forum Place 
555 Walnut Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17120-1921 

William R. Lloyd, Jr. 
Commerce Building, Suite 1102 
Small Business Advocate 
300 North Second Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 

Office of the Attorney General 
Bureau of Consumer Protection 
Strawberry Square, 14th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
Department of Revenue 
Bureau of Compliance 
Harrisburg, PA 17128-0946 

Any of the following Natural Gas Distribution Companies through whose transmission and distribution 

Valley Energy Inc. 
Robert Crocker 
523 South Keystone Avenue 
Sayre, PA 18840-0340 
PH: 570.888-9664 FAX: 570.888.6199 
email: rcrocker@ctenterDrises.orq 

National Fuel Gas Distribution Corp. 
David D. Wolford 
6363 Main Street 
Williamsville, NY 14221 
PH: 716.857.7483 FAX: 716.857.7479 
e-mail: wolfordd@natfuel.com 

UGI Central Penn 
David Beasten 
2525 N. 12 t h Street, Suite 360 
Reading, PA 19612-2677 
PH: 610.796.3425 
FAX: 610.796.3559 

The Peoples Natural Gas Company 
Joe Gregorini or Bill McKeown 
625 Liberty Avenue 
Pittsburgh, PA 15222 
e-mail: jgregorini@png.cng.com 
PH: 412.497.6851 or 412.497.6840 
FAX: 412.497.6630 

T. W. Phillips Gas and Oil Company 
Robert M. Hovanec 
205 North Main Street 
Butler, PA 16001 
PH: 724.287.2725 FAX: 724.287.5021 
e-mail: rhovanec@twphillips.com 

UGI 
David Beasten 
2525 N. 12 , h Street, Suite 360 
Reading, PA 19612-2677 
PH: 610.796.3425 
FAX: 610.796.3559 

UGI Penn Natural 
David Beasten 
2525 N. 12 , h Street, Suite 360 
Reading, PA 19612-2677 
PH: 610.796.3425 
FAX: 610.796.3559 

Equitable Gas Company 
Jerald Moody 
225 North Shore Drive 
Pittsburgh, PA 15212-5352 
PH: 412.395.3209 FAX: 412.395.3335 

Carnegie Natural Gas Company 
Donald A. Melzer 
800 Regis Avenue 
Pittsburgh, PA 19236 
PH: 412.655.8510 ext. 331 FAX: 412.655.0335 

Columbia Gas of PA, Inc. 
Heather Bauer 
200 Civic Center Drive 
Columbus, OH 43215 
PH: 614.460.5554 
FAX: 614.460.4291 

Nimirnl Gas Supplier Ucense Applicatioii 
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Philadelphia Gas Works 
Douglas Moser 
800 West Montgomery Avenue 
Philadelphia, PA 19122 
email: doualas.moser@pqworks.com 
PH: 215.684.6899 

PECO 
Carlos Thillet, Manager, Gas Supply and 
Transportation 
2301 Market Street, S9-2 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
Email: carlos.thillet@exeloncoro.com 
PH: 215.841.6452 

Pursuant to Sections 1.57 and 1.58 of the Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §§1.57 and 1.58, attach Proof of 
Service of the Application and attachments upon the above named parties. Upon review of the Application, further 
notice may be required pursuant to Section 5.14 of the Commission's Regulations, 52 Pa. Code §5.14. 

Please see Appendix C. 

14. TAXATION: Complete the TAX CERTIFICATION STATEMENT attached as Appendix B to this application. 

Please see Appendix A. 

15. COMPLIANCE: State specifically whether the Applicant, an affiliate, a predecessor of either, or a person 
identified in this Application has been convicted of a crime involving fraud or similar activity. Identify all 
proceedings, by name, subject and citation, dealing with business operations, in the last five (5) years, 
whether before an administrative body or in a judicial forum, in which the Applicant, an affiliate, a 
predecessor of either, or a person identified herein has been a defendant or a respondent. Provide a 
statement as to the resolution or present status of any such proceedings. 

Please see Appendix F. 

16. STANDARDS, BILLING PRACTICES, TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PROVIDING SERVICE AND 
CONSUMER EDUCATION: All services should be priced in clearly stated terms to the extent possible. 
Common definitions should be used. All consumer contracts or sales agreements should be written in plain 
language with any exclusions, exceptions, add-ons, package offers, limited time offers or other deadlines 
prominently communicated. Penalties and procedures for ending contracts should be clearly communicated. 

a. Contacts for Consumer Service and Complaints: Provide the name, title, address, telephone number and 
FAX number of the person and an alternate person responsible for addressing customer complaints. 
These persons will ordinarily be the initial pointts) of contact for resolving complaints filed with Applicant, 
the Distribution Company, the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission or other agencies. 

Venessa Anesetti, Manager - Corporate & Consumer Relations (Maternity Leave, returning in July 
2011) 
6345 Dixie Rd., Suite 200, Mississauga ON L5T 2E6 Canada 
(905) 795 3574 
Interim Contact: Suzette Brown, Acting Manager - Corporate & Consumer Relations 
Phone: (905) 670 4440 Ext. 71261 

b. Provide a copy of all standard forms or contracts that you use, or propose to use, for service provided to 
residential customers. 

Please see Appendix B 

c. If proposing to serve Residential and/or Small Commercial customers, provide a disclosure statement. 
A sample disclosure statement is provided as Appendix B to this Application. 

Please see Appendix B 

17. FINANCIAL FITNESS: 

A. Applicant shall provide sufficient information to demonstrate financial fitness commensurate with the 
service proposed to be provided. Examples of such information which may be submitted include the 
following: 

NaluralGas Supplier Ucci ise Apji i icaiion o 
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• Actual (or proposed) organizational structure including parent, affiliated or subsidiary companies. 

• Published parent company financial and credit information. 

• Applicant's balance sheet and income statement for the most recent fiscal year. Published financial 
information such as tOK's and lOQ's may be provided, if available. 

• Evidence of Applicant's credit rating. Applicant may provide a copy of its Dun and Bradstreet Credit 
Report and Robert Morris and Associates financial form or other independent financial service reports. 

• A description of the types and amounts of insurance carried by Applicant which are specifically intended 
to provide for or support its financial fitness to perform its obligations as a licensee. 

• Audited financial statements 

Please see Appendix G 

• Such other information that demonstrates Applicant's financial fitness. 

Please see Appendix G 

B. Applicant must provide the following information: 

• Provide proof of compliance with bonding/credit requirements for each NGDC the applicant is proposing 
to provide service in. This requirement is designated by each NGDC and can commonly be found in the 
NGDC supplier tariff. 

• Identify Applicant's chief officers including names and their professional resumes. 

Please see Appendix H 

• Provide the name, title, address, telephone number and FAX number of Applicant's custodian for its 
accounting records. 

Patrick Chan, VP, Taxation 
6345 Dixie Rd, Suite 200, Mississauga, ON L5T 2E6 
Phone: 905 670 4440 Ext. 73567 Fax: 905 564 6069 

18. TECHNICAL FITNESS: To ensure that the present quality and availability of service provided by natural gas 
utilities does not deteriorate, the Applicant shall provide sufficient information to demonstrate technical 
fitness commensurate with the service proposed to be provided. Examples of such information which may 
be submitted include the following: 

• The identity of the Applicant's officers directly responsible for operations, including names and their 
professional resumes. 

• A copy of any Federal energy license currently held by the Applicant. 

• Proposed staffing and employee training commitments. 

• Business plans. 

Please see Appendix I 
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19. TRANSFER OF LICENSE: The Applicant understands that if it plans to transfer its license to another entity, 
it is required to request authority from the Commission for permission prior to transferring the license. See 
66 Pa. C.S. Section 2208(D). Transferee will be required to file the appropriate licensing application. 

20. UNIFORM STANDARDS OF CONDUCT AND DISCLOSURE: As a condition of receiving a license, 
Applicant agrees to conform to any Uniform Standards of Conduct and Disclosure as set forth by the 
Commission. 

21. REPORTING REQUIREMENTS: Applicant agrees to provide the following information to the Commission or 
the Department of Revenue, as appropriate: 

a. Reports of Gross Receipts: Applicant shall report its Pennsylvania intrastate gross receipts to the 
Commission on an annual basis no later than 30 days following the end of the calendar year. 

Applicant will be required to meet periodic reporting requirements as may be issued by the 
Commission to fulfill the Commission's duty under Chapter 22 pertaining to reliability and to inform 
the Governor and Legislature of the progress of the transition to a fully competitive natural gas 
market. 

22. FURTHER DEVELOPMENTS: Applicant is under a continuing obligation to amend its application if 
substantial changes occur in the information upon which the Commission relied in approving the original 
filing. 

23. FALSIFICATION: The Applicant understands that the making of false statement(s) herein may be grounds 
for denying the Application or, if later discovered, for revoking any authority granted pursuant to the 
Application. This Application is subject to 18 Pa. C.S. §§4903 and 4904, relating to perjury and falsification 
in official matters. 

24. FEE: The Applicant has enclosed the required initial licensing fee of $350.00 payable to the Commonwealth 
of Pennsylvania. 

nnsylvania, Corp. 

Legal and Regulatory Affairs 
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AFFIDAVIT 

Province of Ontario: 

ss. 

Region of Peel 

Gord Potter, Affiant, being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says that: 

He is the E.V.P. Of Legal and Regulatory Affairs (Office of Affiant) of Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. 

[That he/she is authorized to and does make this affidavit for said Applicant;] 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., the Applicant herein, acknowledges that [Applicant] may have obligations 
pursuant to this Application consistent with the Public Utility Code of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Title 66 of 
the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes; or with other applicable statutes or regulations including Emergency Orders 
which may be issued verbally or in writing during any emergency situations that may unexpectedly develop from time 
to time in the course of doing business in Pennsylvania. 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp.. the Applicant herein, asserts that [he/she/it] possesses the requisite technical, 
managerial, and financial fitness to render natural gas supply service within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and 
that the Applicant will abide by all applicable federal and state laws and regulations and by the decisions of the 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission. 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., the Applicant herein, certifies to the Commission that it is subject to , will pay, 
and in the past has paid, the full amount of taxes imposed by Articles II and XI of the Act of March 4, 1971 (P.L. 6, No. 
2 ), known as the Tax Reform Act of 1971 and any tax imposed by Chapter 22 of Title 66. The Applicant 
acknowledges that failure to pay such taxes or otherwise comply with the taxation requirements of, shall be cause for 
the Commission to revoke the license of the Applicant. The Applicant acknowledges that it shall report to the 
Commission its jurisdictional natural gas sales for ultimate consumption, for the previous year or as otherwise required 
by the Commission. The Applicant also acknowledges that it is subject to 66 Pa. C.S. §506 (relating to the inspection 
of facilities and records). 

Applicant, by filing of this application waives confidentiality with respect to its state tax information in the possession 
of the Department of Revenue, regardless of the source of the information, and shall consent to the Department of 
Revenue providing that information to the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission. 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., the Applicant herein, acknowledges that it has a statutory obligation to 
conform with 66 Pa. C.S. §506. and the standards and billing practices of 52 PA. Code Chapter 56. 

Natural Gas Supplier Uceiise Ap plica I ion i i 
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That the Applicant agrees to provide all consumer education materials and information in a timely manner as requested 
by the Commission's Office of Communications or other Commission bureaus. Materials and information requested 
may be analyzed by the Commission to meet obligations under applicable sections of the law. 

That the facts above set forth are true and correct/true and correct to the best of his/her knowledge, information, and 
belief. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 7 l h day of June, 2011. 

Sign^jre o?offidaI adminisjp^p^oath 

My commission expires Ail 
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AFFIDAVIT 

Province of Ontario: 

ss. 

Region of Peel : 

Gord Potter, Affiant, being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says that: 

He is the E.V.P. of Legal and Regulatory Affairs of Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp.; 

That he is authorized to and does make this affidavit for said Applicant; 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., the Applicant herein certifies that it has caused the notice of the filing of its license applies 
published in the following newspapers on June 2 n c i, 2011: 

The Patriot-News 
The Erie Times-News 
The Scranton Times 
The Pittsburg Post-Gazette 
Philadelphia Daily News 
Williamsport Sun Gazette 
Johnstown Tribune Democrat 
Pittsburg Post-Gazette 

A copy of the notice as it appeared in each of the above newspapers is attached. Noted on each copy is the newspaper 
section (name, number or letter), if applicable, and the page number on which the notice appeared. 

That Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., the Applicant will submit to the Commission the proof of publication from each 
newspaper in which notice of the application filing was published as soon as it is available. 

That the facts above set foith are true and correct to the best of his/her knowledge, information, and belief, and that 
he/she expects said Applicant to be able to prove the same at hearing. 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 7 I h day of June, 2011. 

My commission expires 

Signature of official administ^nn^oath c ^ c : 
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AFFIDAVIT 

Province of Ontario: 

: ss. 

Region of Peel 

Gord Potter, Affiant, being duly sworn according to law, deposes and says that: 

He is the E.V.P of Legal and Regulatory Affairs of Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp.; 

[That he is authorized to and does make this affidavit for said Applicant;] 

That the Applicant herein Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. has the burden of producing information and supporting 
documentation demonstrating its technical and financial fitness to be licensed as a natural gas supplier pursuant to 66 
Pa. C.S. §2208(c)(l). 

That the Applicant herein Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. has answered the questions on the application correctly, 
truthfully, and completely and provided supporting documentation as required. 

That the Applicant herein Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. acknowledges that it is under a duty to update 
information provided in answer to questions on this application and contained in supporting documents. 

That the Applicant herein Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. acknowledges that it is under a duty to supplement 
information provided in answer to questions on this application and contained in supporting documents as requested by 
the Commission. 

That the facts above set forth are true and correct to the best of his/her knowledge, information, and belief, and that 
he/she expects said Applicant to be able to prove the same at hearim 

jSitfnature'of Affiant 

Sworn and subscribed before me this 7 l h day of June, 2011. 

Signature of official administeripg oath 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

APPENDIX A 

TAX CERTIFICATION STATEMENT 

A completed Tax Certification Siaienicm must accompany all applications for new licenses, renewals or transrers. Failure to provide llic requested information 
and/or any outstanding stale income, corporation, and sales {including failure to file or register) will cause your application to be rejected. If additional space is 
needed, please use white 81/2" x 1 V paper. Type or print ail information requested. 

1. CORPORATE OR APPLICANT NAMI: 2. BUSINESS PHONE NO. (905)670 4440 
CONTACT PERSON{S) FOR TAX ACCOUNTS: Pal Chan 

Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. 
3. TRADimCTITIOUS NAME (IF ANY) 

N/A 

4. LICENSED ADDRESS (STREET. RURAL ROUTE. P.O. BOX NO.) 

6345 Dixie Rd. Suite 200, Mississauga. On. Canada L5T 2E6 

(POST O m C E ) STATE) (ZIP) 

5. TYPE OF ENTITY • SOLE PROPRIETOR 
• L L G 

• PARTNERSHIP 
• OTHER (Describe...) 

X CORPORATION 

6. LIST OWNER(S). GENERAL PARTNERS. OR CORPORATE OFFICERS(S) 

NAME (PRINT) 

Ken Hartwick 

SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER (OPTIONAL) 

NAME (PRINT) 

Belh Summers-

SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER (OPTIONAL) 

NAMEWNT) 7C 

^ ^ "2. 
R. ScotrGahn ^ ^ T 

SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER (OPTIONAL) 

NAME (PRfwJ) SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER (OPTIONAL) 

o ^ 
Gord Pojtef, NAMB'CPRINXf- ' - ^ 

c - 3 

SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER (OPTIONAL) 

Jonah Davids 

7. LIST THE FOLLOWING STATE & FEDERAL TAX IDENTIFICATION NUMBERS (ALL ITEMS A,B, & C MUST BE COMPLETED) 
Applicant must provide explanation if submitting N/A for any items 

Item A- Designated by the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue. 
Item B - Designated by the Internal Revenue Service. 
Item C - Designated by the Pennsylvania Dcpanmem of Revenue. The Corporate Box number may also he referred to as the Corporate Account number. 

A. SALES TAX LICENSE (8 DIGITS) 

8 4 - 7 3 6 4 2 

APPLICATION 
[•ENDING N/A 

5 • • 

C. CORPORATE BOX NUMBER (7 DIGITS) APPLICATION 
PENDING 

2 6 6 8 9 0 9 • 
N/A 

• 

B. EMPLOYER ID (EIN) (9 DIGITS: APPLICATION 
PENDING N/A 

• • 

8. Do you have'PA employees: resident or non-resident? M YES • NO 

9. Do you own any assets or have an office in PA? YES • NO 
NAME AND PHONE NUMBER OF PERSON(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR FILING TAX RETURNS 

Pal Chan 
PA SALES AND USE TAX 
905.670.4440 x73567 

Rebecca Witt 
EMPLOYER TAXES 
905.670.4440 X78I45 

Pat Chan 

PHONE 'HONE 

CORPORATETAXES 
905.670.4440 x73567 „ 

PHONE 

Telephone inquiries about this form may be directed to the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue at the following numbers: 
(717) 772-2673, TDD# (717) 772-2252 (Hearing Impaired Only) 

Naiural Gas Supplier UceiKe Applicukin 
PA PUC Dncmncm #: 139346 15 



Appendix B 
Sample Agreement and Disclosure Statement Attached. 
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(USt 
'energy 

N A T U R A L G A S RATE F L E X P R O G R A M 
(Cus tomer Agreement ) 

P.O. Box 2210, Buffalo, New York 14240-2210 
B 1.866.587.8674 S. 1.888.548.7690 -?) justenergy.com E l cs@jijstenergy.com 

SVC 

C u s t o m e r I n f o r m a t i o n 

Signing Date The Custoiiwr is responsible lor ensuring Ihe accuracy of me information set out below. 

This Agreement is for a: Q Home Q Business Signatory is: Q Cuslomer Q Aulboriied Represenlatiue 

'2" "0' > 

Recount HoW« ("Cuslomer", as titillon on uWAy bill, PtoviSB hill legal name if a iiosit\ess.i 

yniUUNIO AH1I = 58 

Bil l ing Address Unit Number 

PA 

Street Number i r\ • 

City 
Ony / Evoning ' Watihoml 

Country Zip Code 

Besl Trme 1° Conlacl Preferred Phone (wilh ext.) Alternative Pfione E-Mail 

Service Address fs: Q Same as Billing Address OR Unil Niimbar Strcei Mumbnr Strooi Name Cilv Stain Counlrv Zin Code 

fED 

If Y o u U s e E a c h M o n t h Y o u r N a t u r a l G a s C o s t W i l l B e 

15Ccf $ 
80 Ccf $ 
120 Ccf $ 

C u s t o m e r D i s c l o s u r e S t a t e m e n t ( E s s e n t i a l A g r e e m e n t In fo rma t i 

Customer.appoints Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. ("Just Energy") to supply Its Location(s) with natural gas and/or electrlclty.commodity 
("Energy", as applicable also referred to herein as "Electricity" or "Natural Gas"), for a Term of 5 years. By signing this Agreement, Customer 
agrees to nitiate commodity service and begin enrollment with Just Energy..!, the Customer, understand and accent: 

a) This Agreement does not guarantee financial savings. It is with Just Energy, a competitive energy supplier, and not with my Utility. Howevej„at tfie^nd of 
your Term, if the Volume Weighted Average Utility Price is less than the Volume Weighted Average Just.Energy Price, we willvcrecJtt,you'll25ifio? each 
commodity included in this Agreement (as calculated in para 5,5). " N \ \ \ 

b) By signing for the Natural Gas Rate Flex Program, I agree to buy natural gas and:JustGreen Gas (if selected) from Just.Energy at the Price and for the 
Term set out above. If I enrolled in JustGreen Gas, depending onjriy selected level of particifiation, Just Energy,wttl'offeet 0% or 100% of the carbon 
emissions relating to my metered natural gas consumption based ofi'the participation level'! selected. \ ^ 

c) By signing for the Ekctricity Price Rate Flex Program, I agres to buy^electricifyand'JustGreen Power (if selected)'from Just Energy at the Price and for 
the Term set out above. If I enroll in JustGreen Power; depending onjny selected level of participation. Just Energy will ensure that an amount of electricity 
equal to 0% or 100% of my metered electricity cohsumplion is geheratecVfrom renewable sources and injected into Hie electricity grid. 

d) This Agreement covers the cost of natural gas and/or ejecfricity;\The price l̂isted below includes the cost of the commodity, which includes estimated total 
state taxes and excludes applicable PA sales taxesvRegulated delivery t̂rahsportation.iarid othercharges (or credits) are charged by the Utility. 

e) When the Term ends, this Agfeemeht^an be renewed on a'month to, month basis (see para. 11). 
f) By signing for tfie Natural Gas and/or Electricity Rate^Flex Pmgram, I agree to an introductory fixed price, the Intro Price, for the first three billing cycles and 

thereafter be a Variable Price for tfie remainder of the Term. Changes to the Variable Price will be determined by business and market conditions (see para. 5). 
g}The law "provides that I may cancel; this^Agreemen^up's to 3 days after I receive a copy of this Agreement. However, Just Energy extends 

my cancellation period to 30 days from the date of my first bill under this Agreement to cancel without penalty. If I cause this Agreement to end 
earlyjafter thi30 day cancellation, period,' I .wiirowe Just Energy an Exit Fee of $50.00 (per commodity, per Location). 

h) To request cancellation. I must contact Just Energy by telephone, mail, e-mail, or fax. 
i) I haveieceived,-reviewed, and agree to the Disclosure Statement and the Terms of Service forming part of this Agreement, 
j) Just Energy is licensed by the Pennsylvania Public Utilities Commission (PAPUC) to offer and supply natural gas and electricity supply services in Pennsylvania, 
k) You will receive one bill from your Natural Gas Distribution Company (NGDC) and/or your Electric Distribution Company (EDC) for both their charges and our charges 

I, THE CU& ,-.-^rtTHAVE THE RIGHT TO CANCEL THIS AGREEMENT BY CONTACTING JUST ENERGY BY PHONE, MAIL, EMAIL, OR FAX UP 
TO THIRTY DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF MY FIRST BILL UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WITH JUST ENERGY. I HAVE BEEN PROVIDED WITH AND 
READ THE ATTACHED NOTICE OF CANCELLATION FORM FOR AN EXPLANATION OF THIS RIGHT. 

CUSTOMER SIGNATURE; PRINT NAME & TITLE: First Title lif a bus i ness ! 

I have received a completed and signed copy of this Agreement, and I have read and agree to it. 
I am at least 18 years old and 1 have signing authority. 

N a t u r a l G a s R a t e F l e x P r o g r a m 
3 Month 

Intro Pr ice 

($ICcf) 

Pr ice 
($/Ccf) 

Variable 
Rate 

JustGreen % 
Offset Gas 

100% 

0% 

JustGreen Gas 
Price fflCcf) 

$0.10 

$0.00 

My Pr ice 
($/Ccf) 

Variable Rate + $0.10 

Variable Rate 

0 Authorization 

Customer setecte the Term, 
Natural Gas Price and JustGreen 

Gas Price as Indicated. 

Customer Signature 

Natural Gas Account Number (a 'Location') Utility Rate Flex Reservation Code 

G a s C o n t r a c t ID 
(tor Ofice use only) 

E l e c t r i c i t y R a t e F l e x P r o g r a m 
3 Month 

Intro Price 

0 
{#kWh) 

Pr ice 

Variable 
Rate 

JustGreen % 
Renewable Energy 

100% 

0% 

JustGreen Power 
Price (ji/kWh) 

1.0* 

0.0* 

My Price 
(*/kWh) 

Variable Rate + 1.0* 

Variable Rate 

Electricity Account Numbef (a -location"! 

0 Authorization 

Customer selects the Term, 
Electricity Price and JustGreen 

Power Price as indicated. 
Customer Signature 

Ulility Rale Flex Reserve lion Code 

E l e c t r i c i t y C o n t r a c t ID 
(for office use only) 

S a l e s R e p r e s e n t a t i v e In fo rmat ion 

Valid Permit: • • 
Not Applicable Yes Permit Number (il applicable) 

Sates Representative Number Sales Representative Name (print) Sales Representative Signature 

T h i r d P a r t y Ve r i f i ca t i on In fo rmat ion 

TPV Name (prinl) 

THIS AGREEMENT IS ONLY VALID FOR RESIDENTIAL AND SMALL BUSINESS CUSTOMERS IN PECO SERVICE AREAS. 
NO CHANGES TO THE PRE-PRINTED TERMS APPLY. 

;BUREAu 

If Y o u U s e E a c h M o n t h Y o u r E f e c t r i c i t y C o s t W i l l B e 

500 kWh $ 
1,000 kWh $ 
2,000 kWh 

JE_SAMPI.E_PA,SVC_E)F_RF_V2_MAY_05_11 



NATURAL GAS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 
AND TERMS OF SERVICE 

This Agreement is for the supply of Gas, between Just Energy 
Pennsylvania Corp. and the Customer identified on the cover 
page. Gas prices and charges are set by the natural gas supplier 
you have chosen. The Public Utility Commission regulates 
distribution prices and services. 

1. Definitions. Agreement: collectively, the Disclosure Statement, 
the Customer Agreement (front page), Terms of Service, and any 
attached Schedule of multiple Locations. Just Energy: Just 
Energy Pennsylvania Corp. Also referred to as "we", "our", and 
"us". Commodity Charges: The charges for basic Gas supply 
service which is sold either by volume (Ccf or Mcf) or heating value 
(dekatherms). Customer: the account holder named on the 
Customer Agreement. Also referred to as "I", "my", "you", and 
"your".Customer: the account holder named on the Customer 
Agreement. Also referred to as "I", "my", "you", and "your". 
Deemed Monthly Consumption: Your metered Gas consumption 
as read and reported by the Utility, prorated by the number of days 
to each calendar month to which it applies. Deemed Monthly 
Utility Price: Your Utility's natural gas supply Price prorated by the 
number of days to each calendar month for which it applies. 
Distribution Charges: the charges for the delivery of natural gas 
from the point of receipt into the natural gas distribution system. 
Just Energy Price: Your supply Price for Gas prorated by the 
number of days to each calendar month for which it applies. 
Future Use: our reasonable calculation of your anticipated Gas 

arrangements with your Utility and others in order to provide your 
full Gas requirements to your Location. You agree, now and 
throughout the Term, that you: (a) are not, and will not be, bound 
by an agreement for your Location with an Gas supplier other 
than us; and (b) will not cancel or modify our appointment as your 
exclusive agent. 

4. Acceptance, Verification. This Agreement takes effect when 
you sign it and is conditional upon our acceptance of it. Our 
acceptance of this Agreement is at our sole discretion and 
depends, in part, on whether: (a) your Utility accepts our request 
to enroll you; (b) we can verify your information by recorded 
phone call (or other means acceptabie to us); (c) you are 
creditworthy and (d) you are not already enrolled with us (existing 
customers cannot enter into this Agreement except by way of a 
re-contract, as reflected by a capital letter "R" in the upper right 
comer of the Customer Agreement). You consent to the recording 
of phone calls related to this Agreement. 

5. Charges Under this Agreement. We will supply you with 
Gas and JustGreen as applicable. You agree to pay the related 
charge(s) plus applicable sales taxes. 5.1 Natural-Gas Charges. 
You will'be charged at the Intro Price fophe'fjrst.3'billing cycles 
from the Start Date. After the Introf Price-period expires, you 
will be charged a Variable Rate per Gcf̂ the^VariaBle Rate will 
not change more than once each monthly billing.cycle. Changes 
to the Variable RatewiNbe determined tf^ Just'Energy Recording 
to wholesale natural gas market \conditidns^ and 
/ill npt-increâ se more than 35% over the fate froin.the'previous 

consumption for the remainder of the Term. Gas: the natural gas îlling^cycle. Natural gas supply charges include'Sstimated total 
commodity we supply to you. Intro Price: the fixed rate we charge 
you for Gas during the first three billing cycles of the Agreement 
following the Start Date. JustGreen: our green energy option'for 
natural gas ("JustGreen Gas"). Location:" each naturalygas 
account on the Customer Agreement relatinĝ to ^ouhpremis'es, is 
a separate "Location" boundJiy this Agreements^PAPUC: the 
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission. Price; Ih^costUo^the 

salesiaxes^and excludes sales t̂axf inapplicable. You can call 
the Just̂ custorfier servifce number-to determine your monthly 
vanable rate^5.2 JustGreen-Gas Charges. Your natural gas 
consumption multiplied by your JustGreen Gas Price. 5.3 Taxes. 
You \will^ pay lawful sales taxes that may apply to 
the charges. 5.4 Rebate. For your Gas supply, should the 
yolume^Weighted Average Utility Price over the initial Term of 

supply of Gas measured in Ccf (IvCCf = lOO.cubiĉ feet) a n d ^ i s Agreement be less than the Volume Weighted Average Just 
JustGreen as applicable. Utility: your local distribution utility.ilso Energy Price for your Gas supply (which specifically does not 
r_allPf1 nn-Natr i ra l fine P lk t r ih i i l i nn s (^nrmanu IH i l i t v ^P r i ra - tho called an'Naiural̂ Gas Distribution,Gompany. Utility;Price: the 
regulated-residential natiiral^gas^supply^ price, including 
adjustment,jjs-charged by the Utility from-time to time. Volume 
Weighteii Average "Just Energy Price: The weighted average 
Just Energy'Price'for the supply'of Gas, as calculated by adding 
up the ̂ product̂ of Just Energy Price and Deemed Monthly 
Consumption" for every month of the Term, and then dividing it by 
your totafDeemeS Monthly Consumption, as applicable, for the 
Term. Volume Weighted Average Utility Price: The weighted 
average Utility Price for the supply of natural gas, as calculated by 
adding up the product of Deemed Monthly Utility Price and 
Deemed Monthly Consumption for every month of the Term, and 
then dividing it by your total Deemed Monthly Consumption, as 
applicable, for the Term. 

2. Length of Agreement. The Term of this Agreement begins on 
the "Start Date" and expires on the "End Date" Start Date: You 
will buy your natural gas commodity services for the above street 
address from JUST ENERGY beginning on the date set by your 
natural gas distribution company. End Date: our last day of Gas 
supply to your Location (it will be 5 years from the Start Date), 
plus any time needed to obtain a final meter read. 

3. Appointment of Agent. You give us the exclusive right to act 
as agent on your behalf in making all supply and delivery 

include your JustGreen Price), we will pay/credit you 
a $125 rebate for each commodity included in the Agreement 
as applicable. The rebate calculation is based on Gas supply 
costs only and does not include costs for distribution, 
transmission, transportation, taxes, billing fees, capacity, 
ancillary services charges, Utility fees, PAPUC charges, or 
JustGreen charges. You will not be eligible for the Rebate if this 
Agreement ends prior to the scheduled End Date. 

6. JustGreen. For the JustGreen Gas participation level 
you select, we will purchase and retire verified emissions 
reductions, allowances or instruments ("carbon credits"} to offset 
0% or 100% of your natural gas consumption. You can request a 
change to your participation level at any time, so long as you are 
not in breach of this Agreement at the time of the request. We can 
suspend or discontinue JustGreen at any time (you will then stop 
paying for it but the rest of this Agreement will remain in effect). 
Carbon credits that we purchase and retire on your behalf will: (a) 
relate to carbon credits produced in the year you pay for 
JustGreen (plus or minus 12 months); (b) on a reasonable efforts 
basis, be from Pennsylvania based projects; however, we may 
buy them from other North American-based sources at our 
discretion; and (c) remain our legal property. Depending on your 
Utility, JustGreen-related charges may appear as a separate line 
item on your bill or be included in the Energy charges. 

JE.SAHPLE.W SVC_DF_RF_V2 MAY 05 11 



7. Billing and Payment. Your Utility will bill you on our behaif, 
but we have the right to bill you directly. We can correct a billing 
error up to 15 months after the original incorrect bill and you 
will then receive a forward credit or debit on your bill {we do not 
provide refunds). 

8. Lock-In Option. At any time after your Start Date, you 
may request a "Fixed Rate" for Gas supply for the Agreement 
for up to the entire remaining portion of your term or a portion 
thereof If you exercise this option you will be charged a Fixed 
Price (your consumption in Gcf multiplied by the Fixed Price as 
applicable) for the remainder of your Term. Utility Charges, 
JustGreen charges, and Taxes are not included in the Fixed 
Price. To find out what the Fixed Rate for Gas is, you must 
call Just Energy Customer Service at: 1.877.226.5392. The Fixed 
Rate at the time will be determined by Just Energy at our sole 
discretion, and will be consistent for all customers according to 
their applicable Utility during that calendar month. Should you 
exercise this option, it may take up to 2 billing cycles for the Fixed 
Rate to take effect. This option cannot be exercised if there are 
less than 6 months remaining in your Term. You will not be 
eligible for the $125 Rebate if you exercise the Lock-In Option. 
Exit Fees will apply if you choose the Lock-In Option and 
terminate the Agreement prior to the scheduled End Date. 

9. Penalties, Fees and Exceptions. You understand that in 
order for us to be able to supply Gas to customers, we enter 
into long term supply arrangements with suppliers of Gas to 
meet the forecasted needs of our customers, tf this 
Agreement ends early due to your Default, you must pay us 
liquidated damages {the "Exit Fee") in the amount of '$50,00 
(per commodity, per Location). If you do not pay all amounts 
on your bill by the stated due date, then.ydu will be charged 
a late payment fee, currently set at 1.5% per month. ̂  ^ \^ \ 

10. Cancellation ProvisionsrDefault. If this*Agreement ends 
early, for any reason, you musP"" " > * • ' • 
to you up to the early End' 
cancelled-if'you move to 

13. Governing Law. This Agreement is governed by the laws of 
the State of Pennsylvania. 

14. Inability to Perform. You accept that certain events beyond 
our control, including force majeure events declared by our direct 
or indirect suppliers, may affect our ability to supply Gas or 
JustGreen at your Price. If this happens, we may, without liability, 
(a) temporarily supply them to you at the market price available 
to us; or (b) suspend this Agreement until as soon as we are 
reasonably able to resume performance, This Agreement will 
otherwise remain in full effect. 

15. Limitation of Liability. Our liability under this Agreement is 
limited to direct actual damages. We are not responsible for 
incidental, consequential, punitive, or indirect damages, lost 
profits or lost business or for any act or omission of your Utility. 

16. Customer Information, Credit Review. You authorize us, 
for the duration of the Term, to access, use and update 
information about you (including contact, billing and credit history, 
and historical billing data}, and to obtain it from,and provide it to 
your Utility and our service providers.Jfou'authorize us, our 
affiliates and business partners to^useĵ youT information to 
communicate with you about other products arid-services. You 
may notify us at any time that you wish toVestfict.the1 release of 
any of your customer-information provided oiytfie cover̂ page as 
well as your historical billing data by notifying us through mail, 
email̂ telephpne, or*fax.\After such notification-is^eceived, your 
information will̂ be restricted subject to Goveming'Caw. 

S.7. ^Notice! We will \endTH,writteiOnotices relating to this 
Agreement'tcyour billing, addjess'Tas may be amended from 
time to timej'At our discretion'(if, for example, there is a fault with 
regard to your billing address), we may instead send notices to 
your service address (as may be amended). You must send 

Lwritten\notices to us at our address listed on the Customer 

DateNThis AgreementvwHIJbe 
new, Location. Youii Right to 

Cancel: You-can'end this Agreement, Without having to pay 
the Exit Fee^within 30 days from"thesdate of your first bill 
under thls'Agreement. If ypu^ agreement ends early due to 
your Default you'will\be subject to the Exit Fee listed above. 
Our Rightio Cancel:yWe can end this Agreement, at no cost 
to us, required/all owed by law; (ii) the Utility is unable 
to service-your'Location; (iii) a legislative or regulatory 
change materially alters our ability to profitably perform this 
Agreement; (iv) you move; or (v) you fall into "Default". You 
will be given 15 calendar days prior notice. You will be in 
Default if you (a) breach a term of this Agreement or your 
Utility's rules; or (b) switch to another energy supplier, 
including the Utility. 

11. Agreement Expiration, Change in Terms & Renewal. If you 
have a fixed term agreement with us and it is approaching the 
expiration date or if we propose to change our terms of service, 
we will send you written notice in each of our last two bills or in 
separate mailings before either the expiration date or the 
effective date of the changes. We will explain your options in 
these advance notices. This Agreement may be renewed on a 
month to month basis. 

12. Dispute Procedures. You may contact us by phone, email, 
mail, or fax with any questions concerning our terms of service. 
Just Energy will make every effort to resolve all customer 
complaints within 10 days of receipt. You may call the PAPUC if 
you are not satisfied after discussing your terms with us. 

" " f v y? * ! " * 1 ? 'Agreement and be able to give proof of delivery upon request. If 
i ^ \ ' T 3 & S S ^ ^ "n Governing Law necessitates l a ? a g?oup of 

customers be given a general notice, we may give it by posting it 
on our website at justenerqv.com. 

18. Contact Information. Just Energy Inc., P.O. Box 
460008, Houston, TX 77056, Phone: 1.877.226.5392, 
Fax: 1.888.548.7690 Email: contactus@justenergy.com, 
Website: justenerqy.com. Provider of Last Resort. PECO, 2301 
Market St., Philadelphia, PA 19101, Phone: 1.800.494.4000. 
Universal Program Information can be found by calling your utility 
at: 1.888.460.4332. Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission 
(PAPUC). PO Box 3265, Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265. PA Utility 
Choice Hotline Number: 1.800.692.7380. 

JUST ENERGY PENNSYLVANIA CORP. 

Executive Vice President 
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APPENDIX C 
EXAMPLE FORM OF NOTICE 

PENNSYLVANIA 
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

NOTICE 
Application of Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. For Approval To Offer, Render, Furnish 

Natural Gas Supply Services as a Marketer/Broker or Aggregator Engaged In The business Of 
Supplying Natural Gas Supply Services, To The Public In The Commonwealth Of Pennsylvania, Docket 
No. A-125XXX. 

On Month Date, Year, Company Name filed an application with the Pennsylvania Public 
Utility Commission ("PUC") for a license to provide natural gas supply services as (1) a supplier of 
natural gas, (2) a broker/marketer engaged in the business of supplying natural gas, and (3) an 
aggregator engaged in the business of providing natural gas supply services. Company Name proposes 
to sell natural gas and related services throughout all of Pennsylvania under the provisions of the new 
Natural Gas Choice and Competition Act. 

The PUC may consider this application without a hearing. Protests directed to the technical or 
financial fitness of Company Name may be filed within 15 days of the date of this notice with the 
Secretary of the PUC, P.O. Box 3265, Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265. You should send copies of any 
protest to Company's Name attorney at the address listed below. Please include the PUC's "docket 
number" on any correspondence, which is 
A-125XXX. 

By and through Counsel: John F. Povilaitis, Esquire 

Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney, PC 
17 North Second Street, 15th Floor 

Harrisburg, PA 17101 
Phone: 717-237-4825 
FAX: 717-233-0852 
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Naiural Gas Supplier License Application 
PAPUC Documenl #: 139346 17 



Proof of Publication in The Philadelphia Daily News 
Under Act. No 587, Approved May 16, 1929 

STA TE OF PENNSYL VANIA 
COUNTY OF PHILADELPHIA 

Anna Dickerson being duly sworn, deposes and says 
that The Philadelphia Daily News is a newspaper published 
daily, except Sunday, at Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, and was 
established in said city in 1925, since which date said newspaper 
has been regularly issued in said County, and that a copy of 
the printed notice of publication is attached hereto exactly as 
the same was printed and published in the regular editions and 
issues of the said newspaper on the following dates: 

June 2,2011 

Affiant further deposes and says that she is an employee 
of the publisher of said newspaper and has been authorized 
to verify the foregoing statement and that she is not interested 
in the subject matter of the aforesaid notice of publication, and 
that all allegations in the foregoing statement as to time, place 
and character of publication are true. 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this 2nd day of 
June, 2011 

Notarffiublic 

Copy of Notice of Publication 

P E N N S Y L V A N I A ' 
PUBLIC. UTiUT.Y. COMMISSION 

1 """ ' . !NOTICE ' "V 
A p p l i c a t i o n ' o f J u o t i E i m r o y P w i n a y l v a n l a C o r p . : 
f a r A p p r o v a r . T b ; 0 1 t e o R e r i d b r , . f u r n l a h N a t u r a l 

i G a s j S u p p l y i S o r v l c e s oo o M a r k e t e r / B r o k e r o r 
• A g g r a g a t o ' r ' E n g a g e d i l n T h e B u s i n e s s O f S u p p l y -

' l o g ] N a t u r a l Q a s [ S u p p l y S e r v i c e s . T o H i o l P u b l l c 
In T h e r C o m r r i o n w e a l t h : 0 1 i p e n n s y l v a r i l a . ~ D o o k e t 

. iNoVA-aowraoawm:, - . 2 . i 
\ Just E n a r s y Pennsylvania C o r p . will bo tHlna a 
] request with Mho Ponnsylvanla Public- Utility 

C o m m l M l o n ("PUC.") tto amend its"license.*to, 
'• iprowldeVnaturargas aupplv oorvlces as (1) a sup'-
1 ipllef ib^naturol; gaG,] (2)L 'a 'br©ker /marketer . .an-; 
\ loaoodilnStho bualnoBojol supplying'notural 'gas, 
' and T(3)tan aggregator; "enctagea In the'bualness 

o l providing natural gas'-supptyiBervlces. Juet 1 

. E n e r g y 'Pennsylvania C o r p , proposes to 'sell 
' natural gaa 'and ' related'services.throughout' all 

ol Pennsylvania'iindor the>provlolons !ot.the,now, 
Natural Q a s Choice and Competl lfon Act., 
The ' P U C 'may conBlder?thl8iappllcatlon\wlthout. 
'afhearlng. RroteotB'directed .to the technloal or 
,financial1 tltnessTof Just" E n s r s y ' pennayhranta 
C o r p . mav,b0 flled.wlthln 15 days ol the date Of 

" this notice;wlthithe 1 Secretary o l .Mhe-PUC. iP .o : 
'BoxH32e5;rHarrJaburg;i;pA"17.105;3266j You! 
should i send' c6ples 7otj anyprotest •to'Juet I Ener ­
gy 'Pennsylvania" Cbrp.'B_ attorney-at the a d ­
dress listed b e l o w . " Please (Include . the^PUC's; 
"docket 1 number' 'ori 'any correspondence.,which; 
Is A - 1 2 S X X X . Z -
By and through Counsel: Attorney's Name 

' "Ryan, Russell , Ogden"and S* l l xe r ,P .C . . . 
- • BOO North Third Street Suite 101 - < 

'. Harr isburg; Pennsylvania 
Phons: (717) 236-7714 

F A X : (717 23»;7S16 
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My Commission Expiies: 
NOTARIAL SE-U 

Mary Anne Logan, Notary Public 
City of Philadelphia, Phila. County 
My Commission Expires March 30, 2013 



No. Term, 
Proof of Publication of Notice in Pittsburgh Post-Gazette 

Under Act No 587, Approved May 16, 1929, PL 1784, as last amended by Act No 409 of September 29, 1951 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, County of Allegheny, ss M. Goodwin , being duly sworn, deposes and says that the 
Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, a newspaper of general circulation published in the City of Pittsburgh, County and Commonwealth aforesaid, was 
established in 1993 by the merging of the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette and Sun-Telegraph and The Pittsburgh Press and the Pittsburgh Post-
Gazette and Sun-Telegraph was established in 1960 and the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette was established in 1927 by the merging of the 
Pittsburgh Gazette established in 1786 and the Pittsburgh Post, established in 1842, since which date the said Pittsburgh Post-Gazette has 
been regularly issued in said County and diat a copy of said printed notice or publication is attached hereto exactly as the same was 
printed and published in the regular editions and issues of the said Pittsburgh Post-Gazette a 
newspaper of general circulation on the following dates, viz: 

02 of June, 2011 
Affiant further deposes that he/she is an agent for the PG Publishing Company, a corporation and publisher of the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 
that, as such agent, affiant is duly authorized to verify the foregoing statement under oath, that affiant is not interested in the subject matter 
of the afore said notice or publication, and that all allegations in the foregoing statement as to time, place and character of publication are 
true. 

COPY OF NOTICE OR PUBLICATION 

PENNSYLVANIA 
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION 

NOTICE ^ 
Applicationidf Just'(Energy.Pennsylvania Corp. 

forApproval To!offer,,'RenPer,»Fiurnlsh, Natural' 
Gas^Supply servlces;as:a;Marketer/BrokerioiVAg-, 
gregatorEngaged'lntTheiBuslnessiOf'Supplying, 
KlaturarGas supply;services, TO'TheiPubllcin^Tne' 
ICommonwealtfilOf Pennsylvania;- Docket NO; 1 

A-2009r2D9801l1-(_ .Z-. _ : .„ ,.- ' „ • -
•just.EnergylPennsylvania;corp:.will!be'filing 3; 

request'with'the.Pennsylvania RubliciUtliTty 
Commission i(" PUC'Tto; amend [its license^oipro; : 

vide'natural'gas supply services as;(.i)ia supplier' 
roffnatural!gasr(2)ialbroker/marketeriengaged:inl 

the .business'of supplyinglnatural!gasI,andi(3);an| 
aggregator'engaged | inithe;buslness!of providing, 
nafural'gas supply services.. Just gnergy.Pennsyi-. 
vaniaiCorp:.prop6ses'to:sell'naturaiigas'and;re-, 
lated i services .throughout'all i of pennsylvaniaiun-
der. the] provisions loMhe'riew; Natural Gas'Choice; 
and CornpetitionfAct; " _ . . . . . 
"The;puc.may;consider this application without 
alhearfng;- Protests directed to the technicalior 
financiaT-fitness^of-JustiEnergy Pennsylvania 
iCdrp: may^belfilecTwithin i5;days;of,the:datelof 
thismotice with the secretary'of thePUC; R;0. 
Box 3265;,Harrisburg; PA ,17105-3265.. YOU 
should send .copies .of any protest to Just Energy 
Pennsylvania1 Corp.'s attorney/at theaddress list­
ed 'below: please Inciiide the'PUC's. "docket 
number" ori any'correspondence;.which is 
A-125XXX. " i. 

By and through counsel: Attorney's'Name 
Ryan, Russel l , 

. Ogden and Seltzer p.C: -. 
SOCFNortti Third.Street Suiteior 

Harrisburg. .RennsyWania: 
Phone: (?17) 236-7714 

FAX:I(717 236-7816' 

\ PG Publisliing Comt PG Pubiisliing Company 

Sworn to and subscribed before me this day of: 
June 02, 2011 

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
Notarial Seal 

Linda M. Gaertner, Notary Public 
City of Pittsburgh, Allegheny County 

My Commission Expires Jan. 31, 2015 
MEMBER, PENNSYLVANIA ASSOQATION OF NOTARIES 
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S T A T E M E N T OF A D V E R T I S I N G CO&TS 
MID ATLANTIC NEWSPAPER SERVICE 
3899 NORTH FRONT STREET 
HARRISBURG PA 17110 

To PG Publishing Company 

Total $645.99 
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Publisher's Receipt for Advertising Costs 
PG PUBLISHING COMPANY, publisher of the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, a newspaper of general circulation, 
hereby acknowledges receipt of the aforsaid advertising and publication costs and certifies that the same have 
been fully paid. 

Office PG Publishing Company, a Corporation, Publisher of 
34 Boulevard of the Allies Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, a Newspaper of General Circulation 
PITTSBURGH, PA 15222 

Phone 412-263-1338 By 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is the original Proof of Publication and receipt for the Advertising costs in the subject matter of 
said notice. 

Attorney For 



The Scranton Times (Under act P.L. 877 No 160. July 9,1976) 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, County of Lackawanna 

MANSI MEDIA 
3899 N FRONT ST 
HARRISBURG PA 17110 

Account # 17176 
Order #80609341 
Ad Price: 649.74 
PO Number: 143943 

Gina Krushinski 
Being duly sworn according to law deposes and says that she is Billing clerk 
for The Scranton Times, owner and publisher of The Scranton Times, a newspaper 
of general circulation, established in 1870, published in the city of Scranton, 
county and state aforesaid, and that the printed notice or publication hereto 
attached is exactly as printed in the regular editions of the said newspaper 
on the following dates: 

06/02/2011 

Affiant further deposes and says that neither the affiant nor The Scranton Times 
is interested in the subject matter of the aforesaid notice or advertisement 
and that all allegations in the foregoing statement as time, place and 
character or publication are true ^j/yw l$ls,t^> ^ U ^ Z ^ C 

Sworn and subscribed to before me 
this 2nd day of June A. D., 2011 

(Notary Public) 
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COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVAMFfl 
Notarial Seal 

Sharon Venturf, Notary Public 
Qty of Scranton, Lackawanna County 
My Commission Expires Feb. 12, 2014 

Member. P ^ n r . * , ^ . ^ ^ r ( 3 t f o n o f N o t a f 1 e s 

PENNSYLVANIA PUBUG UTILITY COMMISSION ~ 
"- • ' • •• • - • i NOTICE . ... . 

By.aiid through" Counsel: Attorney Is Name , > 

Ryan, Russell, Ogden and Seltzer P.C. 

- • •Pfaae: (717) 236,7714. FAX::(717J236-jm• 
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OATH Of PUBLICATION 
In 

THE ERIE TIMES-NEWS 

COMBINATION EDITION 

MID ATLANTIC NEWSPAPER SERVICE 
3899 N FRONT ST 
HARRISBURG PA 17110-1535 

REFERENCE: L0961482 
1987399 

STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA) 
COUNTY OF ERIE ) 

JUST ENERGY 2 

SS : 

Rosanne Cheeseman b e i n g d u l y sworn, deposes and 
says t h a t she i s t h e P u b l i s h e r o f t h e Times 
P u b l i s h i n g Company, which p u b l i s h e s : t h e 
E r i e Times-News, e s t a b l i s h e d O c t o b e r 2,2000, a 
d a i l y newspaper o f g e n e r a l c i r c u l a t i o n , s u c c e s s o r , 
by c o n s o l i d a t i o n , o f t h e M o r n i n g News, e s t a b l i s h e d 
J a n u a r y 1957, and 
t h e E r i e D a i l y Times, e s t a b l i s h e d A p r i l 1888, 
d a i l y newspapers o f g e n e r a l c i r c u l a t i o n and 
p u b l i s h e d at E r i e , E r i e County, P e n n s y l v a n i a , and 
t h a t t h e n o t i c e o f which t h e a t t a c h e d i s a copy 
p u b l i s h e d , i n t h e r e g u l a r e d i t i o n s o f s a i d 
newspaper o f t h e d a t e s r e f e r r e d t o below. 
A f f i a n t f u r t h e r deposes t h a t she i s d u l y 
a u t h o r i z e d by t h e TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, 
p u b l i s h e r o f The E r i e Times-News t o v e r i f y t h e 
f o r e g o i n g s t atement under o a t h , and a f f i a n t i s not 
i n t e r e s t e d i n t h e s u b j e c t m a t t e r o f t h e a f o r e s a i d 
n o t i c e o r a d v e r t i s e m e n t , and t h a t a l l a l l e g a t i o n s 
i n t h e f o r g o i n g s t atement as t o t i m e , p l a c e and 
c h a r a c t e r o f p u b l i c a t i o n a r e t r u e . 

PUBLISHED ON: 06/02 

TOTAL COST: 
FILED ON: 

369.11 
06/02/11 

AD SPACE: 7.000 INCH 
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ffllllCTtVAMIAPUpLr.lflLnVCDMMlSSIOHNOTlH 

'Aoptication of'Just Energy, Pannsylvanto Corp J o ^ 
tiprmlToOfffr, •RBndBr.'Fumish.Natml.Gas'Supply; \ 
, Services as a Marketer/Broker or Aggregator, Engaged In < 
The Business Of Supplying^Natural GasSupply Services;. 
To'ThePubliciriTheCommnmat^OfPennsylmla;, 
packet Nb?tL'2m-20mi1: J <•' ' • 
Umt Enarsy pflnrisylvanla Cuy.-.wHI betpfl ai/equast 
with'lhaPenflsylraniaTub^ 
to amend lts,ilcense,to prbwlde natufal gas.supp)y,semqest 

asid) rsupplieT6{lnaturalUas,;(2]̂ brokar/markaterr • 
engaged in ttiatiusinesTot supplying natural.gas,',and.(3}.' 
,ah aggTagatorengaged in the"business ot.providing., 
natural gas supply sflrvices: Jusl Energy Penniylyania 
Cdtp.'broposesto sa^natufalgasandrelatedsaivices. 
ttirougliout'all otiPannsylvaniajindartha prpvislpns'of̂ ne 
new'l̂ tura^Gas;Cboice and Competition Act:-
The PUCimay consi'der.this application jwittioilt a hearing: 
Protests'dlrected to tKe teclinlcal or- financial jrtness .pi. 
Just EMWiMwiiil lwiMi Co i fc . iw 'MW.™.! : 1 ?-
davs odthe date'of ihisinotloa with the Secretawoime 

lPUCTb'BbY3265,Hamsburg,iPA17105:3265;You 
should'send'copiB'sofariy^rotesttoJustEjieray. 
PennsylMnla Corp.'s attorneyat the addrew listed^below 
Please iricliicleittiti PUC's'tddcket number"'on any,!, 
'cdrrespondence,lwliichiS'A-.125XXX. . 

SBy and through Counsal:1 Attorney's'Name; . 
RvahTiRlisselt̂ Ogtlenjanfl Sslliar P.C;' 

I fT-''sooNoTth.ThirdStreetSuite'lOl - • 
•.- " Harrisburg; Pennsylvania 

1 • ^hone: (yiTl^SB:??!^ 
•i -ii." 'RW:;PV ZSfcTBIB.1 

Sworn t o and s u b s c r i b e d b e f o r e me t h i s 

NOTARY: 

.2011 A f f i a n t 

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA 
NOTARIAL SEAL 

Tami 1 Davis. Notary Public 
City of Erie, Erie County 

My commisaion expires April 14,2014 



No. 

PROOF OF PUBLICATION OF NOTICE IN 
SUN-GAZETTE UNDER ACT NO. 587, APP 

STATE OF PENNSYLVANIA 
COUNTY OF LYCOMING SS: 

B e r n a r d A . O r a v e c Publisher of the Sun-Gazette Company, pi 
to the Williamsport Sun and the Gazette & Bulletin, both daily newspapers of gen* 
Williamsport, Pennsylvania, being duly sworn, deposes and says that the Williams 
Bulletin was established in 1801, since which dates said successor, the Williamspt 
lished in the County of Lycoming aforesaid, and that a copy of the printed notice is 
publisl^jl in thp regular editions of said Williamsport Sun-Gazette on the following 
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Aff ian2ur thg deposes that he is an officer daily authorized by the Sun-Gazette C 
•to verSy the fiSregoing statement under oath and also declares that affiant is not in' 
of publication, and that all the allegations in the foregoing statement as to time, pla 

or 

PENNSYLVANIA 
/PUBlilCjjTiurrY 

- -COMMISSION 

Application "(o7'^uat^Bt 

QQak^for-fAQpfovalf'To^ 

N^ral^Gas^SUppjyi [Sef-j 

?iatrtf ~'F'nnanetri ;lh ^The-

'Naturall'Gas Supply'' Ser-. 
iw'c0s,,^Toi '-Tiji&lPybiic - In1 

TM' - fcommdnWea/ffr Oft, 
IPenhsyivania;, !Docl<etr:Nd. 

Jurt^EneT^y^Rennsylva^! 
nia Cbr^.,.w(lit be f̂iling a: 
requests with' 'the'-fPenhsyl^ 
vaniaLi^Ublic'LJtility.iComT1 

missiohuC'RlJG^jto amejid 
its Jicehse td iprovide. na-

gas J(2}: tar ibrakeiVmarttefer | 
engaged'jiri ithe^business' 
of supplying natural ^gas, 
arkil ((3); ani:aggfegator/jen:. 
gaged in the - business of 
^prbviclingrnatijralk gas jsujh 
, plyy seryices.;, vrJust^Erier? 
gyPennsy lvan ia Corp. 
proppsesli'tb; iseiil-'naturali 
das^andi-irelatect, seTvicesj 
throughout̂  allf ipf JjPenhsylr1 

vahia1; uixier t̂fie provisior^1 

Sworn to and subrs 

Co* 
WOT 

^OTOYA. 8] 
Qty of Williams, 
My Cwnmisston 

STATEMENT C 

To the Sun-Gazette 

For Dublishiner the ] 



APPENDIX D R E C E \ V E D 

Standards of Conduct 2011 JUN 10 AH lh 58 

(1) The [natural gas distribution company] should apply i § f g ^ ^ f n j ' ^ u R E A i; 
nondiscriminatory manner to its affiliate, its own marketing division 
and any nonaffiliate. 

(2) The [natural gas distribution company] should likewise not apply a 
tariff provision in any manner that would give its affiliate or division 
an unreasonable preference over other marketers with regard to 
matters such as scheduling, balancing, transportation, storage, 
curtailment, capacity release and assignment, or nondelivery, and all 
other services provided to its affiliated suppliers. 

(3) If a tariff provision is mandatory, the [natural gas distribution 
company] should not waive the provision for its affiliate or division 
absent prior approval of the Commission. 

(4) If a tariff provision is not mandatory or provides for waivers, the 
[natural gas distribution company] should grant the waivers without 
preference to affiliates and divisions or non-affiliates. 

(5) The [natural gas distribution company] should maintain a 
chronological log of tariff provisions for which it has granted 
waivers. Entries should include the name of the party receiving the 
waiver, the date and time of the request, the specific tariff provision 
waived and the reason for the waiver. Any chronological log should 
be open for public inspection during normal business hours. 

(6) The [natural gas distribution company] should process requests for 
transportation promptly and in a nondiscriminatory fashion with 
respect to other requests received in the same or a similar period. 
The [natural gas distribution company] should maintain a 
chronological log showing the processing of requests for 
transportation services. Any chronological log should be open for 
public inspection during normal business hours. 

(7) Transportation discounts and fee waivers and rebates provided to the 
[natural gas distribution company's] or its marketing affiliate's 
favored customers should be offered to other similarly situated 
customers and should not be tied to any unrelated service, incentive 
or offer on behalf of either the parent of affiliate. A chronological 

Natural Gas Supplier license Applicalion 
PA PUC Uocimicnl #:.1M346 



log should be maintained showing the date, party, time and rationale 
for the action. Any chronological log should be open for public 
inspection during normal business hours. 

(8) The [natural gas distribution company] should not disclose any 
customer proprietary information to its marketing affiliate or division, 
and to the extent that it does disclose customer information, it should 
contemporaneously paovide this same information to other similarly 
situated marketers in a similar fashion so as not to selectively 
disclose, delay disclosure, or give itself or its affiliate any undue 
advantage related to the disclosure. A chronological log should be 
maintained showing the date, time and rationale for the disclosure. 
Any chronological log should be open for public inspection during 
normal business hours. A natural gas distribution company should 
not provide information received from non-affiliated customers or 
suppliers to its affiliated natural gas suppliers. 

(9) The [natural gas distribution company] should justly and reasonably 
allocate to its marketing affiliate or division the costs or expenses for 
general administration or support services. 

(10) The [natural gas distribution company] selling surplus gas supplies 
and/or upstream capacity on a short-term basis (as defined by the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission) to its affiliate should make 
supplies available to similarly situated marketers on a 
nondiscriminatory basis. The [natural gas distribution company] 
should not make any gas supplies and/or upstream capacity available 
through private disclosure to the [natural gas distribution company's] 
affiliate unless the availability is made simultaneously with public 
dissemination in a manner that fairly apprises interested parties of the 
availability of the gas supplies and/or upstream capacity. The 
[natural gas distribution company] should maintain a chronological 
log of these public disseminations. Any chronological log should be 
open for public inspection during normal business hours. 

(11) The [natural gas distribution company] should not condition or tie 
agreements to release interstate pipeline capacity to any service in 
which the [natural gas distribution company] or affiliate is involved. 

(12) The [natural gas distribution company] should not directly or by 
implication . . . represent to any customer, supplier or third party that 
an advantage may accrue to any party through use of the [natural gas 
distribution company's] affiliate or subsidiary. 

Naiurnl Gas Supplier license Application 
PA PUC Documcm #: 13'J3-tt 



(13) The [natural gas distribution company] should establish and file with 
the Commission a complaint procedure for dealing with any alleged 
violations of any of the standards listed in paragraphs (1) through 
(12), this paragraph or paragraphs (14) and (15), excepting for 
paragraph (9), which should be exclusively under the purview of the 
Commission. These procedures should be developed in consultation 
with interested parties during consideration of any tariff guided by 
this section and §69.191 (relating to general). The Commission may 
expect establishment of a complaint procedure or other recordkeeping 
requirements if warranted by subsequent facts or circumstances. 

(14) The [natural gas distribution company] should keep a chronological 
log of any complaints, excepting paragraph (9), regarding 
discriminatory treatment of natural gas suppliers. This chronological 
log should include the date and nature of the complaint and the 
[natural gas distribution company's] resolution of it. Any 
chronological log should be open for inspection during normal 
business hours. 

(15) Parties alleging violations of these standards may pursue their 
allegations through the Commission's established complaint 
procedures. A complainant bears the burden of proof consistent with 
66 Pa. C.S. (relating to Public Utility Code) in regard to the 
allegations. 

(16) Licensees shall provide accurate information about their natural gas 
supplier services using plain language and common terms. Where 
new terms are used, such terms must be defined again using plain 
language: Information should be provided in a format which will 
allow for comparison of the various natural gas supply services 
offered and the prices charged for each type of service. 

(17) Licensees shall provide notification of the change in conditions of 
service, intent to cease operation as an natural gas supplier, 
explanation of denial of service, proper handling of deposits and 
proper handling of complaints in accordance with Commission 
regulations where applicable. 

(18) Licensees shall maintain the confidentiality of customers' historic 
payment information and right of access to their own load and billing 
information. 

Nalural Gas Supplier License Application •yri 
PA PUC Document H: 1393.16 U 



(19) Licensees shall not discriminate in the provision of natural gas supply 
services as to availability and terms of service based on race, color, 
religion, national origin, sex, marital status, age receipt of public 
assistance income, and exercise of rights under the Consumer Credit 
Protection Act, 15 U. S. C. §§1691-1691f; Regulation B, 12 C.F.R. 
§§202-202.14. 

(20) Licensees will be responsible for any fraudulent deceptive or other 
unlawful marketing or billing acts performed by their agents or 
representatives. Licensee shall inform consumers of state consumer 
protection laws that govern the cancellation or rescission of natural 
gas supply service contracts. 73 P. S. §201-7. 

(21) The natural gas distribution company shall not give any affiliate or 
marketing division preference over a non-traditional affiliate in the 
provision of goods and services such as processing requests for 
information, complaints and responses to service interruptions. The 
natural gas distribution company shall provide comparable treatment 
without regard to a customer's chosen natural gas supplier. 

(22) No transaction between the natural gas distribution company and an 
affiliated natural gas supplier shall involve an anti-competitive cross-
subsidy and all such transactions shall comply with applicable law. 

(23) Natural gas distribution company employees who have responsibility for 
operating the distribution system, including natural gas delivery or billing 
and metering, shall not be shared with an affiliated or divisional Supplier, 
and their offices shall be physically separated from the office(s) used by 
those working for the Supplier. Such natural gas distribution company 
employees may transfer to a Supplier provided such transfer is not used as a 
means to circumvent these interim standards of conduct. Any supplier shall 
have its own direct line management. Any shared facilities shall be fully 
and transparently allocated between the natural gas distribution company 
function and the Supplier function. The natural gas distribution company 
accounts and records shall be maintained such that the costs a Supplier 
incurs may be clearly identified. 

(24) (a) Neither the natural gas distribution company nor an affiliated or 
divisional Supplier may directly or by implication falsely and unfairly 
represent: 

Nalural Gas Supplier Ucenst- Applicaiion 
PA PUC Documenl * I.W346 21 



0 that the Pa PUC jurisdictionally regulated services provided by the 
natural gas distribution company are of a superior quality when power is 
purchased from an affiliated or divisional Supplier; or 

• that the merchant services (for natural gas) are being provided by the 
natural gas distribution company rather than an affiliated or divisional 
Supplier; 

• that the natural gas purchased from a Supplier that is not an affiliate or 
division of the natural gas distribution company may not be reliably 
delivered; 

• that natural gas must be purchased from an affiliate or divisional 
Supplier to receive Pa PUC jurisdictional regulated services. 

(b) The natural gas distribution company shall not jointly market or jointly 
purchase its Pa PUC jurisdictional regulated services with the services of an 
affiliated or divisional Suppler. This prohibition includes prohibiting the 
natural gas distribution company from including bill inserts in its natural 
gas distribution company bills promoting an affiliated or divisional 
Supplier's services, and further precludes a reference or link from the 
natural gas distribution company's web-site to any affiliated or divisional 
supplier. 

(c) When an affiliated or divisional Supplier markets or communicates to 
the public using the natural gas distribution company name or logo, it shall 
include a disclaimer that states: 

(i) That the Supplier is not the same company as the natural gas 
distribution company; (2) that the prices of the Supplier are not 
regulated by the Pa PUC; and (3) that a customer does not have to 
by natural gas or other products from the Supplier in order to receive 
the same quality service from the natural gas distribution company. 
When a Supplier advertises or communicates verbally through radio 
or television to the public using the natural gas distribution company 
name or logo, the Supplier shall include at the conclusion of any 
such communication a disclaimer that includes all of the disclaimers 
listed in this paragraph. 

(25) The natural gas distribution company must: (a) make interstate capacity 
available for release, assignment, or transfer to its affiliated or divisional 
Supplier only through the intestate pipeline electronic bulletin boards and 
the competitive bidding procedures in place on those interstate systems; (b) 

Natural Gas Supplier l,iccnsc Aj'plicalion TO 
PA PUC Oocumem M: 139346 



not give its affiliated or divisional Supplier any preference over non­
affiliated or non-divisional Suppliers, or potential non-affiliated or non-
divisional Suppliers, in matters relating to the assignment, release, or other 
transfer of the natural gas distribution company's capacity rights on 
interstate pipeline systems; and (c) not condition or tie its agreement to 
release, assign, or otherwise transfer interstate pipeline capacity to any 
agreement by a gas Supplier, customer or other third party relating to any 
service in which its marketing affiliate is involved. 

Natural Gas Supplier License Appliculion o " l 
PA PUC Itoeunvm »: 1393-16 Z J 



APPENDIX E 

Articles of Incorporation and Proof of Compliance with the Department of State Attached. 
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State of DolavarB 
Secretaxy of St&tQ 

Division of Carparatlana 
Secretaxy of State 

of corpora t 
Delivered 10:06 AH 06/03/2009 

STATE OF DELAWARE x^g&l ^JBSfflSL 
CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF 

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION OF 
PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY SAVINGS CORP. 

PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY SAVINGS CORP., a corporation orgaimed and 

existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, does hereby 

certify: 

FIRST: That by consent resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of 
PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY SAVINGS CORP. resolutions woe adopted setting forth a 
proposed amendment of the Certificate oflocorporatlofl of add corporation, declaring said 
amendment to be advisable and requesting the consent of the sole shareholder of said 
corporation for the consideration thereof. Hie resolution setting forth Cbte proposed 
amnndmcnt is as follows: 

RESOLVED, that the Certificate oflncorporation of the Corporation be amended by 
changing die Article thereof numbered T ' so that as amended, said Article shall be and 
read as follows: 

"1. The name of the coiporatkm is: JUST ENERGY PENNSYLVANIA 
CORP.** 

SECOND: That thereafter, pursuant to resolution of its Board of Directors, consent 
of the sole stockholder of the corporation was duly obtained in and in accordance with and 
pursuant to the authority of Section 228 of the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware In lieu of a meeting of stockholders called and held upon notice in accordance 
with Section 222 of the General Coiporation Law of the State of Delaware. 

THIRD: That the amendment was duly adopted in accordance withtfoe provisions of 
Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. 

m WITNESS WHEREOF, said Corporation has caused this certificate to be signed this 
2qA day of May 2009. 

Ken Hartwick 
Prcsii 

RoWrt A. Donaldson <s ^ 
Secretary o — 

PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY SAVINGS COS?. 
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PAGE 1 

Ifie first State 

I , JEFFREY W. BULLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF 

DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THE ATTACHED IS A TRUE AND CORRECT 

COPY OF THE CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT OF "PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY 

SAVINGS CORP.", CHANGING ITS NAME FROM "PENNSYLVANIA ENERGY 

SAVINGS CORP. " TO "JUST ENERGY PENNSYLVANIA CORP. "f FILED IN 

THIS OFFICE ON THE THIRD DAY OF JUNE, A.D. 2009, AT 10:06 

O'CLOCK A.M. 

4659209 8100 

090591405 
You may verify this certificate online 
at corp. dalawaro. gov/authmr.ahtml 

AUTRE, 
Jeffrey W. Bullock, Secretary of State 

ION: 7344941 

DATE: 06-05-09 



PAGE 1 

The first State 

I , JEFFREY W. BOLLOCK, SECRETARY OF STATE OF THE STATE OF 

DELAWARE, DO HEREBY CERTIFY "JUST ENERGY PENNSYLVANIA CORP." IS 

DULY INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE AND IS 

IN GOOD STANDING AND HAS A LEGAL CORPORATE EXISTENCE SO FAR AS 

THE RECORDS OF THIS OFFICE SHOW, AS OF THE FIFTH DAY OF JUNE, 

A.D. 2009. 

AND I DO HEREBY FURTHER CERTIFY THAT THE SAID "JUST ENERGY 

PENNSYLVANIA CORP. " WAS INCORPORATED ON THE TWENTY-FIFTH DAY OF 

FEBRUARY, A.D. 2009. 

4659209 8300 

090591405 
You aay verity this certificate online 
at cozp.ddlairars.gov/autiiTBr.slitiiLl 

AUTRE, 
Jeffrey W. Bullock. Secretary of State 

piON: 7344942 

DATE: 06-05-09 



Entity #: 3867154 
Date Fi led: 06/15/2009 

Pedro A. Cortes 
Secretary of the Commonwealth 

PENNSYLVANIA DEPARTMENT OF STATE 
CORPORATION BUREAU 

Application for Amended Certificate of Authority 
Foreign Corporation 

(15Pa.C.S.) 
I / I Foreign Business Corporation (§ 4126) 
I I Foreign Nonprofit Corporation (§ 6126) 

Hame 
Angel Avalos Jr./Lowis & Gellen L L P 
Address 
200 West Adams Street, Suite 1900 
City 
Chicago 

State 
IL 

Zip Code 

60606 

Fee: $250 

Document will be returned to the 
Dame and address you enter to 
the left 

Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
AMENDED CERT. OF AUTHORITY-BUSINESS Foreign * Pago{s) 

10916711110 

In compliance with the requirements of the applicable provisions of 15 Pa.C.S. (relating to corporations and unincorporated 
associations), the undersigned foreign corporation, desiring to receive an amended certificate of authority, hereby states that: 

1. The name under which the corporation currently holds a certificate of authority to do business within the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania is: 

Pennsylvania Energy Savings Corp. 

2. The name of the jurisdiction under the laws of which the corporation is incorporated is: Delaware 

3- The address of its principal office under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated is: 

100 King Street West, Suite 2630 Toronto Ontario M 5 X 1E1 (Canada) 
Number and Street City State Zip 

4. The (a) address of this corporation's registered office in this Commonwealth or (b) name of its commercial 
registered office provider and the county of venue is: 

(a) Number and Street City State Zip County 

(b) Name of Commercial Registered Office Provider 
do: National Registered Agents, Inc. 

County 
County of Dauphin, Pennsylvania 

Check if applicable: 

]_- J The foregoing reflects a change in Pennsylvania registered office. 

PA DEPT. OF STATE 
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DSCB:15-4126/6126-2 

5. The corporation desires that its certificate of authority be amended to change the name under which it is 
authorized to transact business in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to: 

Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. 

6. If the name set forth in Paragraph 5 is not available for use in this Commonwealth, complete the following: 

The fictitious name which the corporation adopts for use in transacting business in this Commonwealth is: 

The corporation shall do business in Pennsylvania only under such fictitious name pursuant to the attached 
resolution of the board of directors under the applicable provisions of 15 PaC.S. (relating to corporations and 
unincorporated associations) and the attached form DSCB:54-311 (Application for Registration of Fictitious 
Name). 

7. Check one of the following: 

EZ] The change of name reflects a change effected in the jurisdiction of incorporation 

I Documents complying with the applicable provisions of 15 Pa.C.S. § 4123(b) or 6123(b) (relating to 
exception; name) accompany this application. 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the undersigned 
corporation has caused this Application for an Amended 
Certificate of Authority to be signed by a duly authorized 
officer thereof this 

day of June , 

2009 . 

Pennsylvania Energy Savings Corp. 
Name of Corporation 

Signature 

Title 



C O M M O N W E A L T H O F P E N N S Y L V A N I A 

D E P A R T M E N T O F S T A T E 

JUNE 23, 2009 

TO ALL WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME, GREETING: 

JUST ENERGY PENNSYLVANIA CORP. 

I, Pedro A. Cortes, Secretary of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

do hereby certify that the foregoing and annexed is a true and correct 

copy of 

AMENDED CERT. OF AUTHORITY-BUSINESS Foreign filed on June 15, 2009 

which appear of record in this department. 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have 
hereunto set my hand and caused 
the Seal of the Secretary's Office to 
be affixed, the day and year above 
written. 

Secretary of the Commonwealth 



rax d\i~ia<i-\uu3 

State Delaware 
Secretary of State 

division or Corporations 
DeliveX^ti 22:42 PM 02/25/2009 

FILED 12:42 PM 02/25/2009 
SRV 090193898 - 4659209 FILE 

STATE ^ / D E L A W A R E 
CERTIFICATE -?/INCORPORATIOlS7 

A STOCK CORPORATION 

• First: The name of this Corporation is Pennayl vania gnergy 
Sayinqe ^Corp. ^ ^ 

• Second: Its registered office in the State of Delaware is to be located at 160 
G r e e n t r e e D r i v e , S u i t e 101 Street, in the City of Dove:? 
County of Kenc ^ Zip Code 19904 The registered agent In 
charge thereof is N a t i o n a l R e g i s t e r e d ficrents. I n c . 

Third: The purpose of the corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for 
which corporations may be organized under the General Corporation Law of 
Delaware, 

Fourth: The amount of the total stock of this corporation is authorized to issue is 
i o o shares (number of authorized shares) with a par value of 

o.ooocoooooo per share. 
Fifth: The name and mailing address of the incorporator are as foUovvs; 

Naine Jonah Dav ids c / o Lowia & C-ellen L L P (G. Haberkorn) 

Mailing Address200 West Adams S t r e e t , S u i t e 1900. 
C h i c a q o , I I 1 i n o i s Z ipCode_€££06_ 

I, The Undersigned, for the purpose of forming a corporation under the laws of the 
State of Delaware, do make, file and record this Certificate, and do certify that the 
facts herein stated are true, and I have accordingly hereunto set my hand this 
25 day of Feb rua ry A.D, 20 09 

NAME:|Jonah Dav ids 
(type or print) 



APPENDIX F RECEIVED 

2011 JUN 10 AHI|:59 
COMPLIANCE 

ft\ PUC 
SECRETARY'S BUREAU 

The following are particulars of penalties, fines, and voluntary payments for Hudson Energy Services LLC. 

associated entities resulting from proceedings by name, subject and citation, dealing with business 

operations, in the last five (5) years, whether before an administrative body or in a judicial forum, in which 

an affiliate, a predecessor of either, has been a defendant or a respondent. 

Universal Energy Corporation 

British Columbia Utilities Commission (BCUC) - March 2008. In Commission Order no.G-47-08 UEC 

was found in violation of Articles 14 & 29 of the Commission's Code of Conduct The incident in 

question involved allegation that an independent agent representing UEC conducted himself in an 

aggressive manner towards a customer. UEC acknowledged the incident, and was ordered to pay a 

penalty of $7,000.00, re-train and certify all agents in British Columbia within 14 days of the Order, and 

train all new agents in accordance with the Order. 

Ontario Energy Board (OEB) - EB - 2009-0005-January 20th 2009; pursuant to section 112.7 of OEB 

Act, 1998 and as part of the OEB reaffirmation audit, it was determined that misleading statements 

were used during reaffirmations completed within the time frame of March 2007 to June 2008. The 

misleading statements included "the cap will be removed in May 2008" and "RPP is currently 

subsidized by the government". For a period of 18 months Universal committed to report on any 

disciplinary action taken as a results of it quality assurance audits of all positive reaffirmation calls. 

UEC was ordered to pay an initial penalty $200,000 later reduced to $127,500. 

EB-2009-0118- on April 29th 2009, Pursuant to section 112.5 of OEB Act, 1998 a penalty pertaining 

to two specific instances of making false and misleading statements, and one instance of a breach of 

section 2.3 of the Code of Conduct for Gas Marketers related to natural gas supply submission without 

the consumers written permission. UEC was fined $60,000. 

Michigan Public Utilities Commission (MPUC) - February 2008. Commission Order no. U-15509 

directed a formal investigation into the marketing and customer service practices of Universal Gas and 

Electric Corporation (UGE) (which is an affiliate of UEC and was acquired by Just Energy along with 

UEC in 2009). The primary catalyst for this investigation was the number of complaints received by the 

Naiunil Gas Supplier 1 icensc Applicaiion T C 
PA PUC Documenl ft: 139346 j L J 



Commission relating to the marketing practices of UGE. The bulk of the allegations in these 

complaints were that independent contractors were not describing the product offering fully or in a 

manner that a customer could understand. The Commission and UGE reached a settlement in which 

UGE agreed to; i) offer to terminate without charge contracts with certain customers or, alternatively, 

provide a $50 credit to those of the affected customers who chose to remain with UGE; ii) reimburse 

certain customers for their time; iii) reimburse the State of Michigan $300,000; iv) submit its marketing 

materials to the MPUC staff for review; and v) change certain products and marketing practices. 

Universal also agreed to file a quarterly report, for a period of two years (ending February 2010), with 

the MPUC outlining the number of customer complaints, types of concerns, resolutions and any 

reimbursements paid, and to include in such reports proposals for improvement in its processes to 

address any systemic issues found to give rise to such complaints. 

Illinois Energy Savings Corp. (now - Just Energy Illinois Corp.) 

Two separate actions regarding the substantially similar allegations for a similar time period were 

pursued separately by the Illinois Attorney General and the Citizen's Utility Board in the Circuit Court 

of Cook County, Illinois and before the Illinois Commerce Commission, respectively. 

Illinois. Attorney General (ILAG) -The ILAG brought suit against Illinois Energy Savings Corporation 

(IESC) related to allegations that IESC used deceptive sales tactics and promised savings to 

customers, which conduct, if proven, would in ILAG's view have amounted to conduct in violation of 

the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act. In May 2009, the ILAG and IESC 

entered into a settlement agreement. The ILAG and IESC agreed to a stipulated final judgment and 

consent decree. Although IESC denied the allegations in the suit, it agreed to: i) pay restitution to 

Illinois consumers; ii) provide eligible consumers with notice of the settlement within 30 days and 

notice regarding the submission of claim forms to access the restitution funds; iii) allow current eligible 

customers to cancel contracts without paying an early termination fee; iv) ensure that all marketing 

material had full disclosures regarding the type of product, the conditions of service and any existence 

of early contract termination fees; v) cap any early termination fees at $50; and vi) investigate and 

terminate sales representatives who were proven to have misled consumers, to have provided false 

information during solicitations or to have forged contracts or agreements. No violations of the 

Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act were found in this proceeding. 

Naluia l fias Supplier l icense Applicaiion T , ' 
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Illinois Commerce Commission (ICC) - in ICC Docket No. 08-0175, the Citizen's Utility Board ("CUB") 

and other parties filed a complaint against IESC alleging violations of Article XIX of the Illinois Public 

Utilities Act, including non-compliance with Section 2 of the Illinois Consumer Fraud and Deceptive 

business Practices Act, the Illinois Deceptive Trade Practices Act, the common law prohibition against 

unreasonable liquidated damages, and the supplier Standards of Conduct contained in utility tariffs. In 

April 2010, the Illinois Commerce Commission issued its Final Order in Docket No. 08-0175, which 

found eight individual violations of subsection 19-115(c) by failing to obtain verifiable authorization of a 

switch, a single violation of subsection 19-115(f) for inaccurate price disclosures in marketing 

materials, and a single violation of the Standards of Conduct in gas utility tariffs. There was no finding 

of a violation of the Consumer Fraud and Deceptive Business Practices Act. Further, there was a 

finding that IESC had not violated the common law prohibition against unreasonable liquidated 

damages. IESC was ordered to pay a fine of $90,000, undergo an audit, and implement corrective 

measures to ensure future adherence to Illinois laws and regulations. 

Indiana Energy Savings Corp. (now - Just Energy Indiana Corp.) 

On March 20, 2008, an Indiana resident filed a proposed consumer class action against IESC in Illinois 

also based on allegations similar to those made by the Illinois Attorney General. The matter was 

voluntarily dismissed with prejudice. Considered resolved by both parties. 

Pamela Tillman v. U.S. Energy Savings Corporation. 1:08-cv-01641 (United States District Court, 
Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division). 

Although this file was not part of a formal investigation, in the interest of full disclosure please 

see the below relating to NYESC 

New York Energy Savings Corporation (now - Just Energy New York Corp.) 

New York Attorney General (NYAG) - February 2008. The NYAG conducted an informal review 

related to consumer complaints alleging that independent contractors representing New York Energy 

Savings Corporation (NYESC) had made promises of savings to consumers. A voluntary settlement 

resulted in an Assurance of Discontinuance which was accepted in July 2008 (AOD-08-84), in which 

NYESC agreed to cancel customers without fees, and pay $100,000 in penalties and an additional 

$100,000 in costs to NYAG. NYESC also agreed to ; i) provide to every new customer a letter setting 

out the contract cancellation period and early termination fees; ii) confirm all details and qualifiers of its 

agreements with consumers either by recorded call or in writing; iii) obtain background and/or reference 

checks for all potential sales contractors; iv) review all consumer complaints and provide a response 

within 30 days of receipt; v) terminate any independent contractor who was proven to have misled 

Naluial Gas Supplier License Applicaiion 
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consumers more than twice; and vi) waive termination fees for any consumer who cancelled an 

agreement within 60 days of the date of the AOD. 

Hudson Energy Services. LLC ("Hudson Energy") 

This matter involved allegations of billing errors on the part of Hudson Energy in New Jersey, which 

caused approximately 2000 of its customers to be overcharged seven percent for energy services 

supplied by Hudson Energy from December 2008-August 2009. Upon review the Staff of the New 

Jersey Board of Public Utilities alleged that the Hudson Energy did not comply with the Board's 

requirements related to New Jersey Offices as set out in N.J.A.C. 14:4-5.2(a)-(b). 

Hudson Energy submitted an Offer of Settlement to resolve the outstanding violations alleged by Board 

Staff. The Offer of Settlement includes the following provisions: 

i. Hudson Energy will send a letter to the customers affected by the billing error. 

ii. Hudson Energy will issue a credit to existing customers and refund past customers affected by 

the billing error. The credit and refunds will total $86,853.00 

iii. Hudson Energy will undertake in good faith to locate customers affected by using various 

research tools, 

iv. Hudson Energy affirms that it will not assess a termination fee to any affected customer. 

v. Hudson Energy will provide a written update to the BPU Divisions of Energy as to the status of 

their efforts with respect to customer credits/refunds by March 1, 2010. 

vi. Hudson Energy will provide a copy of its New Jersey Residential Customer Terms and 

Conditions to the State Division of Consumer Affairs and Rate Counsel. 

vii. Hudson Energy will comply with all the terms and conditions of Orders and directives issued by 

the Board regarding TPSs and the requirements as set forth at N.J.S.A. 48:3-78 et seq and 

N.J.A.C.14: 4-1 et seq. 

The Board did find that Hudson Energy's Offer of Settlement resolved the outstanding allegations, 

accepted it for the purpose of the proceeding and ordered the investigation that initiated the matter 

closed. Hudson Energy also relocated its principal place of business in New Jersey. 

Natural Gas Supplier Ucciv-c Application T O 
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Appendix G 

JUST ENERGY 2011 ANNUAL REPORT 
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Appendix H 

EXPERIENCE OF K E Y OPERATING PERSONEL 

KEN HARTWICK, CA. 
Chief Executive Officer 

Ken Hartwick has over 13 years of management experience in the energy sector, and 20 years experience in 
the financial sector. Ken's experience in the energy industry spans several markets having played an integral 
role as Energy Savings' Chief Financial Officer since April 2004 launching Energy Savings' businesses in 
Alberta, British Columbia, Indiana, and Texas as well as growing the businesses already established in 
Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, Illinois, and New York. As well as serving as the current President and CEO for 
Just Energy {formally known as Energy Savings), an integrated retailer of commodity products, he understands 
the issues facing generation businesses through his role on the Board of the Atlantic Power Corporation. Ken 
has been engaged in the energy industry with one of the largest distribution companies in North America, 
Hydro One Inc., gaining increasing executive-level responsibility throughout his career there, and providing 
strategic direction as Ontario transitions towards a competitive energy marketplace. 

BETH SUMMERS, CA. 
Chief Financial Officer 

Beth Summers has been the Chief Financial Officer of Energy Savings since February, 2009. Prior to joining 
the company, she served as the Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at Hydro One which 
operates the Province of Ontario's largest electricity transmission and distribution systems and directly serves 
1.2 million customers. 

Prior to being at Hydro One, Beth served as a Senior Manager, Assurance & Advisory Services with Ernst & 
Young LLP where she was involved with fully integrated utilities as well as generation, utility distribution and 
services organizations. 
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SCOTT GAHN 
President and Chief Operating Officer 

Scott is now serving as President and Chief Operating Officer after serving as Executive Vice President of U.S. 
Energy Savings since May 2007. Prior to this Mr. Gahn was Chief Executive Officer and co-founder of Just 
Energy Texas LP, which was acquired by Energy Savings. 

Scott began his career in the energy business in 1986 at the Virginia State Corporation Commission, where he 
focused on energy utilities with specific focus on the newly deregulated natural gas market. In 1992 he moved 
from the Virginia SCC to New York State Electric & Gas Corporation where he rose to the position of Manager 
of Rates, with responsibility for rate and regulatory matters, commodity risk management and policies related 
to deregulation and customer choice. In 1997, Scott joined Enron Capital & Trade Resources where he 
worked in various positions leading ultimately to Managing Director of Enron Direct, a rapidly growing business 
focused on selling and supplying natural gas and electricity to small and medium sized businesses throughout 
the United States. 

Scott is a graduate of Virginia Tech and has a Master of Economics degree from Virginia Commonwealth 
University. 

ROBERT A. DONALDSON, Q.C., B. Comm., LL.B 
Corporate Secretary 

Robert Donaldson obtained his B.Comm from McMaster University in 1961. In 1964 he obtained his LL.B from 
the University of Toronto Law School. In 1966 he was called to the bar of Ontario and was appointed Queen's 
Counsel in January of 1985. Robert has over 30 years experience practicing law as a senior partner with 
major Canadian law firms. Robert has considerable experience and expertise in the areas of acquisitions and 
mergers, the raising of capital by way of private placement or prospectus, the regulation of Canadian financial 
institutions, directors' and officers' liability and corporate governance. 

Robert was one of the founding shareholders of Just Energy Income Fund. 

Robert has chaired or participated in many securities law conferences, written numerous articles on securities 
law topics and has taught corporate finance and securities regulation and corporate governance as a special 
lecturer at Osgoode Half Law School and the University of Western Ontario Law School. 

Naluial Gas Supplier IJccn-w Application T | 
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GORD POTTER 
Executive Vice President Legal and Regulatory Affairs 

With almost 10 years experience in the energy industry, Gord oversees legai, regulatory and government 
relations activity across all 20 markets that Just Energy operates in and this collective experience informs 
credible policy-making decisions. Focused primarily on retail markets, Gord has been actively involved in the 
design & development of policy, industry rules and regulations and the underlying business and technical 
processes supporting these markets in North America. 

For several years, Gord has served as a member of the Alberta Department of Energy's Electric Utilities Act 
Advisory Committee and the Retail Market Coordinating Committee. He has participated in the regulatory rule 
development and market design for Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta and Texas. In Ontario, he played a 
role in the industry market design and Rule development for Ontario Electricity. He was an active contributor in 
the Electronic Business Transactions Rules development under the auspices of the OEB as he was a member 
of the OEB EBT Advisory Committee. Currently, he is the Chair of the Marketers and Retailers Sector 
Committee of the Ontario Energy Association in Ontario. 

Preceding his experience in the deregulated energy market, Gord enjoyed 14 years in the Canadian telecom 
industry. At the time of deregulation of local telecommunications in 1997, 
Gord held an active leadership role in the development of market design, rules regulations, as the Chair of 
several industry working groups established under the auspices of the Federal Regulator - the C.R.T.C. 

JONAH DAVIDS 
Vice President and General Counsel 

Jonah Davids is currently the Corporate Secretary for Just Energy and Universal Energy Corporation, 
marketers of natural gas and electricity to residential and commercial customers in Canada and the United 
States. Prior to joining Just Energy, Jonah practiced with McMillan LLP in the corporate and natural resources 
groups. 

Jonah received his LLB from the University of Western Ontario in 2000 and an LLM in Natural Resources from 
the University of Dundee, Scotland in 2005. He is admitted to the bar in the Province of Ontario. 
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DEBORAH MERRIL 
Executive Vice President, Commercial 

Deborah has more than 16 years of experience in the retail energy industry, most recently as the head of the 
commercial business within Just Energy. In her current role, she is responsible for all aspects of the 
commercial business, which includes the Commerce and Hudson Energy Services brands. 

Before joining Just Energy Income Fund, Deborah spent 8 years with Enron Energy Services where she 
gained experience in many aspects of the business from operations, physical and financial risk management 
and deal structuring. After Enron, she was one of the founding partners of Just Energy, LP (now owned by 
Just Energy Income Fund) where she was responsible for all sales and marketing for the business. 

BLAKE LASUZZO 
Vice President, Supply 

Blake manages the supply department that covers both the gas and electric portfolio's of Just Energy Income 
Fund's subsidiaries operating across the United States, including Commerce Energy Inc. This department is 
responsible for all aspects related to procurement, scheduling, pricing, structuring, load forecasting, and 
monthly rate setting for all of the company's Natural Gas and Electricity markets. Prior to joining Commerce 
Energy in 2004, he worked in various arenas of the energy business with EOTT Energy and Devon Energy. 
Lasuzzo has over 8 years combined energy operational and sales experience. Blake earned Bachelor of Arts 
degrees in both Finance and Energy Management from the University of Oklahoma. 

JAMES LEWIS 
Senior Vice President, and General Manager, U.S. East 

James has more than 14 years of experience in the retail energy industry, most recently as the head of the 
Eastern U.S. residential and small business division of Just Energy. In his current role, he is responsible for all 
aspects of the residential business, which include customer service, operations and sales. 

Previously, James was Senior Vice President of Operations, where he was responsible for all North American 
Operations for Just Energy. This included everything from contract fulfillment and revenue assurance to 
customer retention and renewals. 

Prior to Just Energy, James worked in risk management, structuring, and trading for a large energy company 
and information management and internal audit for a large multi-national company. 

James is a graduate of Stevens Institute of Technology with a Bachelor and Master of Engineering degree and 
he has a Master of Business Admission degree from New York University 

Naluial Gas Supplier 1 Jccnse Application TO 
PA PUC Uocumem tt: 139346 J J 



STUART REXRODE 
Senior Vice President and Regional General Manager - South Region. 

Stuart currently leads all the business and operational aspects of Just Energy's South Region, which 
comprises Texas, California, Georgia, and Florida and is responsible for the profit and loss of this segment. 

Prior to his current role, he served as Vice President of Finance and Business Development, where he 
negotiated and led al! Business Development and Mergers and Acquisitions activity within Just Energy, and all 
activities related to product development and negotiating new product and third party marketing agreements for 
Momentis, Just Energy's network marketing affilliate. Stuart was one of the five founding partners of Just 
Energy Texas, a Texas-based electric retailer focused on the small commercial segment, which was sold to 
the Canadian-based Energy Savings Income Fund in 2007, and was later renamed Just Energy Group in 
2009. Stuart was responsible for leading and closing Just Energy's acquisition of Universal Energy and 
Hudson Energy, and originating purchase agreements with Renewable generators. 

Prior to Just Energy, Stuart served nine years at Enron Corp, where he held positions in Upstream Oil and Gas 
Finance originating and closing debt and equity investments with independent producers, both domestically 
and internationally. He also served in Enron's Retail division where he structured and closed comprehensive 
Energy outsourcing transactions with Fortune 500 corporations. He served in both the United States and in 
London, England during his time with Enron. Prior to Enron, Stuart served two years as an Aerospace 
Engineer with McDonnell Douglas in Houston. Stuart holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Aerospace 
Engineering and a Masters of Business Administration, both from the University of Texas at Austin. 

Niitural Gas Supplier License Application "lA 
PA PUC Documcm «: ] 39346 J H 



Appendix I RECEIVED 
GENERAL BUSINESS INFORMATION 

ZOIIJUN 10 PM^OO 
Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp. is one of several Affiliates (collectively "Just Energy") of Just Energy, 
Inc. Just Energy completed its initial public offering on April 30, 2001. Ontario Erie.rgy.Savings Corp. 
("OESC") now known as Just Energy Corp was the sole operating AffiliS£Q5ffJ'ustiEner^JFIric>i'ih April, 
2001, and today continues to serve as the attorney and administrator of the corporation pursuant to the 
Declaration of Trust and the Administration Agreement dated April 30, 2001, as amended from time to 
time. While Just Energy Corp. no longer carries on any active marketing activities, its board of directors 
supervises the business and affairs of the corporation and its affiliates. 

As of March 31, 2011, Just Energy employs 943 persons of which 8 constitute the executive group, 52 
are employed in the finance and risk management departments, 33 are employed in the legal and 
regulatory departments, 111 are employed in the information technology group, 167 are employed in 
the operations and supply departments, 13 are involved in the human resources and facilities 
department and 540 are employed in the customer service, marketing and processing group. 
Approximately 850 independent contractors are involved in the door-to-door marketing of gas contracts 
and electricity contracts across all markets. 

Just Energy markets and is a leading energy supplier serving: (i) natural gas to residential customers, 
commercial and small industrial customers in Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta, British Columbia, Illinois, New 
York, Michigan and Indiana and solely to commercial and small industrial customers in Quebec, and (ii) 
electricity to residential, commercial and small industrial customers in Ontario and Alberta and in the 
states of New York and Texas. 

Just Energy has been continuously marketing retail gas contracts since 1997 and retail electricity 
contracts since 2005. The contracts have historically been primarily for a four or five year term, after 
which they are eligible for renewal, however short-term products are now being offered. Just Energy 
provides residential and business customers with electricity and natural gas Price Protection programs, 
as well as environmentally friendly energy solutions to customers for the full term of their contracts, as 
opposed to a variable price charged by the local utility or distribution companies. These Price 
Protection programs reduce or eliminate customers' exposure to changes in the price of these essential 
commodities. 

Commerce Energy, Inc. is an affiliate of Just Energy. Commerce Energy, Inc. currently serves gas 
commodity to retail consumers in California and serves electric commodity and related services to retail 
consumers in California, Maryland, Michigan, New Jersey and Pennsylvania. 

Hudson Energy, Inc. is an affiliate of Just Energy. Hudson Energy, Inc. is a business to business 
supplier of electric and natural gas commodity in North America. Hudson Energy currently serves 
commercial and residential customers providing fixed and index products in Illinois, New York, New 
Jersey, Massachusetts, and Texas. Hudson Energy offers fixed price and term contracts as well as 
variable price and term products. 

Nalural Gas Supplier License Applicaiion •> c 
PA I'UC Documenl ff: 139346 
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PROVIDING ENERGY AND INNOVATION 
ACROSS NORTH AMERICA 

Just Energy has been providing price-protected energy supply to North American homes and 

businesses since 1997. We provide gas and electricity sufficient to meet the needs of more 

than 3.3 million commercial and residential customer equivalents in 13 states and 6 provinces. 

IJ-ADICK IN GKIil'N U V O G Y 

Just Energy is one of North America's largest competitive green energy retailers. We invest 

in green energy generation and carbon reduction projects that broaden customer choice 

and accessibility. By putting more choice and control in the hands of consumers, we provide 

them with easy, hassle-free options to mitigate the environmental impact associated with 

their home energy use. Since 2007, our hundreds of thousands of green customers have 

helped offset over 443,000 metric tonnes of carbon emissions and inject 1.95 million MWh 

of renewable energy into electricity grids-see page 6. 

STRENGTH IN RESIDENTIAL 

We are one of the dominant suppliers in every region in which we compete. During fiscal 

2011, we added a record 428,000 customers through marketing. Today, few retailers 

can match Just Energy's geographic reach and sales force-see page 8. 

GROWTH IN COMMERCIAL 

We added 571,000 new commercial customers in fiscal 2011. Mid-sized businesses and 

institutional users such as hospitals and school boards now represent approximately 40% 

of our total customer base-see page 10. 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term, fixed-price, price-
protected or variable-priced contracis and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program 
contracts.for a period of up to.five years. Just Energy's customers offset.their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy derives 
its margin or gross.profit from the difference between the fixed price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which 
it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also offers "green" products through its JustGreen program, in addition, through National 
Home Services,.Just Energy rents and sells high efficiency and tankless water heaters, air conditioners and furnaces to Ontario residents. Through Hudson Solar, 
the Company completes solar power installations for customers in New Jersey. Through Terra Grain Fuels, Just Energy produces and sells wheat-based ethanol. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE EXECUTIVE CHAIR 

Dear Fellow Shareholders, 

I am pleased to report our results for the yearended March 31, 

2011. Once again, Just Energy has shown the ability to profitably 

grow regardless'of corporate structure, adverse market price 

environment, exchange rates or weather. 

The.year had a number of highlights. 

On January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed its conversion from 

an income trust to a corporation. Our. Board has implemented a 

dividend policy where monthly dividends have been initially set at 

$0.10333 per share ($1.24.annually), equal to the distributions 

previously paid to Just Energy's unitholders. This transition 

has been completed smoothly. Since January, many of our 

shareholders have benefited from a more attractive tax treatment 

on dividends, as opposed to the previous distributions. 

We believe that this more traditional structure will make our 
shares more attractive to U.S. investors, allowing us to build our 
shareholder base. 

A second major step was the acquisition of Hudson Energy, a 

U.S.-based reseller of commercial gas and electricity. Hudson 

broughi with it an. estabiished base of 660,000 customers 

but, more importantly, a commercial broker platform that had 

made it.a market leader in this segment. In Just Energy's first 

year utilizing this platform, our commercial customer additions 

exceeded the total commercial additions signed in the history of 

the Company; The acquisition of Hudson will be a key step in the 

diversification of Just Energy's sales and profits going forward. 

Our operating results showed weather-related weakness in 

the first half of the year and a return to normal growth and 

profitability in the second half. The first and second quarters 

saw financial reconciliations and balancing costs of the record 

warm winter in fiscal 2010. These costs reduced margins by 

approximately $35 million from what they would have been 

following a normal winter. By the end of the first six months of 

the fiscal year, growth in gross margin and distributable cash 

were well below our target range. 

The remainder of the year saw normalized weather and 

profitability combined with record customer growth in both our 

residential and commercial books. While the year saw a 7% 

decline in the U.S. dollar exchange rate, reducing margins by a 

further $16 million, we finished the year with a gross margin of 

$480.5 million, up 13% (6% per share), in line with our initial 

guidance. Adjusted EBITDA was $267.2 million, up 13% (6% per 

unit): Distributable cash after gross margin replacement was flat 

year over year at $229,6 million, with 19% growth in the fourth 

quarter offsetting the adverse weather impacts in the first half of 

the fiscal year. 
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Our ability to maintain .profitability and growth under these 

circumstances is a function of our history of successful 

diversification. We have been a public entity for ten years. Five 

years ago, we had just entered our first U.S. market, Illinois. 

Investors were skeptical that a Canadian company, no matter how 

successful, could compete profitably south of the border. Even if 

we were successful in aggregating customers, it was believed that 

we could not match our Canadian profitability. 

The table above shows the fiscal 2011 results of our move to 

the United States. 

Our U.S. operations today are larger, faster growing and more 

profitable than our Canadian business. Even with the growth 

in the U.S., we believe there remains strong potential in the 

Canadian marketplace for our traditional sales channel. It is our 

hope that our commercial expansion will parallel this success, 

including in Canada. Our percentage margin on a commercial 

customer is lower than that of a residential homeowner. Our cost 

of acquisition is also commensurately lower, and the per-customer 

annual cost of servicing the commercial base is much lower. 

Many of our shareholders look to Just Energy as an important 

source of steady, predictable income. This will not change. While 

our current fiscal year had challenges, we were able to comfortably 

pay our $1.24 dividend/distribution with an 8 8 % payout ratio on 

distributable cash, in line with our target payout of less than 100%. 

The future value of our contracted margins contained within our 

customer book grew by 2 0 % year over year to over $ 7.4 billion. 

This growth occurred despite a sharp decline in the U.S. dollar and. 

the resultant reduction in the future value of our fast-growing U.S. 

customer book. Throughout the history of Just Energy, we have not 

only paid a high yield to our investors but we'have also consistently 

added to the long-term value of your shares. 

As a shareholder and executive over the ten years Just Energy 

has been public, I am proud to have participated in delivering 

this track record. Just Energy has become a North American 

leader in the deregulated commodity supply and green energy 

markets. Our Company possesses an outstanding management 

team that is well prepared for the challenges we will face. I look 

forward to a bright and prosperous future. 

Thank you for your support. 

Yours truly, 

Rebecca M a c D o n a l d 

Executive Chair 
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LETTER FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Dear Fellow Shareholders, 

Fiscal 2011 demonstrated the positive impact of a number of steps 

that Just Energy has taken to diversify sources of revenue and margin 

to maintain growth and profitability. These have come at a time 

when our traditional residential fixed-price product is faced with 

challenging market conditions for new customers and renewals. 

The steps we have taken are headlined by the continued success 

of our expansion into the sale of gas and electricity to commercial 

customers. Of the record 999,000 new customers signed during 

the year, 571,000 came through our Commercial division. These 

customers have the same rapid payback on aggregation cost as 

does our traditional residential base. 

Just Energy has also developed a number of shorter-term and 

floating-price products targeted to the specific needs of certain 

commercial and residential customers. These innovations have 

contributed both to new customer additions and renewals as well 

as to strong margins. 

In last year's message, I expressed concern about how the 

weak economy in our key northern U.S. markets had driven 

our customer attrition levels well above our target levels. Home 

foreclosures were at record levels and we chose to return many 

customers to utility system supply because they were simply 

unable to pay their utility bills. 

Fiscal 2011 was spent implementing customer retention 

strategies, which immediately provided results. Our popular 

Blend and Extend product allowed customers to reduce above 

market commodity prices in exchange for extending their 

contract term. The result of this and other measures, along with 

an improving economy, was a 7% decline in annual attrition 

within the hard-hit U.S. natural gas book, falling from 30% to 

23% annually. Our U.S. electricity attrition was 17%, below our 

20% target. Our Canadian attrition remained at its long-term 

average of 10% annually. We expect continued improvement 

in this area. 

Net customer additions were a record 361,000, up 395% from 

fiscal 2010. Including these and the customers acquired with 

Hudson Energy in the first quarter, total customers reached 

3,314,000, up 45% from a year prior. The chart on the following 

page shows the recent success of Just Energy's marketing. 
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Sales of JustGreen electricity and gas products remained strong 

despite their premium price over utility supply. A toiaJ of 36% of 

Our new customers elected green supply for an average of 90% 

of their commodity consumption. We also added JustClean, a 

green product, which allows customers to reduce their carbon 

footprint without purchasing the commodity. This product can 

be offered in all states and provinces and is not dependent on 

energy deregulation. Early customer response to this product has 

been very positive. Total green customers now total 10% of the 

Company's electricity book (up from 5% a year ago) and 6% of 

the gas book (up from 2%). 

EXPECTATIONS FOR FISCAL 2012 

We expect continued profitable growth for Just Energy in the 

year to come. 

Geographic expansion into Pennsylvania, Saskatchewan and 

two new utility territories in New York is expected in the coming 

year. This is in addition to the continued growth in our existing 

core markets. Equally important will be an expansion of the very 

successful Hudson commercial broker network. Broadening this 

commercial footprint to existing Just Energy markets will be a 

major contributor to growth. Recently developed telemarketing 

and Internet sales as well as the Momentis network marketing 

unit are further diversifications of the Company's sales platform 

that should also contribute to growth. 

The year also saw improved operations and growth in the Home 

Services and Ethanol divisions. These product-line diversifications 

are now beginning to contribute to adjusted EBITDA as well 

as future growth. The upcoming year will see the addition of 

Hudson Solar, a solar project development platform, which has 

begun operations in New Jersey. Just Energy continues to monitor 

opportunities to enhance growth by adding related products to its 

offering to customers. 

Management has, in past years, provided guidance on 

growth expected for the upcoming fiscal year. For fiscal 2012, 

management expects growth of approximately 5% per share in 

gross margin and adjusted EBITDA. We believe this is a healthy 

growth rate in a low-inflation environment. Our more diversified 

product suite and geographic footprint give a solid base for 

continued growth in the future. 

I look forward to seeing as many of you as possible at our 

Annual Meeting on June 29, 2011. 

Yours truly, 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer 
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LEADER IN GREEN ENERGY 

Just Energy is among the largest and fastest-growing competitive green energy retailers in 

North America. Since 2007, we have invested $32 million on renewable energy projects and 

$14 million on carbon emission reduction projects. 

Our green customers have been responsible for offsetting 

443,000 metric tonnes of carbon emissions (equal to removing 

76,000 passenger vehicles from the road for an entire year) and 

injecting 1.95 million megawatt hours (MWh) of renewable power 

into electricity grids (enough to power 195,000 homes for a year). 

Our JustGreen electricity product gives customers the option 

to have all or a portion of their electricity derived from certified 

renewable sources such as hydro, wind, solar or biomass. With 

the JustGreen gas product, customers can purchase carbon offset 

credits from green sources such as methane capture projects. Just 

Energy's carbon offset products come from emission reduction 

projects in Canada and the United States that are third-party 

verified and meet the highest environmental standards. 

The Renewable Energy Credits are Green-e (U.S.)- and EcoLogo 

(Canada)-certified; and the carbon offset projects are Climate 

Action Reserve-, Voluntary Carbon Standard- or American Carbon 

Registry-certified in the U.S., and meet the ISO 14064 Standard 

in Canada. Our green purchases are reviewed annually by an 

independent, third-party accounting firm to verify that they match 

our green energy sales. 

JustGreen customers currently make up 10% of our residential 

electricity portfolio and 6% of the residential gas portfolio. However, 

the numbers are growing rapidly. In 2011, approximately 36% of all 

new residential customers selected JustGreen products for an average 

of 90% of their energy needs. As our existing customers renew, more 

and more of them are choosing to enhance their contracts with 

a JustGreen component. The inclusion of JustGreen enhances our 

renewal margins, building long-term value in our existing book. 
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One of our latest innovations is the JustClean program, which 

enables customers to manage their carbon footprint without 

buying any energy commodity products. JustClean products are 

essentially carbon offsets from Just Energy's carbon capture and 

reduction projects as well as renewable energy certificates from 

green power generators. 

We also own the Terra Grain Fuels facility in Saskatchewan, which 

produces.and sells ethanol, a clean-burning, renewable fuel made 

from wheat. Ethanol is primarily used as a gasoline fuel additive to 

reduce the emissions of greenhouse gases. 

JUSTGREEN 
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STRENGTH IN RESIDENTIAL 

Our Company was built on the strength of our core residential door-to-door business. 

Today, there are few retailers that can match Just Energy's geographic reach and sales force. 

Just Energy sells long-term, price-protected electricity and natural 

gas contracts to residential customers across Canada and in 13 

U.S. states. Consumers appreciate the peace of mind that comes 

with locking in their energy prices for up to five years - working 

much like a fixed-rate mortgage plan. 

The current stable low-price environment for our commodities 

allowed Just Energy to provide innovative alternatives to our core 

product. Our popular Blend and Extend option allows existing 

customers to blend their current contract rate with a new, lower 

rate and extend it out for a longer term to take advantage of 

temporary reductions in market price. In addition, we have 

developed variable rate and shorter-term alternatives to our 

standard.five-year offer. Like our JustGreen products, these new 

offerings target customers who would not otherwise sign or renew 

with Just Energy. The result is higher growth and renewal rates 

while maintaining, our profitability. 

We continue to drive growth in our Consumer Energy division 

through geographic expansion, product innovation and new sales 

and marketing channels. In fiscal 2011, consumer energy customers 

represented approximately 60% of Just Energy's customer base. 

Growth was strongest in the United States, where the vast majority 

of our record 428,000 residential customer additions were made. 

In addition to selling commodity energy, we have a fast-growing 
Home Services division in Ontario, which rents out high efficiency 
water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners. Our installed base 
of water heaters grew by 50% in fiscal 2011, reaching 115,200, 
along with 2,600 furnaces and 800 air conditioners installed, 
at year-end. We offer consumers free removal and return of 
existing units, a free lifetime service and maintenance program, 
and convenient billing on utility gas bills. The recent addition 
of furnaces and air conditioners enables us to provide a more 
complete offering with the opportunity for bundled savings. 
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We are confident that this relatively new division will contribute 

to our long-term profitability. We will continue to look to expand 

this business. 

The marketing of residential products is done primarily through 

door-to-door sales by independent contractors. More than 

1,000 people call on prospective customers on our behalf - 850 

selling natural gas and electricity, and 200 selling Home Services 

products. In addition, we added over 20,000 customers through 

recently added Internet-based channels and will continue to 

invest in this sales platform. 

In 2010, we launched a new network marketing channel called 

Momentis. Independent representatives earn a commission for 

signing up friends and family as natural gas or electricity customers 
and earn recurring monthly income for those customers who 

continue to use our products. 

CONSUMER 
CUSTOMER BASE 
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GROWTH IN COMMERCIAL 

Our commercial business has expanded to the point that it now makes up about 40% of 

our customer base and energy sales. We have grown to 1,330,000 customers from 773,000 

in fiscal 2011. 

Just Energy sells electricity and natural gas to mid-sized businesses 

and institutional users (such as hospitals and school boards). Larger 

customers include the New York City Housing Authority and the 

Air Canada Centre in Toronto, Ontario. 

Our customers are typically price sensitive and purchase their 

energy contracts through energy consultants and independent 

brokers. We offer them competitive pricing options, the potential 

for savings when market prices rise above their contracted price, 

and flexible terms so they can choose the short- or long-term 

contract that best meets their needs. 

Commercial customers also count on us for dependable energy 
supply. To enhance supply reliability, we spread our business 
across a variety of high-credit-quality commodity suppliers. For 
large commercial customers, we generally secure power supply 
concurrently with the execution of a contract. 

While commercial customers generate a lower upfront gross 
margin than residential customers, this is typically balanced out 
by significantly lower administration costs and less weather-
related volatility. Commercial customers tend to have combined 
attrition and failed-to-renew rates that are lower than those of 
residential customers. 
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Approximately 80% of our commercial business is now achieved 

through the broker sales channel, a new sales platform gained with 

our acquisition of Hudson Energy Services in May 2010. Operating 

in New York, New Jersey, Illinois and Texas, Hudson was a leader 

in small and mid-sized commercial clients. In addition to 660,000 

active customers, Hudson also gave us an industry-leading sales 

portal to sell more efficiently to commercial customers. 

We also rely on a specialized inside sales team and independent 

contractors selling directly to customers to drive commercial sales. 

COMMERCIAL 
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OFFICERS (from left lo rlglil); Darren I'rilchtitl, Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales; Dob Merril, Executive Vice President, Commertint Sales; 
Ken Hartwick, Chief Executive Officer and ('resident; Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair, James Lowis, Executive Vice /'resident and Chief Operating officer, 
Beth Summers, Chief Financial Officer; and Gord Poller, Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal, 

OFFICERS 

REBECCA MACDONALD 
Executive Chair 

Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of 

Just Energy and has-held the position of 

Chair of the Board since 2001 ("IPO") 

and Executive Chair since 2006. From 

Just Energy's IPO in 2001 to March 2005, 

Ms. MacDonald also held the position of 

Chief Executive Officer. 

KEN HARTWICK, C A . 
Chief Executive Offkerand President 

Ken Hartwick joined the Company in 

April 2004 as Chief Financial Officer, 

was promoted to President in 2006 and 

assumed the additional position of Chief 

Executive Officer in June 2008. Prior to this, 

Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer of 

Hydro One Inc. 

BETH SUMMERS, C A . 
Chief Financial Officer 

Beth Summers joined Just Energy in 

February 2009 as Chief Financial Officer. 

Prior to this, Ms. Summers was Executive 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

of Hydro One Inc. 

JAMES LEWIS 
Executive Vice President and 
Chief Operating Officer 

James Lewis was appointed to his current 

role in June 2011 and, prior to this, held 

the position of Senior Vice President and 

General Manager, Eastern U.S. Prior lo this, 

Mr. Lewis was Senior Vice President for 

North American Operations for Just Energy. 

DARREN. PR ITCHETT 
Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales 

Darren Pritchett joined Just Energy as 

Executive Vice President, Consumer Sales, 

in April 2008. Prior to this, Mr. Pritchett ran 

a successful direct marketing organization, 

contracted by Just Energy. 

GORD POTTER ' 
Executive Vice President, Regulatory and Legal 

Gord Potter joined the Company in 

June 2003 and currently holds the 

position of Executive Vice President, 

Regulatory and Legal. Prior to this, 

Mr. Potter held the positions of Director, 

Vice President and Senior Vice President 

within the Regulatory department from 

June 2003 to Apri l 2009. Before joining 

Just Energy, Mr. Potter was Director, 

Utility Relations, at Direct Energy 

Marketing Limited. 

DEB MERRIL 
Executive Vice President, Commercial Sales 

Deb Merril was appointed to her 

current role of Executive Vice President, 

Commercial Sales, in April 2010, and 

prior to this, held the position of Senior 

Vice President, Commercial Sales.and 

Marketing. Before.April 2010, Ms. Merril 

was Vice-President of Just Energy Texas LP. 
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OUTSIDE DIRECTORS 

SENATOR HUGH D. SEGAL 
Member of the Senate of Canada and 
Senior Fellow, School of Policy Studies, 
Queen's University 

The Honourable Hugh Segal was 

appointed to the Senate of Canada in 

August 2005 and is a Senior Research 

Fellow at McMillan LLP, a director of SNC 

Lavalin Inc. and Sun Life Financial Inc. and 

a member of the Atlantic Council. He serves 

as Lead Director and Vice Chair and has 

been a director of Just Energy since 2001. 

JOHN A. BRUSSA 
Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP 

John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgary-

based energy law firm of Burnet, 

Duckworth & Palmer, specializing in the 

areas of energy and taxation. Mr. Brussa 

has been a director of Just Energy since 

2001. He is also a director of a number of 

energy and energy-related corporations. 

AMBASSADOR GORDON D. GIFFIN 
Senior Partner, McKenna Long & Aldridge LLP 

The Honourable Gordon Giffin is a 

Senior Partner in the Washington, D.C. 

and Atlanta, Georgia-based law firm of 

McKenna Long & Aldridge. He has been 

a director of Just Energy since 2006. From 

1997 to April 2001, Mr. Giffin served as 

United States Ambassador to Canada. 

SENATOR MICHAEL J.L KIRBY 
Corporate Director 

The Honourable Michael Kirby is a corporate 

director and Chairman of The Mental Health 

Commission of Canada. Mr Kirby was a 

member of the Senate of Canada from 1984 

to 2006. From 1999 to 2006, Mr. Kirby was 

Chair of the Standing Committee on Social 

Affairs, Science and Technology. Mr. Kirby has 

been a director of Just Energy since 2001. 

THE HONOURABLE R. ROY MCMURTRY, Q.C. 
Counsel, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP 

The Honourable R. Roy McMurtry currently 

serves as counsel to the national law firm of 

Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP Mr. McMurtry 

has been a director of Just Energy since 

2007. From February 1996 until May 2007, 

Mr. McMurtry was the Chief Justice of Ontario. 

BRIAN R.D. SMITH 
Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and 
Energy Consultant 

Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty 

Negotiator and Energy Consultant 

associated with the law firm of Gowling 

Lafleur Henderson LLP. Prior to this, 

Mr. Smith was the Chair of British 

Columbia Hydro, a position he held from 

1996 to June 2001. Mr. Smith has been a 

director of Just Energy since 2001. 

B. BRUCE GIBSON 
Principal, Ryan Inc. 

Bruce Gibson was appointed a director 

of Just Energy effective January 1,2010. 

Mr. Gibson currently serves as a Principal 

of Ryan Inc. and Practice Leader for Ryan, 

Public Affairs. Previously, Mr. Gibson 

served as Chief of Staff of the Lieutenant 

Governor of Texas as well as Senior Vice 

President of Reliant Energy. He was also a 

member of Texas' House of Representatives 

(1981-1991). 
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MD&A AT-A-GLANCE 

This M D & A AI-a-Glance highlights some ot Itie rnosl significant inlornial.ion l ound in tho) 

rriL'tnayeinent's discussion and analysis, which follows on page 17. K: is not intended to provide 

a complete summary of Just Energy's strategies, business environment or performance. 

HIGHLIGHTS 

» Added a record 999,000 new customers, up 98% 

from 505,000 in fiscal 2010. 

» Net cuslomer additions through marketing were 

361,000, up 395% from 73,000 a year earlier. 

» Seasonally adjusted sales increased by 25% due 

to a 45% net increase in customers as a result of 

record new additions and the acquisition of 

Hudson Energy Services. 

» Approximately 36% ol all residential customers 

added in the year look JustGreen products for 

some or all of their energy needs, electing on 

average to purchase 90% of their consumption 

in green supply. 

» Grew the number of installed water heaters by 

50%, from 77,000 at year-end 2010 to 115,200 

year-end 2011. 

CUSTOMER AGGREGATION 

Long-term customers 

Failed March 31, % increase 
April 1, 2010 Additions Acquired Attrition lo renew (decrease) 

Natural gas 

Canada 734,000 53,000 - (73,000) (58,000) 656,000 (11)% 

United States 408,000 224,000 81,000 (123,000) (16,000) 574,000 4 1 % 

Total gas 1,142,000 277,000 81,000 (•196,000) (74,000) 1,230,000 7% 

Electricity 

Canada 760,000 106,000 (77,000) (53,000) 736,000 (3)% 

United States 391,000 616,000 579,000 (171,000) (67,000) 1,348,000 2 4 5 % 

Total electricity 1,151,000 722,000 579,000 (248,000) 0 20,000) 2,084,000 8 1 % 

Combined 2,293,000 999.000 660,000 (444,000) (194,000) 3,314,000 4 5 % 

Gross customer additions for the year were 999,000, up 98% from the 505,000 customers added through marketing during fiscal 2010. 

This was due to very strong additions in both the Consumer Energy division and the Commercial Energy division. Of the total, 571,000 

were commercial customers, showing the continued positive impact.of both the broker channel ancUust.Energy's internal efforts to 

expand its share of the commercial market. ' 1 1 „-

CUSTOMER MARGINS ' • ; 

Customers added through marketing were at or above the margins of customers lost thro ugh; attrition or.failure to renew. Renewing 
customers were at lower margins largely due to lesser'adoption df'justGreetfon renewal.- Howeveft JustGreen is beginning to be 
aggressively marketed for renewals, with the expectation tiiat.fates similarto'thosefor new customers can be achieved. For large 
commercial customers, the average gross margin for heW'customere'sdBed'Was;$88?'The aggregation'cost per commercial customer is 
commensurately lower than for a residential customer: v r'""-' : A ' ' : " • " ^ f - ' - ' . t t 

"-' .':.V-V'"^; ! ' : 
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SEASONALLY ADJUSTED 
GROSS MARGIN 
(millions) 

480.5 

230.4 

188.6 

"life. 

06 OS 

Annual gross margin per customer1 

Residential and small commercial customers added in the year 

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH AFTER 
GROSS MARGIN REPLACEMENT 
(millions) 

230.0 2 29.7 

130.0 
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w 
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& 
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Fiscal 2011 
Number of 
customers 

209 29,000 

Canada - electricity $ 161 49,000 

United States - qas $ 217 128,000 
United States - electricity $ 189 222,000 

Large "commercial customers added in the year 571,000 

'Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

ATTRITION AND RENEWAL RATES 

Attrition Renewals 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada 

United States 

10% 

23% 

10% 

17% 

65% 

73% 

61% 

66% 

Natural gas attrition in Canada was 10% 

for the year, in line with our target. In the 

U.S., gas attrition was 23%, below our 

annual target of 30%. This reflects a small 

continued'improvement in the U.S. due to 

new product offerings and greater economic 

stability within our customer base. 

The annual electricity attrition rate in 

Canada for the year was 10%, in line with 

our expectations. Electricity attrition in the 

U.S. was 17%, below our 20% target. 

RENEWAL RATES 

Canadian renewal rates were 65% for gas 

and 61 % for electricity customers. Canadian 

markets lagged the 2011 target of 70%, 

largely due to the current high spread between 

the Just Energy five-year price and the utility 

spot-prices. Gas renewals for the U.S. were 

73% and electricity renewals were 66%, 

below our target of 75%. We are rolling 

out our JustGreen products within our U.S. 

renewal process and expect this to have a 

positive effect on renewal rates. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS ("MD&A") - MAY 19, 2011 

OVERVIEW 

The following discussion and analysis is a review of the financial condition and results of operations of Just Energy Group Inc. ("JEGI" or 

"Just Energy" or "the Company") (formerly Just Energy Income Fund, the "Fund") for the year ended March 31, 2011, and has been 

prepared with all information available up to and including May 19, 2011. This analysis should be read in conjunction with the audited 

consolidated financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2011. The financial information contained herein has been prepared in 

accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP"). All dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars. 

Quarterly reports, the annual report and supplementary information can be found on our corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com. 

Additional information can be found on 5EDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Effective January 1, 2011, Just Energy completed the conversion from an income trust, Just Energy Income Fund, to a corporation^ 

Just Energy Group Inc. (the "Conversion"). As part of the Conversion, Just Energy Exchange Corp. ("JEEC") was amalgamated with JEGI 

and, like the unitholders of the Fund, the holders of JEEC's Exchangeable Shares received common shares of JEGI on a one for one basis. 

JEGI also assumes all of the obligations under the $90m convertible debentures and $330m convertible debentures.. 

Just Energy is a corporation established under the laws of Canada to hold securities and to distribute the income of its directly or indirectly 

owned operating subsidiaries and affiliates: Just Energy Ontario LP., Just Energy Manitoba LP., Just Energy Quebec LP., Just Energy (B.C.) 

Limited Partnership, Just Energy Alberta L.P., Alberta Energy Savings L.P. ("AESLP")- Just Energy Illinois Corp., Just Energy New York Corp., 

Just Energy Indiana Corp., Just Energy Texas L.R, Just Energy Massachusetts Corp., Just Energy Michigan Corp., Just Energy Pennsylvania 

Corp., Universal Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy Inc. {"Commerce" or "CEI"), National Energy Corp. (which operates under the 

trade name of National Home Services {"NHS")), Hudson Energy Services, LLC and Hudson Energy Canada Corp..("Hudson " or "HES"), 

Momentis Canada Corp. and Momentis U.S. Corp. (collectively, "Momentis"), Terra Grain Fuels, Inc. ("TGF"), and Hudson Energy Solar Corp. 

Just Energy's business primarily involves the sale of natural gas and/or electricity to residential and commercial customers under long-term 

fixed-price, price-protected or variable-price contracts and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or electricity under its 

fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five yeacs, Just Energy's customers offset their exposure to changes in 

the price of th^se essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives its margin or gross profit from the 

difference betw/een the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its customers and the price at which it purchases the associated 

volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also offers green products through Its JustGreen program. The electricity JustGreen product offers 

the customer the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced from renewable green sources such as wind, solar, run of the 

river hydro or biomass. The gas JustGreen product offers carbon offset credits, which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the 

carbon footprint of their home or business. Management believes that the JustGreen products will not only add to profits but also increase 

sales receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

In addition, through NHS, Just Energy sells and rents high efficiency and tankless water heaters and other heating, ventilating and air 

conditioning ("HVAC") products. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates a wheat-based ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. 

Just Energy indirectly acquired Hudson, effective May 1, 2010, a marketer of natural gas and elertricity that primarily sells to 

commercial customers. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This MD&A contains certain fonward-looking information pertaining to customer additions and renewals, customer consumption levels, 

distributable cash, EBITDA and treatment under governmental regulatory regimes. These statements are based on current expectations that 

involve a number of risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to differ from those anticipated. These risks include, but are 

not limited to, levels of customer natural gas and electricity consumption, extreme weather conditions, rates of customer additions and 

renewals, customer attrition, fluctuations in natural gas and electricity prices, changes in regulatory regimes, decisions by regulatory 

authorities and competition, and dependence on certain suppliers. Additional information on these and other factors that could affect 

Just Energy's Operations, financial results or distribution levels are included in the Annual Information Form and other reports on file with 

Canadian security regulatory authorities, which can be accessed on our corporate website at www.justenergygroup.com or through the 

SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. 

I 
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" R C E " moans ic^idonlial tLislonmr oqiiiv.'ikinl or Ihu "cuslomer", whicli is a imil of measiireiiieiil etiuivalenl lo a cuslomer using, as 

regards ncilural gas, 2,811) i n ' (or U)G GJs or 1,000 Tlienn:; or 1,025 CCFs) of nalural gas on an annual basis and, as regards eleclridly, 
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used by a lypiairhouschbkl in Onlario. 

"Large commercial cuslomer" ine.-ins cuslorners ropiescnlmg more than 15 KCEs. 

N o n - G A A P f inancial measures 

Jusl Energy converted from an income trust to a corporation on January 1, 2011. Under the income trust structure, management believed 

thai distributable cash was the besl basis for analyzing the results. Under the corporate structure, management believes that Adjusted 

EBITDA will be the best basis for analyzing the financial results of Just Energy. 

All non-GAAP financial measures do not have standardized meanings prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to 

similar measures presented by other issuers. 

Seasonally adjusted sales and seasonally adjusted gross marg in 

As Just Energy was an income trust up until December 31, 2010, management believed that the best basis for analyzing the financial results 

under such structure and the amount available for distribution was to focus on amounts.actually received ("seasonally adjusted") because 

this figure provides the margin earned on all deliveries to the utilities. Seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin are not defined 

performance measures under Canadian GAAP. Seasonally adjusted analysis applies solely to the gas markets and specifically t o Ontario, 

Quebec, Manitoba and Michigan. 

No seasonal adjustment is required for electricity as the supply is balanced daily. In the other gas markets, payments for supply by the LDCs 

are aligned with customer consumption. 

Cash Ava i lab le for Distr ibut ion 

"Distributable cash after marketing expense" refers to the net Cash Available for Distribution to unitholders under the income trust, 

structure. Seasonally adjusted gross margin is the principal contributor to Cash Available for Distribution. Distributable cash is calculated by 

Just Energy as seasonally adjusted.gross margin, adjusted for cash items including general and administrative expenses, marketing 1 expenses, 

bad debt expense, interest expense, corporate taxes, capital taxes and other items. This non-GAAP measure may not have been comparable 

to other income funds. 

"Distributable cash after gross margin replacement" represents the net Cash Available for Distribution to unitholders as'defined above. 

However, only the marketing expenses associated with maintaining gross margin at a stable level, equal to that in place at .the beginning o f ; 

the period, are deducted. Management believes that this is more representative of the ongoing operatihg performance of Just Energy 

because it includes all expenditures necessary for the retention of existing customers and the addition of new-margin to replace:those 

customers that have not been renewed. This non-GAAP measure may not have been comparable to other income funds. 

For reconciliation to cash from operating activities please refer to the "Cash Available for Distribution and distributions/dividends" analysis 

on page 24. 

EBITDA 

"EBITDA" represents earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.. This is a "non-GAAP measure which'reflects the pre-tax 

profitability of the business. . , 

i . ,:' 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Adjusted EBITDA 

"Adjusted EBITDA" represents.EBITDA adjusted to exclude the impact of mark to market gains (losses) arising from Canadian GAAP 

requirements for derivative financial instruments on future supply positions. In addition, the Adjusted EBITDA calculation deducts marketing 

costs sufficient to maintain existing levels of gross margin and maintenance capital expenditures necessary to sustain existing operations. 

This adjustment results in the exclusion of the marketing that Just Energy carried out and the capital expenditures that it had made to add 

to its future productive capacity. Management believes this is a useful measure of operating performance for investors. 

Just Energy ensures that customer margins are protected by entering into fixed-price supply contracts. Under Canadian GAAP, the customer 

margins are not marked to market but there is a requirement to mark to market the future supply contracts. This creates unrealized gains 

(losses) depending LJpon current supply pricing volatility. Management believes that these short-term mark to market non-cash gains (losses) 

do.not impact the long-term financial performance of Just Energy and have therefore excluded it from the Adjusted EBITDA calculation. 

Embedded gross margin 

Embedded gross margin is a rolling five-year measure of management's estimate of future contracted gross margin. It is the difference 

between existing customer contract prices and the cost of supply for the remainder of term, with appropriate assumptions for customer 

attrition and renewals. It is assumed that expiring-contracts will be renewed at target margin and renewal rates. 

FINANGAl. HIGHLIGHTS 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated and per unit/share amounts) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2009 

$ Per share 

Per 
unit/share 

change $ Per unit 
Per unit 
change $ Per unit 

2,953,192 $ 21.38 20% 2,299,231 $ 17.77 4 % 1,899,213 $ 17.03 

515,347 3.73 108% 231,496 1.79 NMF 5 (1,107,473) (10.03) 

480,478 3.48 6% 425,882 3.29 16% 315,193 2.83 

267,186 1.93 6% 236,304 1.83 0)% 204,636 1.84 

229,660 1.66 (6)% 230,000 1.78 2 % 195,520 1.75 

193,232 1.40 (8)% 197,033 1.52 0% 169,353 1.52 

170,004 1.24 (14)% 187,418 1.45 4 % 156,604 1.40 

170,004 1.24 0 % 160,722 1.24 0% 138,030 1.24 

109,407 0.79 16% 88,423 0.68 2 8 % 59,586 0.53 

74% 8 1 % 8 0 % 

8 8 % 9 5 % 9 2 % 

74%. 7 0 % 7 1 % 

8 8 % 8 2 % 8 2 % 

Sales 

Net income (loss)' 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted)2 

Adjusted EBITDA2 ' 

Distributable cash 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributions (including Special Distribution3) 

Distributions (excluding Special Distribution) 

General and administrative 

Distributable cash payout ratio 

(including Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Distributable cash payout ratio4 

(excluding Special Distribution) 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

1 Net income includes the impact of unrealized gains (losses), which represent the mark to market of future commodity supply acquired to cover future customer 
demand. The supply has been sold to customers at fixed prices, minimizing any realizable impact of mark to market gains and losses. 

3 See the discussion of non-GAAP financial measures on page 18. 
3 No Special Distribution was paid in fiscal 2011. Fiscal 2010 and 2009 include a one-time Special Distribution of $26.7 million and $18.6 million, respectively. 
a Management targets an annual payout ratio after all marketing expenses, excluding any Special Distribution, of less than 100%. 
5 Not a meaningful figure. 

JUST ENERGY » ANNUAL REPORT 2011 19 



MAIIA''i1 M l H I " . I 'I'.' Mi HI Al II i AIIAI V. I ' , 

ACOUiSITION OI : H U D S O N l-NEKGY S I I K V O S , I.I.C 

In May /'OKI, lit:,I rni'itjy i i i i i i |)l i ' lr:l l ln; au|Hi;.ilini m l ,i|| < i| l ln: I.-I |Uily itili:i';;.l:-' il I Ii i<l;.(>it I'.ttcnl I Ii ildiinj:., I.I C, and . i l lu l 11 ic (i UMIIIUI I 

•ihan::. ul l'lii(l:.t)ii Knutgy ihi.'icby iinliii'i.lly .'iniuiiiiiij I IUIIMJII, wilh an cllt'Oivi: ilali; n[ May I, 

I III'; piih liaM.' piicN lo liii' 

ul ftollat:;): 

(107, HIV) 

200,(i!'.;! 

2G,22'> 

M.AOU 

11,200 

I'/.'V.'.A 

20,288 

33,571 

2,559 

15,092 

1,312 

3,544 

121 

100 

(74,683) 

(10,719) 

lln; aujiiii.iiiun nl riniliion war; accounicd li.u uiiing lln: |i[ii(;ha:,'.' iiuHliod ol arcniinliiui. llu.' ('ompany allixviici 

idi'hlil it'll I:, ai id liahililii::, ai.!|uiic'(l haM.-il on llicii lait vahic:; a I I lie liuu.' ol at T;iii:,ilioii ;v:. lollow:; {llioi/sand:, 

NcL fi:.M:ls acriuircd: 

Gineiil ai.i.i;!:. (iiK.liiiliiiij,i:.'n.li nl !|,21,()0!i) 

Ciineiil liahililit:;; 

lili.'Cljifily cnnliatls and ciii.lomcr tclaiionships 

Gas conlr.icls ai id niMoiiKjr iclalionsliiii:; 

Hidki.T nelwoik 

Hiand 
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Conliacl iiiillalion cosls 

Olhcr inlainjihle assets 

Goodwill 

l'ro|)eily, plant and ef|iii|)ineiil 

Unbilled revenue 

Notes receivable - lonci-tenn 

Security deposits - long-term 

Other assets - current 

Oilier assets - long-term 

Other liabilities - current 

Other liabilities - long-term 

$ 289,047 

Consideration: 

Purchase price 

Transaction costs 
$ 287,790 

1,257 

$ 289,047 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas and 

electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 30 months and 35 months, respectively. Other intangible assets, 

excluding brand, are amortized over periods of three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite and, therefore, not subject 

to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and, as a result, may be adjusted during the 12-month period 

following the acquisition. 

ACQUISITION OF UNIVERSAL ENERGY GROUP LTD. i 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Limited 

("Universal") pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Under the Arrangement, the Universal shareholders received 0.58 of 

an exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of Just Energy Exchange Corp ("JEEC"), a former subsidiary of Just Energy, for each Universal 

common share held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangements Each.Exchangeable Share 

was exchangeable for a unit of the Just Energy Income Fund on a one for one basis at any time-at the;option of the holder, and entitles the 

holder to a monthly dividend equal to 66 2 /3% of the monthly distribution and/or Special Distribution paid by'Jusf Energy on a unit of the 

Fund. Just Energy also.assumed all the covenants and obligations of Universal in:respect of Universal's outstanding $90m convertible 

debentures. On conversioniof the $90m convertibleidebentures,'holders will be entitled to receive.0.58'of an Exchangeable Share/share of 

JEGI in lieu of each Universal common share that the holder was previously.entitled to receive on conversion. 

On January 1, 2011, in conjunction with the Conversion, all-exchangeable shares of JEEC were exchanged for JEG common shares on a 

one for one basis. JEGI also assumed all of the covenants and obligations under the outstanding $90m'convertible/debentures. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The acquisition of Universal was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price to'the 

identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows (thousands of dollars): 

Net assets acquired: 

Working capital (including cash of $10,319) $ 63,614 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 229,586 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 243,346 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 22,700 

Other intangible assets - 2,721 

Goodwill 77,494 
Property, plant and equipment 171,693 

Future tax liabilities (50,475) 

Other liabilities - current (164,148) 

Other liabilities - long-term (140,857) 

Long-term debt (183,079) 

Non-controlling interest (22,697) 

$ 249,898 

Consideration: 

Transaaion costs $ 9,952 

Exchangeable Shares 239,946 

$ 249,898 

All contracts, customer relationships.and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. The gas 

and electricity contracts acquired, including customer relationships, are amortized over periods ranging from 8 to 57 months. The water 

heater contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 174 months and the other intangible assets are amortized over six months. 

The non-controlling interest represents 33.3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation at the time of acquisition, which was 

subsequently and separately acquired. The purchase price for this acquisition is final and no longer subject to change. 

OPERATIONS 

Natural gas 

Just Energy offers natural gas customers a variety of products ranging from five-year fixed-price contracts to month-to-month variable-price 

offerings. For fixed-price contracts, Just Energy purchases gas supply through physical or financial transactions with market counterparts in 

advance of marketing, based on forecast customer aggregation for residential and small commercial customers. For larger commercial 

customers, gas supply is generally purchased concurrently with the execution of a contract. The LDC provides historical customer usage 

which, when normalized to average weather, enables Just Energy to purchase the expected normal customer load. Furthermore, Just Energy 

mitigates exposure to weather variations through active management of the gas portfolio, which involves, but is not limited to, the purchase 

of options including weather derivatives. Our ability to mitigate weather effects is limited by the severity of weather from normal. To the 

extent that balancing requirements are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears the financial responsibility for fluctuations in 

customer usage. Volume variances may result in either excess or short supply. In the case of under consumption by the customer, excess 

supply is sold in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. Further, customer margin 

is lowered proportionately to the decrease in consumption. In the case of greater than expected gas consumption, Just Energy must purchase 

the short supply in the spot market resulting in either a gain or loss compared to the weighted average cost of supply. Consequently, 

customer margin increases proportionately to the increase in consumption. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through 

active management or the options employed, Just Energy's customer gross margin may be reduced or increased depending upon market 

conditions at the time of balancing. Under some commercial contract terms, this balancing may be passed onto the customer. 

Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan 

In Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia and Michigan, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year. 

Just Energy does not recognize sales until the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at a rate 

that is greater than delivery and, in the summer months, deliveries to LDCs exceed customer consumption. Just Energy receives cash from 

the LDCs as the gas is delivered, which is.even throughout the year. 

Manitoba and Alberta 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered is based on the estimated consumption for each month. Therefore, the amount of 

gas delivered in winter months is higher than in the spring and summer months. Consequently, cash received from customers and LDCs will 
be higher in the winter months. 
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ihe cuslomer, Our ability to miiigale weather offecis is limited by ihe severity of weather from normal. To the extent lhat balancing 

rcquiremenls are outside the forecast purchase, Just Energy bears Ihe financial responsibility for excess or short supply caused by 

fluctualioris in customer usage. In the case of under consumption by the cuslomer, excess supply is sold in Hie spot markel resulling in 

eilher a gain or loss in relation lo the original cost of supply. Further, customer margin is lowered propoi lionately to the decrease in 

consumplion. In the case of greater than expected power consumption, Just Energy must purchase the shorl supply in the spot market 

resulting in either a gain or loss in relation to the fixed cost of supply. Customer margin increases,proportionalely to the increase in 

consumption. To the extent that supply balancing is not fully covered through customer pass-throughs, active management or the options 

employed, Just Energy's customer gross margin may be impacted depending upon market conditions at the lime of balancing. 

JustGreen 

Customers have the ability to choose an appropriate JustGreen program to supplement their electricity and natural gas contracts, providing 

an effective method to offset their carbon footprint associated with the respective commodity consumption. 

JustGreen programs for electricity cuslomers involve the purchase of power from green generators (such as wind, solar, run of the river 

hydro or biomass) via power purchase agreements of renewable energy certificates. JustGreen programs for gas customers involve the 

purchase of carbon offsets from green sources such as methane capture. 

JustClean 

In addition to its traditional commodity marketing business, Just Energy allows customers to effectively manage their carbon footprint . 

without buying energy commodity products by signing a JustClean contract. The JustClean products are essentially carbon offsets from 

carbon capture and reduction projects as well as green power renewable energy certificates from green generators. This product can be 

offered in all states and provinces and ismot dependent on energy deregulation. 

B lend and Extend program 

As part of Just Energy's retention efforts, electricity and natural gas customers may be contacted for early' renewal of their contracts under a 

Blend and Extend offer. These customers are offered a lower rate, compared to their current contracted rate, but the term of their contract 

is extended up to five more years. Consequently, Just Energy may experience a reduction In margins lathe short term.but will gain 

additional future margins. 

Consumer (Residential) Energy division i ,. . . . 

The sale of gas and electricity to customers of 15 RCEs and less js undertaken by the Consumer Energy division. The marketing of this 

division is primarily done door-to-door through 850 independent contractors,,the Momentis network marketing.qpe^atjpri and Internet-

based telemarketing efforts. Total independent contractors.declined'during the quarter as a result of a continued effqrftp.ensure resources 

are focused on those markets that provide the best long-term return sucfias NHS yyater Heater^entals^ ^ r a l l ^ ^ a k e r ^ e s i d e n t i a l sales in 

these markets were more than offset by strong sales in other markets as'well as sales frdm.the Commercial Energy division. Approximately 

6 0 % of Just Energy's customers and energy revenues are generated by the Consumer Energy division, which is currehtly;focused on longer-

term price-protected offerings of both JustGreen.and com modityi products: To-the extent-.that. certain markets a'reibettef served'by 

shorter-term or enhanced variable rate prdducts,;the Consumer EnergyihdepenclentiContractdrsialsp,offer,these products; 

. . V* .^.*v 
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MANAGEMENFS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Commercial Energy division 

Customers with annual consumption over 15 RCEs are served by the Commercial Energy division. These sales are made through three main 

channels: door-to-door commercial independent contractors; inside commercial sales representatives, established by Just Energy in its recent 

expansion into this channel; and sales through the broker channel using the commercial platform acquired with the Hudson purchase. 

Commercial customers make up about 40% of Just Energy's customer base and energy sales. Products offered to commercial customers 

can range from standard fixed offerings to "one off" offerings, which are tailored to meet the customer's specific needs. These-products 

$ •' • can be either fixed or floating rate or a blend of the two, and normally have terms of less than five years. Margin per RCE for this division is 

lower than residential margins but customer aggregation cost and ongoing customer care costs are tower as well on a per RCE basis. 

Commercial customers tend to have combined attrition and failed-to-renew rates which are lower than those of residential customers. 

Home services division 

NHS began operations in April 2008 and provides Ontario residential customers with a long-term water heater rental, offering high 

efficiency conventional and power vented tanks and tankless water heaters. In fiscal 2010, NHS began offering the rental of HVAC products 

f to Ontario residents. NHS markets through approximately 210 independent contractors in Ontario. See page 33 for additional information. 

Ethanol division 

•, ' Just Energy owns and operates TGF, a 150-million-litre capacity wheat-based ethanol plant located in Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan. The plant 
1 produces wheat-based ethanol and high protein distillers' dried grain {"DDG"). On January 4, 2011, Just Energy acquired the 33.3% interest 

in TGF that was previously owned by EllisDon Design Build Inc. ("EllisDon") pursuant to a put option exercised by EllisDon. See page 34 for 

- additional information on TGF. 
'i 

•; I RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME (LOSS) TO ADJUSTED EBITDA 

': ' (thousands of dollars) 

i 1 \ 

'• 'V 

' • Net income (loss) 

V . " ' Add: 

Interest 

| N Tax expense (recovery) 

Capital tax 

Amortization 

EBITDA 

Add (subtract): 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Marketing expenses to add gross margin 

Maintenance capital expenditures 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted fully diluted average number 

of units/shares outstanding 

Fiscal 2011 Per share Fiscal 2010 Per unit Fiscal 2009 Per unit 

$ 515,347 ( 3.73 $ 231,496 $ 1.79 $(1,107,473) $ (9.93) 

50,437 

32,142 

188 

150,863 

16,134 

(100,260) 

522 

70,826 

3,857 

(57,460) 

220 

8,694 

S 748,977 J 5.42 $ 218,718 $ 1.69 $(1,152,162) $ (10.33) 

(509,401) 

36,428 -

(8,818) 

1,282 

32,967 

(16,663) 

1,336,976 

26,167 

(6,345) 

$ 267,186 E 1.93 $ 236,304 $ 1.83 $ 204,636 $ 1.84 

138.1m 129.4m 111.5m 

Adjusted EBITDA differs from E0ITDA in that the impact of the mark to market gains (losses) from the financial instruments and the 

marketing expenses used for increasing gross margin are removed along with maintenance capital expenditures being deducted. With the 

conversion from an income trust to a corporation effective January 1, 2011, management believes that Adjusted EBITDA is the best 

measure of operating performance. 

Adjusted EBITDA amounted to $267.2 million ($1.93 per share) in fiscal 2011, an increase of 6% per share per unit from $236.3 million 

($1.83 per unit) in fiscal 2010. This increase is attributable to higher gross margin resulting from the 20% increase in per unit sales as a 

/•'ftV result of the expanded customer base year over year. This increase is offset by a decline in margin percentage due to the residual impact of 

a record warm winter in fiscal 2010, which had an aggregate negative impact on margins of $35 million in the first and second quarters as 

j h,'.,t' well as 7% decrease in U.S. annual exchange rates year over year. As well, the more rapid growth of the lower margin Commercial Energy 

^ ' , division compared to the Consumer Energy division reduced margin percentage. Higher general and administrative, bad debt and marketing 

•;. vl.
, expenses to service the growing customer base also reduced growth in adjusted EBITDA. 

V'.' 
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CASH AVAN.Alll.i; l:OI< DISTKHiUTION AND DIST.ItlllUTIONS/DIVIDtNDS 

I'm l l u ' J'I.VI/;, i .-mlixl M. ' in.h .'> / 

(lli'>u::ni)il:: nl thiiniil, i.-xiriil / «;(' tihUhiluun ;tin<>tii)t:>) 

l;hcal ?0n I'CJ sli;in: I'l'l U l l i l 

Rucciiicilialion If) vlaiomcnls ol ca:.!) How 

Ca:;li Inllow fiotn njieMlinn:, 

Adil: 

liicioanj In iion-G'i:ili woi kinrj ra|)ilal 

Oil KM' 

Tax ailjuMinenls 

Cash avtilloblc for distribution 

153,360 

38,213 

354 

1,305 

1. VMW/H 

3,237 

172,70'/ 

(o.un) 

2,707 

$ 193,232 $ 197,033 109,353 

Cash available for distribution 

Gross margin per linahdal slalements 

Adjuslmerits.required lo relied nel cash 

receipts from qas sales 

Seasonally adjusled gross marrjin 

Less: 

General and adminislralive 

Capital tax expense 

Bad debt expense 

Income tax expense 

Interest expense 

Other items 

482,203 $ 3.49 1 415,333 J 

(1,725) 10,519 

3.21 % 322,810 

(7,023) 

480,478 3.48 % 425,882 $ 3.29 1 315,193 J 

(109,407) 

(188) 

(27,650) 

(8,183) 

(50,437) 

29,797 

(88,123) 

(522) 

(17,940) 

(18,517) 

(16,134) 

8,147 

(59,586) 

(220) 

(13,887) 

(3,861) 

(3,857) 

3,661' 

2.00 

2:83 

(166,068) (133,089) (77,747) 

Distributable cash before marketing expenses : 

Marketing expenses to maintain gross margin 

314,410 $ 

(84,750) 

2.28 $ 292,793 % 

(62,793) 

2.27 $ 237,446 $ 

(41,926) 

2.13 

Distributable cash after gross 

margin replacement ! 

Marketing expenses to add new gross margin 
229,660 $ 

(36,428) 

1.66 $ 230,000 $ 

(32,967) 

1.78 $ 195,520 $ 

(26,167) 

1.75 

Cash available for distribution ! 193,232 $ 1.40 $ 197,033 $ 1.52 $ 169,353 $ 1.52 

Cash distributions/dividends 

(includes Special Distribution) 

Distributions and dividends 3 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights/restricted share grants 

and deferred unit/share grants distributions . 

161,585 

4,896 

3,523 

% 175,517 

• 7,580 

2,108 

$ 146,731 

8,460 

1,503 

Total distributions/dividends i 170;004 $ 1.24 $ 185,205 $ 1.43 • $ 156,694 $ 1.40 

Cash distributions/dividends 

(excludes Special Distribution) 

Distributions and dividends S 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights/restricted share grants 

and deferred unit/share grants distributions 

161,585 

4,896 

3; 523 ' 

$ 150,-170 • 

6;527 ' 

- •' ' l iS . l iC ' " - "^ ' 

; • ̂  
.. '..M'. •• • ? 
t-' • '». 

i i j l . l . • ' . 

129:205 

•' ' 7;592 • 
! 

' ' i;324\ 

Total distributions/dividends $ .170,004 . $ ? 1 - 2 ^ $ .15_8,509 ^'S,! 4 ' ''138,121^' $ 1.24 

24 

Adjusted fully diluted average number of 

units/shares outstanding 111.5m 



MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

DISTRIBUTABLE CASH 

In fiscal 2011, there was significant expansion of the Just Energy customer base. Much of this expansion took place through i) the 

acquisition of Hudson in the first quarter̂  which diversified Just Energy's product line to include specialized offerings for commercial 

customers and the subsequent expansion of the commercial broker network to seven states and two new provinces; ii) the launch of the 

Momentis network marketing division in Ontario, New York, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio and California; and iii) new residential launches in 

Massachusetts (May), two new utility territories .in New York (September) and Pennsylvania (March). In addition, NHS committed 

expenditures to facilitate its expansion into the Union Gas territory in Ontario and its rollout of HVAC offerings. 

The result of this expansion was.record customer additions of 999,000 through marketing for the year, up 98% from 505,000 in fiscal 

2010. Net-additions through marketing were 361,000, up 395% from 73,000 in fiscal 2010. Including the customers acquired with 

Hudson, net customer additions were 1,021,000, resulting in a 45% increase in customers year over year, Sales increased 20% and 

seasonally adjusted gross margins were up 6% per unit/share year over year. The increase in gross margin was lower than the increase in 

sales due to impact from Blend and Extend (postponing margins to future.periods), a $35 million decline in margin due to reduced 

customer consumption and balancing related to the warmer weather from last winter and lower customer margin realized on the faster-

growing base of commercial customers. 

Distributable cash after gross margin replacement for the year ended March 31, 2011, was $229.7 million ($1.66 per share), effectively 

unchanged from $230.0 million ($1.78 per unit) in fiscal 2010. The higher gross margin was offset by increased interest.expenses, general 

and administrative costs and bad debt expenses. Interest costs relate primarily to the $330m and $90m convertible debentures related to 

the Hudson and Universal acquisitions, funding for water heater and HVAC purchases, and the debt associated with TGF. Bad debt expense 

increased by 54% in fiscal 2011 compared.to 2010, due to the 59% increase in sales in those markets where Just Energy bears the credit 

risk. Overall, bad debt percentage of relevant sales was 2.7% for the year, within the target range of 2% to 3%. 

Just Energy spent $84.8 million in marketing expenses for the year, resulting in the addition and renewal of customers sufficient to maintain 

its current level of gross margin. This represents 70% of the total marketing.expense, excluding the amortization of contract initiation costs. 

A further $36.4 million was spent to increase future gross margin within the 999,000 new customers added and 263,000 customers 

renewed in the year. General and administrative costs increased by 16% per share year over year, reflecting continued geographic and 

product expansion as well as the larger customer base. 

Management's estimate of the future embedded gross margin is as follows; 

(millions of dollars) 
Mar 11 vs. Mar 10 vs. 

As at Mar 31, As at Mar 31, MarlO As at Mar 31, Mar 09 
2011 2010 Variance 2009 Variance 

Canada (CAD$) $ 632.6 $ 783.1 (19)% $ 697.1 12% 

United States (US$) 835.6 414.6 102% 278.5 4 9 % 

Total (CAD$) $ 1,442.8 $ 1,204.3 2 0 % $ 1,020.3 18% 

Management's estimate of the future contracted gross margin increased to $1,442.8 million from $1,204.3 million at the end of fiscal 

2010. The substantial net increase in future margins was seen from the expanded customer base, however the financial statement impact 

of this growth in customers was offset by the 5% decline in U.S. exchange rates year over year. There was a decline in embedded margins 

at year-end in comparison to that reported at the end of the third quarter. The decline was largely due to the decline in the U.S. dollar 

versus the Canadian dollar in the quarter. The embedded margins in Canada declined year over year due to a challenging price environment 

for renewals and new customer additions. This was more than offset by the strong growth in the U.S. 

Distributable cash.after all marketing expenses was $ 193.2 million ($ 1.40 per share) for fiscal 2011, a per share/unit decrease of 8% from 

$197.0 million ($1.52 per unit) in the prior comparable year. The 13% increase in seasonally adjusted grass margin was dampened by a 

$35 million impact in the first and second quarters from the prior year record warm winter, the higher interest, general and administrative, 

and bad debt expenses noted above as well as higher marketing costs to maintain gross margin. The payout ratio after gross margin 

replacement was 74% versus 70% in fiscal 2010 (excluding Special Distribution) and payout after deduction of all marketing expenses for 

the current year was 88% versus 82%. 

For further information on the changes in the gross margin, please refer to "Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted" on page 29 and 

"General and administrative expenses", "Marketing expenses", "Bad debt expense" and "Interest expense", which are further clarified on 

pages 35 to 37. 
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SliUiCTi;).) CONSOIJUAIm B N A N C J A I . DATA 

(thmiunnii:: nl 11<ill.it:: i>xi (.'/.i/ wlxru: imliciti.il •,iiul/i'.7 ii!iit/:,li.ii<.- niinituit;;) 

lln; cuni.olifl.'ilr.'il linancial lilaicun.'iil:. nl In:,I I-nciiiy an,1 pn'iiaii.'il in aiam 

ilollai;,. I In: lolliiwini j l.'il iii; ptovidt.1:; SCIITIIMI linai u ial inlnnn/ilinn tm I hi; 

Stalcninnls of optjralions ilala 

far the y<.'>tt:; cndod M^idt '.il 

Sains (seai.oiiaily arljnsled) 

Grow; inanjiii (seasonally adjuskiil) 

Nr:l inconiL' (loss) 

Nel income (loss) per unil/shaie - basic 

Nel income (lo:.:,} per unil/sliare - diluleil 

Balance sheet data 

As nl M.-udi 31 

Total asscls 

Long-term liabililics 

i ( jAA l 1 anil an. e>;|>ie;;:.ed in O i lailian 

2011 2010 2110:) 

$ 2,938,688 

180,478 

515,347 

3.81 

3.73 

$ 2,344,172 

12i'>,8U2 

231,496 

1,81 

1.79 

$ 1,8(18,733 

3i;»,1U3 

(), 107,173) 

(10.03) 

(10,03) 

2011 2010 200?) 

$ 1,588,641 

867,151 

% 1,310,827 

824,393 

$ 535,755 

180,602 

2011 compared with 2010 

Seasonally adjusted sales increased by 25% in fiscal 2011 due to a 45% net increase in customers as a result of record new additions and 

the acquisition of Hudson..Effective May 1, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of 660,000 largely commercial Hudson customers 

and issued $330 million of convertible'debontures In order to finance the acquisition. For further information on the acquisition, see 

page 20. Commercial customers now make up 40% of the Just Energy cuslomer base, and while (here are lower margins associated with 

these customers, the associated expenses to acquire and maintain are lower on a per RCE basis. Seasonally adjusted gross margin increased 

to $480.5 million or 13% over fiscal 2010. 

Net income increased by 123% from $231.5 million ($1.79 per unit) in fiscal 2010 to $515.3 million ($3.73 per share) in .fiscal 2011. The 
change in net income relates primarily to the change in fair value of the derivative instruments, which showed a gain in fiscal 2011 of 
$509.4 million versus a loss of $ 1.3 million in the prior comparable year as well as strong operating results for the year. Offsetting this 
increase is the income tax provision of $32.1 million for the current fiscal year, versus an income tax recovery of $100,3 million in the prior 
fiscal year. • 

Total assets increased by 21 % to $1.6 billion in fiscal 2011. The largest components of this change relate to the property, plant and 

equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and contract initiation costs recorded as part of the Hudson acquisition. 

Total long-term liabilities of $867.2 million represent a 5% increase over the prior fiscal year.,Just Energy funded the Hudson, acquisition by 

issuing $330 million in convertible debentures, which as at March 31, 2011, were valued at $286.4 million in long-term debt. Other long-

term liabilities have also decreased in fiscal 2011 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of future supply positions. 

2010 compared with 2009 

Sales increased by 24% in fiscal 2010 due to a 28% net increase in customers as a result of record new additions and the acquisition of 

Universal. On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of 430,000 Universal customers in consideration for Exchangeable Shares 

valued at $239.9 million. For further information on the acquisition, see page 20 ; Seasonally adjusted gross'margin increased to 

$425.9 million or 35% over fiscal 2009 due to higher margin per customer,' cbntihued'strongiccepfe a s w e | | 

as improved supplyniahagement. ". f ' ' J " ' • ' • * * ' **' 
( I<L t • -..^ .. •<{•. . 

The change in net income relates primarily to the changed fair value of th^derivative insfrumehts, which has imprpyedsubstantially from 

the $ 1.3 billion loss recorded in fiscal.2009. Aiso, an ihcreasejn the incbme£ax<recovery of $^2:8 miilioh;relates to Just Energy's conversion 

to a taxable Canadian corporation in December 2Q\O'a'ndl'th'e f u t u r e ' ^ x B ^ ^ to Be realized post 
conversion. This increase is partially offset,byVhigher current taxjprpyisibn^ jVtif . 

Total assets increased by 145% to $1.3 billion iii fiscapdjl0 : Tf ie^gest^om^Mn^qfahisxjwrige relate to the.property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets,.and-goo;dwiN r V c o r d ^ acquired totaling over 

$155.2- miNipn in capital.assets .on ̂ y1^.1 V ? ^ ^ recorded, which relate primarily to the 
conversioniof Just!Energy-to.a' cor: 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Total long-term liabilities of $824.4 million represent a 72% increase over the prior fiscal year. On July 1, 2009, in connection with the 

acquisition of Universal, Just Energy increased its credit facility from $170.0 million to $250.0 million. Also, as part of the Universal 

acquisition, the Company acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which is comprised of three separate facilities noted on page 41. Long-term 

liabilities have also increased in fiscal 2010 primarily due to the change in mark to market valuation of our derivative instruments. 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

(thousands of dollars, except per unit/share amounts) 

Fiscal 2011 

Sales {seasonally adjusted) 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit/share - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit/share - diluted 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio1 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Fiscal 2010 

Sales (seasonally adjusted) 

Gross margin (seasonally adjusted) 

General and administrative expense 

Net income (loss) 

Net income (loss) per unit - basic 

Net income (loss) per unit - diluted 

Adjusted EBITDA 

Amount available for distribution 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

Payout ratio1 

After gross margin replacement 

After marketing expense 

CM 03 Q2 Ql 

$ 808,394 $ 741,817 $ 748,480 $ 639,997 

143,977 132,212 115,356 88,933 

28,341 26,283 25,511 29,272 

177,111 217,407 (154,480) 275,309 

1.30 1.61 (1.15) 2.05 

1.27 1.39 (1.15) 1.85 

118,309 78,220 39,375 31,282 

78,624 63,811 53,442 33,783 

70,559 52,518 45,753 24,402 

56%- 67% 79% 125% 

63% 81% 92% 172% 

Q4 Q3 Q2 01 

$ 694;788 I 654,686 $ 562,133 E 432,565 

121,872 121,722 107,519 74,769 

22,405 24,767 25,634 15;617 

(79,211) 97,390 110,690 102,627 

(0.59) 0.73 0:83 0:92 

(0.59) 0.73 0.82 0.91 

108,961 60,563 36,598 30,182 

66,023 69,455 52,303 42,219 

58,359 61,242 41,345 36,087 

103% 2 59% 78% 83% 

117%2 67% 99% 97% 

1 The payout ratios have been calculated using cash distributions paid during the quarter. 
2 Includes a one-time Special Distribution of $26,7 million paid in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. No Special Distribution was paid in fiscal 2011. 

Just Energy's results reflect seasonality, as consumption is greatest during the third and fourth quarters (winter quarters). While year over 

year quarterly comparisons are relevant, sequential quarters will vary materially. The main impact of this will be higher distributable cash 

with a lower payout ratio in the third and fourth quarters, and lower distributable cash with a higher payout ratio in the first and second 

quarters, excluding any Special Distributions. 

Analysis of the fourth quarter 

The 16% increase in seasonally adjusted sales compared to the prior comparable quarter is attributable to new customer additions over the 

past year, including the Hudson,customers acquired effective May 1, 2010. The customer base has increased by 45% since March 31, 2010. 

The increase in sales was less than the increase in customers due to the lower average customer contract prices for recently added 

commercial customers and variable-rate contracts' as well as the decline in the U.S. dollar exchange rate. Improved sales and gross margin 

from TGF and NHS contributed to the growth quarter over quarter. 
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i oli I i.innli,lion:..liiil iii(:n.'a:,e llieiu liuiiinj waim winli.'i:.. M.'in.'ii|(.'iin.'Ml hclieve:. llic tesull nl I hi:. In.'(|i||ii(j policy will he mnie :;lalile M.'.'.iill:; In 

llu.' luff in;. G(:iuj);ti .IIKJ .iiluiiniMi.ilivc i.o:;ls w<:\<! 'V/.tt.':l million, an inneaM.' o| 77% Im ihe i]iiaiu.'i, In mi llu: :..'iiiie peiiml la:;l year. I IK; 

'A7% inaeaM.' has allnwi.'il lu:;l lineniy In Mippoil a A''>% incioaso in aiiilomei":;, a:; wi;ll a:, (//.'mjiaphk cxpair.iiod lor holh i.'nciijy mail;e1iiH| 

In I lu: loin ih qnaiiei nl lii-cal 2011, 22/1,0()0'ijio:.:; rtislomer ailililinns wem addi.'il in ihr; (liiacict, up 71% linm Ki 1.000 dnriiK] the same 

peitod in fiscal 201(1. Nel cuMomor addilion:: in Ihe (ourlh quat ler were; (7/,000, up 4 15% romparerl wilh 13,000 in Ihe Ihree nioullis 

ended Maich 31, 2010. 

The disliihulable cash afler cuslomer riross marrjin replacemeiil was $78. Ci million, up 19% from IG6.0 million in It it: prior comparable quarler 

Gross mai tjin incmasetl hy 18% compared lo a 4'j% increase in cuslomer base. The peiconiaije marrjin increase was hitjher than lhat of sale:; 

due lo compatison lo the record warm winter quarter in fiscal 2010 and improved resulls of LheTlome Services and lithanol divisions in fiscal 

2011. Mirjlier (|io:,s marijins werci inatched by increased adminislralive, had debt and inleresl expenses versus the prior comparable quarler. 

Afler the deduclion of all marketing expenses, dislributable cash totaled $70.6 million, an increase of 21 % from $58.4 million in Ihe fourlh 

quarter of fiscal 2010. Distribulions for llie quarler wore $43.2 million,.reflecting.an annual rale of $1.24, unchanyed from a year ago. The 

payout ratio afler payment of all markeling costs for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011 was 63% versus 117% (71 % cxclLiding Special 

Distribution) for ihe same period last year. 

GAS AND ELECTRICITY MARKETING 

Sales and gross margin - Per financial statements 

For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 
Sales Canada United States Total Canada United Slates Total 

Gas $ 660,036 $ 525,714 " $ 1,185,750 $ 788,661 $ 425,975 $ 1,214,636 

Electricity 619,985 1,015,347 1,635,332 637,580 381,674 1,019,254 

$ 1,280,021 $ 1,541,061 $ 2,821,082 $ 1,426,241 $ 807,649 $ 2,233,890 

Increase (decrease) (10)% 9 1 % 2 6 % 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Gross marg in Canada United States Total Canada United States Total 

Gas $ 94,200 $ 78,563 $ 172,763 $ 124,105 $ 81,520 $ 205,625 

Electricity 94,749 183,922 278,671 107,042 91,107 198,149 

$ 188,949 $ 262,485 $ 451,434 $ 231,147 $ 172,627 $ 403,774 

Increase (decrease) (18)% 5 2 % 12% 

28 

On a financial statement basis, sales increased by 26% in fiscal 2011 to $2.8 billion from $2.2 billion in.fiscal 2010. Gross margins increased 

by 12% from $403.8 million in fiscal 2010 to $451.4 million in the current fiscal year. On.a per share/unit basis, financial statement gross 

margin increased by 9% per share/unit year over year, compared with a 6% increase in seasonally ̂ adjusted gross margin: Financial 

statement gross margin includes approximately $5 million in additional revenue from the Ontarip,gaSjmarket re!ating.tp(the increased 

consumption associated with the colder winter weather in fiscal 2011. This amount will be includedah seasonally adjusted gross margin in 

the first.and second quarters of fiscal 2012. 

Canada 
Sales and.gross margin for the year ended-March 31, 201-1. were:$1:3 billipn:and $ 188.?.million,.respectively.'fa'decrease of 10% and 18%, 

respectively, from the prior comparable year: Total sales and'gross: margin for the'prior yearwere:$-1:4>billidnrand.$231.1 million, 

respectively. - f , r ^ : ! . v o' - ' • 

UnitedStates t . , '-'" '̂'{'jt '-.." - • ; 

Sales and gross margin in the u:s. were $1.5!billion:and.$2'62.'5 millio/i, resp.egivel^for.fiscal 2011..an increase of 91 % and 52%, 

respectively, 
$172:6 million, 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Sales and gross margin - Seasonally adjusted1 

For the years ended March 3 7 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Sales Canada United States Total Canada United States Total' 

Gas $ 660,036 $ 525,714 $ 1,185,750 $ 788,661 $ 425,975 $ 1,214,636 

Adjustments5 (9,504) (5,000) (14,504) 40,935 4,005 44,940 

$ 650,532 $ 520,714 $ 1,171,246 $ 829,596 $ 429,980 $ 1,259,576 

Electricity 619,985 1,015,347 1,635,332 -637,580 381,674 1,019,254 

$ 1,270,517 $ 1,536,061 $ 2,806,578 $ 1,467,176 $ 811,654 $ 2,278,830 

Increase (decrease) (13)% 8 9 % 2 3 % 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Gross margin Canada United States Total Canada UnitedStates Total 

Gas $ 94,200 $ 78,563 $ 172,763 $ 124,105 $ 81,520 $ 205,625 

Adjustments' (1,532) (193) (1,725) 10,804 (255) 10,549 

$ 92,668 $ 78,370 $ 171,038 $ 134,909. $ 81,265 $ 216,174 

Electricity 94,749 183,922 278,671 107,042 91,107 198,149 

$ 187,417 $ 262,292 $ 449,709 $ 241,951 $ 172,372 $ 414,323 

Increase (decrease) (23)% 52% 9% 

1 For Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 

On a seasonally adjusted basis, sales increased by 23% in fiscal 2011 to $2.8 billion as compared to $2.3 billion In fiscal 2010. Gross margins 

were $449.7 million for the year, up 9% from the prior comparable year. The lower increase in margin versus sales is a result-of a $35 million 

adverse margin impact from utility reconciliations during the first and second quarters of the year due to record warm winter temperatures in 

fiscal 2010. In addition, margin percentages were lower due to lower margins on large numbers of commercial and variable rate customers 

added during the year as well as an active Blend and Extend marketing program, which reduces short-term gross margins to increase gross 

margin in the long term. During the year, Blend and Extend offers and other customer contract renegotiations resulted'in a $12.1 million 

reduction on what would have otherwise been collected as.gross margin. These retention efforts have resulted in $20.8 million in increased 

future gross margin for the extension period. 

Canada 

Seasonally adjusted sales were $1.3 billion for the year, down 13% from $1.5 billion in fiscal 2010. Seasonally adjusted gross margins were 

$187.4 million in fiscal 2011, a decrease of 23% from $242.0 million in the prior year. 

Gas 

Canadian gas sales were $650.5 million, a decrease of 22% from $830.0 million in fiscal 2010. During fiscal 2011, total customer delivered 

gas volume reflected both an 11% decrease in RCEs flowing and a 13% decrease in consumption per customer due to lower utility delivery 

requirements as a result of the prior year warm winter. Gross margin totaled $92.7 million, down 31 % from fiscal 2010, reflecting both 

these factors as well as the effects of the Blend and Extend contracts signed by customers and the introduction of lower margin variable 

rate products in Ontario. In addition, although the winter months were colder than the prior year. Just Energy had put in place a policy of 

hedging through weather index derivatives. This was intended to reduce gross margin fluctuations from extreme weather and these 

derivatives reduced the potential benefit of cold winter weather during the current fiscal year. Management believes that this hedging 

strategy will reduce volatility in Just Energy's results in future periods. 

After allowance for balancing and inclusive of acquisitions, realized average gross margin per customer ("GM/RCE") for the year ended 

March 31, 2011, amounted to $150/R.CE compared to $191/R.CEfor the prior comparable year, reflecting the adverse weather impact tn 

the first and second quarters and the impact of Blend and Extend. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt 

expense in Alberta. 

£/ectr/c/ty 
Electricity sales were $62.0.0 million for the year, a decrease of 3% from fiscal 2010 due to a 4% decline in flowing RCEs. Gross margin 

decreased by 11 % for fiscal 2011 to $94.7 million versus $107.0'million in the prior year. The Blerid and Extend program contributed to the 

gross margin decrease year over year. Also, expiring higher margin customers are being replaced with new lower margin customers due to 

competitive pressures from low utility prices in Ontario. 
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United SUiUx 

Sales lor fiscal '/()] 1 wen: %].',> billion, an inciease of Hc.)% [mm 3.811.7 million in Ihe prior year. Seasnnally•adjusled (jroi.s maiijin was 

'P.fi7..;i million, up ['>2"A, fiom %]'/2A million.Irom lire prioi year. 

Gas 

Tor fiscal 7.011, ija:, sales and gross marrjin in Ihe U.S. lolaled %520,'/ million and I'/tt.A million, respeclively, versus 3.4:-IO.O million and 

3.81.3 million, ryspeclivcly, in fiscal 7_010. H ie sales increase ol 21 % was due lo a A ) % increase in cmilomeis lanjely lliroiujli successful 

markeli/ifj and IJJO actfiihilion of Hudson. Saica yrowll) was less l l ian cuslomer yrowlh due lo/r lower U.S. ilollar exdianye rale mid 

rcducotl conlraci prices nssocialed wilh commercial sales. 

Gross margin decreased hy 4 % year over year compared to the 21 % increase im sales, primarily as a result of Hie third parly losses in 

Michigan relalctj to fiscal 2010 warm winter financial reconciliations as well as reconcilialions in oil ier stales and the lower U.S. dollar, in 

addition, there was an impact from ihe weather index derivatives put in place in the fourlh riuarler which mii iyaled what would otherwise 

have been margin increases in the third and fourth quarters associated with the relatively cold winter. 

Average realized gross margin after all balancing cosls for the year ended March 31, 2011, was S M I / R C E , a decrease of 3 3 % over the 

prior year amount of $212/RCE. This is due to lower per customer consumption, utility reconciliations, losses on sale of excess gas and the 

inclusion of lower margin commercial customers acquired wi lh Hudson. The GM/RCE value includes an appropriate allowance for bad dcbl 

expense in Illinois and California. 

Electricity 

U.S. electricity seasonally adjusted sales and gross margin for the year were $1.0 billion and $183.9 million, respectively, versus $381.7 million 

and $91.1 million, in fiscal 2010. Sales were up 166% due to an increase in flowing customers year over year attributable to the Hudson 

acquisition and strong marketing growth. Sales were up more than gross margin due to the lower margins.on commercial customers. Total 

customer demand increased by 224%, which'is slightly lower than the 2 4 5 % increase in the customer base. Margins were up 102% year 

' over year. The majority of customers added over the period were commercial customers with lower per cuslomer margins than the largely 

residential book in place a year prior. Also impacting the lower gross margin growth were the extreme cold weather variances experienced in 

Texas during the fourth quarter, which resulted in an approximate $2.0 million reduction in gross margin. 

Average gross margin per customer for electricity during the current year decreased to $149/RCE, compared to $238/RCE in the prior year, 

as a result of a lower U.S. dollar exchange rate and lower margins per RCE for commercial customers added. The,GM/RCE value for Texas, 

Pennsylvania, Massachusetts and California includes an appropriate allowance for the bad debt expense. 

CUSTOMER A G G R E G A T I O N 

Long-term customers 

Failed March 31, % increase 
April 1,2010 Additions Acquired Altrition to renew 2011 (decrease) 

Natural gas 

Canada 734,000 53,000 - (73,000) (58,000) 656,000 (11)% 

United States 408,000 224,000 81,000 (123,000) (16,000) 574,000 4 1 % 

Total 'gas 1,142,000 277,000 81,000 (196,000) (74,000) 1,230,000 7% 

Electricity ' . i - . ' " * ! a 

Canada 760,000 106,000 - (77,000) , • . '(53)000) . • 736,000 (3)% 

United States 391,000 616,000 579,000 '(171,00.0) (67,000) 1,348,000 245% 

Total electricity 1,151,000 722,000 579,000 ; (248,000) (120,000) 2,084,000 8 1 % 

Comb ined 2,293,000 999,000 660,000-- ^•(444,000); ' ; ,.•(•194,000).- •3,314,000 4 5 % 

Gross customer additions.for the year were:999,000. up 9 8 % from the 505,000,customers added through marketing during fiscal 2010. 

This was due to very strong addi t ions^ both the Consumer;Energy division arid;theyComme^fcia| Ei^rg^diyjsjpn. Of the total, 571,000 were 

commercial customers, showing the continued positive jmpaet'of.both the;new broker channel and-Just Energy's internal.efforts to expand 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

its share of the commercial market. Commercial customers now represent approximately 40% of the total customer base. Total net 

customer additions through marketing for the year were 361,000, up from 73,000 net customer additions last year. Overall, there has been 

a 45% increase in total customers over the past year. 

Total gas customers excluding acquired customers remained virtually unchanged during the last year, reflecting a difficult price environment 

with a large disparity between utility spot prices and the five-year prices. The extended period of low, stable gas prices has reduced the 

customer appetite for the stability of higher priced long-term fixed contracts. This continues to impact new customer additions and 

renewals. To respond, profitable new variable rate contracts are being sold while spot market prices remain stable. Including acquired 

customers, the natural gas base increased by 7% year over year. 

Total electricity customers excluding acquired customers were up 31 % during fiscal 2011, with strong growth in our U.S. markets and a.3% 

decrease in total customers in.our Canadian markets. Including acquired customers, the electricity customer base increased 81 % year over year. 

As at March 31, 2011, there are an additional 22,000 RCEs categorized as variable and short-term in nature and, accordingly, have not 

been included in the long-term customer aggregation reported above. The majority of these short-term customers were acquired as part of 

the Hudson acquisition earlier in the year. 

JustGreen 

. r.".. Sales of the JustGreen products remain strong despite premium pricing in a low-price environment. The JustGreen program allows 

customers lo choose to purchase units of green energy in the form of renewabie energy or carbon offsets, in an.effort to reduce 

V greenhouse gas emissions. When a customer purchases a unit of green energy, it creates a contractual obligation for Just Energy to 

l ,
1 • purchase a supply of green energy at least equal to the demand created by the customer's purchase,. A review was conducted by Grant 

>;•) ..' Thornton UP of Just Energy's Renewable Energy and Carbon Offsets Sales and Purchases report for the period from January 1, 2010, 

T. "• through December 31, 2010, validating the match of Just Energy's renewable energy and carbon-offset purchases against customer 
1 -/" contracts. Just Energy is a participant in over 25 carbon offset and renewable energy projects across North America and is actively pursuing 

;" ' new projects to meet our growing demand for green energy alternatives. Just Energy purchases carbon offsets and renewable energy 

credits for the current and future use of our customers. Our purchases help developers finance the projects. 

The Company currently sells JustGreen gas in the eligible markets of Ontario, British Columbia, Alberta, Michigan, New York, Ohio, Illinois 

and Pennsylvania. JustGreen electricity is sold In Ontario, Alberta, New York, Texas and Pennsylvania. Of all consumer customers who 

contracted with Just Energy in the yearended March 31, 2011, 36% took JustGreen for some or all of their energy needs. On average, 

these customers elected to purchase 90% of their consumption as green supply, which compares with a 39% take-up, for an average of 

81 % of consumption, during the prior fiscal year. 

Overall, JustGreen supply now makes up 6% of the overall gas portfolio, up from 2% a year ago. JustGreen supply makes up 10% of the 

electricity portfolio, up from 5% on the same date last year. 

Attrition 

Fiscal 2011 
Fiscal 2011 targeted 

^j . attrition attrition 

i--." Natural gas 

Canada 10% 10% 

UnitedStates 23% 30% 

Electricity 

&~,\:>» Canada 10% 10% 
f-$. UnitedStates 17% 20% 

i •.; *• 
j " The year saw a material improvement in attrition rates across all markets. Improved economic conditions, diligent credit reviews and 

^ offering Blend and Extends resulted in attrition rates that were at or below target rates In all markets for the first time in several years. With 

if; _ all new customers signed over the past three years being at rates consistent with current commodity rates, management believes that these 

attrition trends will continue. Management is confident that continued improvements in attrition rates in the United States will be seen in 

)^ : coming periods. 

Vi't Naturalgas 

The annual natural gas attrition In Canada was 10% for the year, in line with management's target of 10%. In the U.S., annual gas 

'i t̂ r/ attrition was 23%, below management's annual target of 30%. This reflects continued improvement in the U.S. results due to new 

product offerings and greater economic stability within the U.S. customer base. 
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'Ihe Jina l-iiercjy lenewal process is a mullifaceled iirorjrnm anr.l aims lo maximize the number of cuslnmei:; who choose to renew their 

conlraci prior, to the end of their existing contract term, lif [oils begin up lo 1 '.> months in advance, allowitig a customer to renew for an 

additional four or five years. Renewals in fiscal 2011 were the most challenging in the Company's hislojy, llxlcndcd periods of depressed 

gas prices (and their direel impact on eleclricily pricing) combined wilh very low perceived future [irice volalility have resulted in lower 

than targeted renewals. Management believes if commodity price volatility remains low, larrjeted renewal rates will be in the range of 

70% overall. 

Natural gas 
The fiscal 2011 annual renewal rate for all Canadian gas customers was 65%, below management's target of 70%. In the Ontario gas 

market, customers who do not positively elect to renew or terminate their contract receive a one-year fixed price for the ensuing year. Of 

the total Canadian gas customer renewals during the year, 31% were renewed for a one-year term. Canadian gas markets lagged the 2011 

target of 70%, .largely due to the current high spread between the Just Energy five-year price and the ulility spot price. The long period of 

stable low gas prices has reduced^customer interest in renewing at higher fixed prices, Management will continue'to focus on increasing 

renewals, and a return to rising market pricing should result in an improvement in Canadian gas renewal rates to target levels. 

In the U.S. markets, Just'Energy had primarily Illinois and a'small number of Indiana and New York gas customers up for renewal. Gas 

renewals for the U.S. were 73%, slightly below management's target of 75% due to lower renewal rates in Indiana and New York. 

£/ectric/ty 
The electricity renewal rate for Canadian customers was.61 % for the year, which is below the targeted level. There continues to be solid 

demand for JustGreen products, supporting renewals in Canadian electricity customers but, due to the disparity between the spot and five-

year prices.and low volatility in the spot prices, customers have been reluctant to again lock into fixed-priced products. Just Energy has 

introduced some enhanced variable-price offerings to improve renewal rates. 

During the year, Just Energy had Texas, Illinois and New York electricity customers up for renewal. The electricity renewal rate was 66%, 

below our target rate of 75% due to lower renewal rates in New York. In each of these markets, our green product is being developed for 

renewing customers, which should further strengthen the profitability and proclivity to renew. 

Gas and electricity contract renewals 

This table shows the percentage of customers up for renewal in-each of the following years: 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015-

Beyond 2015 

Total 

Canada - Canada - U.S.- U.S. -
gas electricity gas electricity 

28% 21% 21% 29% 
22% 24% . 23 % 22% 
17% ' 17% 11% 21% 
,14%' 1 1*2% 14% 13% 
•19% 26% - 31%' 15% 

100% 100% 100% •100% 

Just Energy continuously monitors its customer renewal rates and continues to modify its^qffering-tq existing customers in order, to 

maximize the number of customers who renew their contracts. To the extent.there is .continued.customer take-up on blend and extend 

offers, some renewals scheduled for 2012 and 2013 will move back to 2015 and beyond. 
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GROSS MARGIN EARNED THROUGH NEW MARKETING EFFORTS 

Annual gross margin per customer for new and renewed customers 

The table below depicts the annual margins on contracts of residential and commercial customers signed during the year. This table reflects 

all margin earned on new additions and renewals including both the brown commodity and JustGreen. Customers added through 

marketing were at or above the margins of customers lost through attrition or failure to renew. Renewing customers were at lower margins 

largely due to lesser take-up of JustGreen on renewal. However,,JustGreen is beginning to be aggressively marketed for renewals, with the 

expectation that rates similar to those for new-customers can be achieved. Sales of the JustGreen products remained very strong, with 

approximately 36% of all residential customers added in the past year taking some or all green energy supply. Customers that have 

purchased the JustGreen product elected, on average, to take 90% of their consumption in green supply. For large commercial customers, 

the average gross margin for new customers added was $88/RCE. The aggregation cost of these customers is commensurately lower per 

RCE than a residential customer. 

f- Annual gross margin per customer1 

Number of 
Fiscal 2011 customers 

Residential and small commercial customers.added in the year 

Canada-gas $ 209 29,000 

Canada-electricity 161 49,000 

United States - gas 217 128,000 

United States - electricity 189 222,000 

Average annual margin 195 

Residential and small commercial customers renewed in the year 

Canada-gas ' 166 98,000 

Canada - electricity ' 120 98,000 

United States - gas 196 35,000 

United States - electricity 177 32,000 

Average annual margin 154 

Residential and small commercial customers lost in the year 

Canada-gas 204 130,000 

• Canada - electricity 150 129,000 

M 

Average annual margin 195 

United States-gas 208 113,000 

United States - electricity 227 92,000 

4' . Large commercial customers added in the year , 88 571,000 

^ « .; Large commercial customers lost in the year Tjjj 172,000 
1 Customer sales price less cost of associated supply and allowance for bad debt and U.S. working capital. 

i V / HOME SERVICES DIVISION (NHS) 

' NHS provides Ontario residential customers with long-term water heater rental programs that offer conventional tanks, power vented tanks 

and tankless water heaters in a variety of sizes, in addition to leasing HVAC products. NHS had continued strong customer growth and as at 

March 31, 2011, had a cumulative installed base of 115,200 water heaters, 2,600 furnaces and 800 air conditioners in residential homes, 

.^r J The water heater installed base has increased by 50% in the past year, from 77,000 as at March 31, 2010. Management is confident that 
; ' v NHS will contribute to the long-term profitability of Just Energy and continue to contribute to diversification. NHS currently markets through 

' J - ' - •• approximately 210 independent contractors. 

\ - • As NHS is a high growth, relatively capital-intensive business, Just Energy's management believes that, in order to maintain stability of 

dividends, separate non-recourse ffnancing of this capital is appropriate. NHS announced that it had entered into a long-term financing 

agreement with Home Trust Company ("HTC") for the funding of the water heaters and HVAC products in the Enbridge Gas (January 2010) 

' j f a n d Union Gas (July 2010) distribution territories. Under the agreements, NHS receives funds equal to the amount of the five-, seven- or 

ten-year cash flow (at its option) of the water heater and HVAC contracts discounted at the contracted rate, which is currently 7.99%. HTC is 

then paid an amount which is equal to the customer rental payments on the water heaters for the next five, seven or ten years. The funding 

received from HTC up to March 31, 2011, was $105.7 million. 
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Sales pel linancial slalemenls 

Cosl of sales 

Gross tiiaryin 
Markelinr] expenses 
General and adminislralive expense 
Inleresl expense 
Capital expendiluros 
Amorti/alion 

Ending total number of water healers installed . 

' Hopresonls results from llic dale (if ac(|ui:,i[i(in, July 1, 2009, ihrougli lo March 31. 2010. 

Results of operations 
For the yearended March 31, 2011, NHS had sales.of $22.6 million, up 154% year over year, and gross margin of $15.7 million, up 123% 

from the comparable period. The cosl of sales for the year was $6.9 million, of which $4.6 million represents the non-cash amortization of 

the installed water heaters for the customer contracts signed to date. Marketing expenses for fiscal 2011 were $3.3 million and include 

the amortization of commission costs paid to the independent agents, sales-related automotive fleet costs, advertising and promotion, 

and telecom and office supplies expenses. General and administrative costs, which relate primarily to administrative staff compensation and 

warehouse expenses, were $12.1 million for the yearended March 31, 2011, up 109% year overyear. The higher level of general and 

administrative costs relative to the past year was largely due to the expansion into Union Gas territory and the rollout of furnace and air 

conditioner offerings. The infrastructure has now been put in place to allow for strong growth in the Union Gas territory. 

Interest expense amounted to $6.5 million as a result of the financing arrangement with HTC. Capital expenditures, including installation 

costs, amounted to $30.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2011. Amortization costs were $ 1.9 million for the current year and include 

both the depreciation on non-tank-related capital assets noted above and the amortization of the purchased water heater contracts. 

For the prior comparable period, which represents operations from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009, through March 31, 2010, sales and 

gross margin amounted to $8:9 million and $7,0 million, respectively. Marketing expenses were $2.8 million and general and administrative 

expenses amounted to $5.8 million. Interest expense for the nine months was $0.8 million as a result of the HTC financing just being 

secured in January 2010. 

The growth of NHS has been rapid and, combined with the HTC financing, is expected to be self-sustaining on a cash flow basis. 

ETHANOL DIVISION (TGF). 

TGF continues to remain focused on improving the plant production and run time of the Belle Plaine, Saskatchewan, wheat-based ethanol 

facility. For the year ended March 31, 2011, the plant achieved an average production capacity of 78%, a significant increase from average 

production capacity of 62% in the prior comparative period. The Phase 1 grain-milling upgrade done in late fiscal 2010 has allowed the 

plant to achieve daily milling rates exceeding nameplate capacity from time to time. In the fourth quarter, the plant achieved average 

production capacity of 86%. In the first quarter of fiscal 2012, the plant will complete scheduled maintenance, resulting in production 

downtime. 

Ethanol prices were, on average, $0:57 per litre for the year and wheat prices averaged $168 per metric tonne for the year. As at March 31, 

ethanol was.priced at $0.68'per litre.Jhe ethanol division has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and 

operating.losses will not impact Just Energy's core business and its.ability to pay dividends. 
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:;, MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Selected financial information 

for the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars, except where indicated) 

Sales per financial statements 

Cost of sales 

Gross margin 

fnii'. General and administrative expense 

Interest expense 

-•- • Capital expenditures 

' V • Amortization 

'Represents results from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009, through to March 31. 2010. 

y V . Results of operations 

•'' "i For fiscal 2011, TGF had sales and gross margin of $108.5 million and $14.3 million, respectively. During the fiscal year, the plant produced 

y . ' 117.7 million litres of ethanol and 111,417 metric tonnes of DDG. For the year ended March 31, 2011, TGF incurred $11.2 million in 

general and administrative expenses and $6.9 million in interest charges. Fiscal 2011 is the first year in which the ethanol facility has 

•"; \'' • • .generated positive EBITDA. 

"j^jfi-- For the prior comparable period, which represents results from the date of acquisition, July 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010, sales and gross 

margin totaled $56.5 million and $4.5 million, respectively. The plant produced 69.4 million litres of ethanol and 66,487 metric tonnes of 

., DDG. General and administrative expenses were $9.1 million and interest expense was $5.1 million. Capital expenditures were $4.6 million 

in fiscal 2010, primarily relating to the milling upgrade completed near year-end. 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010' 

$ 108,526 $ 56,455 
94,260 51,945 

14,266 4,510 
11,231 9,089 
6,862 5,107 

266 4,599 
1,193 1,079 

y • TGF receives a federal subsidy related to the ecoEnergy for Biofuels Agreement signed on February 17, 2009, as amended from time to 

f -. time, based on the volume of ethanol produced. From July 1, 2009 to March 31, 2010, the subsidy was ten cents per litre, and throughout 

•J;^, ' '• fiscal 2011, this subsidy was nine cents per litre. The subsidy will be eight cents per litre for fiscal 2012. The subsidy amount declines 

through time to five cents per litre of ethanol produced in fiscal 2015, the last year of the agreement. 

\ O V E R A L L CONSOLIDATED RESULTS - JUST ENERGY 

y General and administrative expenses 

General and administrative costs were $109.4.million for the yearended March 31, 2011, representing a 24% increase from $88.4 million 

^ .. in fiscal 2010. This was primarily due to the inclusion of a full year of administrative costs for NHS and TGF as well as the addition of 

y Hudson's commercial energy marketing administrative costs. 

;W' Fiscal2Q11 Fiscal2010 % Increase 

ft'Y Energy marketing $ 86,093 $ 73;545 17% 

NHS . 12,083 5,789 109% 

TGF 11,231 9,089 24% 

Total general and administrative expenses $ 109,407 $ 88,423 24% 

Energy marketing general and administrative costs were $86.1 million in fiscal 2011, an increase of 17% from $73.5 million for the year 

" ended March 31, 2010. The 17% increase has allowed Just Energy to support a.45% increase in customers as well as fund one-time costs 

for the conversion to a corporate structure. In addition, the increase versus the prior.year is a result of a full year of Universal-related 

' expenses {versus nine months in the prior year) offset by realized synergies as well as the inclusion of Hudson administrative costs. Just 

t^!} -•. Energy obtained a new commercial license in Pennsylvania and incurred costs to prepare to enter Pennsylvania for residential sales and 

Saskatchewan for the commercial business. Just Energy expects continued general and administrative spending to support geographic 

market expansion but management believes that costs per customer will continue to decline over the long term. 

Marketing expenses 

Marketing expenses, which consist of commissions paid to independent sales contractors, brokers and independent representatives for 

I z£^- . signing new customers, as well as sales-related corporate costs, were $133.6 million, an increase of 40% from $95.8 million in fiscal 2010. 

•f'f, New customers signed by our marketing sales force were 999,000 during fiscal 2011, up 98% compared to 505,000 customers added 

j ^ y through our sales offices in the prior year. The increase in the current year expense reflects the cost of a 98% gross and a 395% net 

' increase in customer additions, offset by the lower total aggregation cost per customer and a lower U.S. dollar exchange rate. 

Mr. 
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limn |in :.ii|tii.:il In mi new am I n-ncwi'i I <:ii:;l< IUU-I:. i Imii KJ llu.1 \ <ri ioil. Mai krlii nj i.-xpi'i n.i", h > ma 

Ihcycar. an iiu'ma-.i' nl y_\% Inmi I.Q.K millinn in lr,i al 2.1110. 

11 ui11'.', inainin wen* 'MM.M millii m Ini 

Maila.-liiKi rx|nMi:.i::. lo aild new IJIU:,:; maiijin an: allnrali.-d liai.nil tm llu: i.'illn nl IK:I IU.-W IIIO:,'. manjin canted nn llic <HI:,UJIIII.'I-: :;ii|iu:d, 

li.'.ss alh him i, a:, i nm|ian:(l in llic (|in:,:; maiijin :;ii|iu:il Imm new and miicwed (.ii;.lmiii:i:, iliuiiiii lln: pet Intl. Markclttuj expeii:,e:; In add 

new i(u>'.;!, manjin in Ihe yeai etidcd M.ucli-•( I, 2011, lolaled %'3C>A millinn, a 10% im ieaiie Inmi Y.OS) million in li:.<;nl 2010. Alliumi]li 

I hen: wa:. a lanje incnwtiie iii Ihe nel i.nslnmei adtlilinn:, lliioii(|h maikeliiu.i ol ;u;,|,()0l) lot Ihe (.uirenl yeai; iifj liom '/.̂ .IJOO in lisral 2010, 

llu: hlend ol idmmercial and msiilenlial rii:,lniiu:is added ICMIIICII in a 20% inaea:;e in emhedded iiiaii|iii, lower llian Ihe A'j% inciease in 

lolal i:iislomen;. 

Commission:: iclaled lo ohlainiiifj and lenewiiKj l lndsoii cnminei'dal cnnlracls are paid all or pailially up lionl or as lesidual paymcnls over 

Ihe lile ol ihe conlraci. II Ihe commission is paid all or pailially up lionl, Ihe aiiiniii/alioii is incliuled in markeling expenses as Ihe 

associated revenue is earned, II Ihe commission is paid as a residual paymenl, llic amount is expensed as earned, Of Ihe curienl lolal 

commercial cuslomer base, approximately 00% are commercial broker citstomeis and [',':>% ol these comineicial brokers ate beinrj paid 

recurring residual paymenls, 

Marketing expenses included in dislributable cash excluile amorlization relaied lo the contract initiaiion cosls for Hudson and NHS. For the 

year ended Maich 31, 2011, the amorlization amounted lo $14.5 million. Capiialteed markeling cosls associaied wilh mainiaining margin 

arc reflected as maiiilenance capital in Adjusted EBITDA. 

The actual aggregation cosls for the year ended March 31, 2011, per customer (or residenlial and commercial customers signed by 

independent representatives and commercial cuslomers signed by brokers.were as follows: 

Resiclenti.il 
cuslomers 

Commercial 
customers 

Commercial 
broker 

customers 

Natural gas 

Canada 

United States 

Electricity 

Canada-

United States 

Total aggregation costs 

% 277/RCt! 

177/RCE 

213/RCE 

150/RCE 

$ 157/RCE 

126/RCE 

157/RCE 

85/RCE 

31/RCE 

19/RCE 

31/RCE 

40/RCE 

$ 173/RCE $ 122/RCE $ 35/RCE 

ft'-.; 

to 

The actual aggregation per customer added for all energy marketing for the year ended March 31, 2011, was $102. The $35 average 
aggregatiomcost for the commercial broker customers is based on the expected average annual cost for the respective customer contracts. 
It should be noted that commercial broker contracts.arcpaid further commissions.averaging $35 per year for each additional year that the 
customer flows; Assuming an average jife of 2.8 years, this would add.approximately $63 {1.8 X $35) to the fiscal 2011 $35 average 

" aggregation cost^or-comme'rcial broker customers reported above. 

a -Fb^ t ^^o r ' com parable year, aggregation costs [aer customer in the Canadian and U.S. gas markets were $215/RCE and $ 174/RCE, 
,' '• Tespe^yely,^^ SIsiz/RGEJn the Canadian and U.S. electricity markets, the aggregation costs per customer amounted 

; -to £88^GE;an^''i'.l'eT/RfeEj respectively; with•the'c6mbiried*'cdst amounting to $168/RCE. 
•'• ''s J-" > y 

f Share-based.compensation 

P"1 ; Compensation^'.the joi:m'pf^stpcMnon-cash),granted;by Just Energy to the directors, officers, full-time employees and sen/ice providers of 

: r t - v t h V G < ^ ^ ^ n d ^ s ^ i d i a r i e s and,affiliates pursuant to.the 2010 Share Option Plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan), the 2010 

Restnctet^hare^Grant Plan.(formerly the 2004.unit appreciation rights plan).and the Directors' Compensation Plan amounted to $5.5,million, 

.an jncrease of 16% from the $4.8 million.paid in fiscal,2010. The increase relates primarily to additional fully paid long-term retention 

restricted.share grants awarded to the senior management of the Company. 

Bad; debt .expense ' 

In-lllinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, California and Massachusetts, Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of 

customer,accounts. In.addition, for commercial direct-billed accounts in B.C., New York and Ontario, Just Energy is responsible for the bad 

debt risk. NHSlhas also assumed credit risk for customer account collection for certain territories within Ontario. Credit review processes 

have been established to manage the customer default rate. Management factors default from credit risk into its margin expectations for all 

of the abbve-noted'markets. During the year. Just Energy was exposed to the risk of bad debt on 35% of its sales. 

I 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Bad debt expense for fiscal 2011 was $27.7 million, up 54% from $17.9 million expensed last year. The bad debt expense increase was 

entirely related to the 59% increase in total revenues for the current year to $1,033.5 million, in the markets where Just Energy.assumes the 

risk for accounts receivable collections. These markets also now include incremental commercial customers. Management integrates its 

default rate for bad debts within its margin targets and continuously reviews and monitors the credit approval process to mitigate customer 

delinquency. For the year ended March 31, 2011, the bad debt expense of $27.7 million represents approximately 2.7% of revenue, slightly 

lower than the bad debt for fiscal 2010, which represented 2.8% of relevant revenue. 

Credit losses in Texas as a percentage of total revenues have declined due to aggressive collection efforts and quicker disconnection for 

delinquent customers. Continued improvements in the Illinois collection efforts and tower default rates for acquired Hudson commerdal 

customers have also contributed to the improvement in the bad debt rate versus the prior year. Management expects that bad debt 

expense will remain in the range of 2% to 3% for the next fiscal year assuming that the housing market in the U.S. continues to show 

signs of improvement. 

For each of Just Energy's Other markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debt owing from Just Energy's 

customers for a regulated fee. 

Interest expense 

Total interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2011, amounted to $50.4 million, a 213% increase from $16.1 million in fiscal 2010. 

The large increase in costs primarily relates to the interest expense for the $330 million convertible debentures associated with the Hudson 

acquisition as well as interest costs associated with the NHS financing. 

This increase also reflects a full year compared to the inclusion of nine months in the prior comparable year of interest relating to the JEEC 

convertible debentures and TGF financing in the prior comparable year. 

Foreign exchange 

Just Energy has.an exposure to U.S. dollar exchange rates as a result of its U.S. operations and any changes in the applicable exchange rate 

may result in a decrease or increase in other comprehensive income. For the yearended March 31, 2011, a foreign exchange unrealized 

gain of $0.3 million was reported in other comprehensive income (loss) versus a $26.6 million gain reported ih the-'prior fiscal year. 

Overall, a weaker U.S. dollar decreases the value of sales and gross margin in Canadian dollars but this is partially offset by lower operating 

costs denominated in U.S. dollars. Just Energy retains sufficient funds in the U.S. to support ongoing growth and surplus cash is repatriated 

to Canada. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually, and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into. Just Energy hedges 

between 25% and 90% of the next 12 months' cross border cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flow. During fiscal 

2011, a total of $28.0 million in U.S. funds was repatriated back to Canada, versus $23.0 million in the prior fiscal year. 

Class A preference share cash distributions 

On January 1, 2011, as part of the conversion from an income trust to a corporation, the remaining Class A preference shares of Just 

Energy Corp. ("JEC") were converted Into JEGI common shares. Prior to this, the holder of the JEC Class A preference shares was entitled to 

receive, on a quarterly basis, a payment equal to the amount paid to a unitholder on an equal number of units. The total amount paid for 

the nine months ended December 31, 2010, including tax, amounted to $4.9 million. The distributions on the Class A preference shares are 

reflected in the consolidated statement of unitholders'/shareholders' deficiency in the consolidated financial statements, net of tax. 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax 

(thousands of dollars) 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

Current income tax provision 

Amount credited to unitholders'/shareholders' equity 

Future tax expense (recovery) 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax 

8,182 

1,305 

22,655 

19,253 

2,501 

(122,014) 

$ 32,142 $ (100,260) 

Just Energy recorded a current income tax expense of $8.2 million for the year versus $19.3 million of expense in fiscal 2010. The change is 

mainly attributable to lower Canadian income taxes as a result of the integration of the'Universal entities into the income fund structure 

during the first three quarters of the current fiscal year. 
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i/idii/JoH >i:. |'.'ill ol i ini 11 ink lei;;' (.'([iiily ami l lm rlislii l inlkin'; paid ID thci'.han.'liulilci:; an: im ludcil a:, ili'.nilntiion:. uu l lu 1 <,nn:.ulid.il<:il 

:,lali'ini.'Ml ul iinilliolili.'i:;' ilelit.icncy, mil ol lax. I;ni l l ic yeai ended Maich ':\ I, 2(11 I, Ihe lax impad nl Ihei-e (lii.liihiilinn:,, l)a:.ed nn a lax 

rale i ii '10%, amnunled In 11 millii in, veiMii; an amuuul nl '|i2.'.i millimi I ia:,i.'d mi Ihe IG"/,. lax rale la:.! year. 'I he den ease ul I hi:, lax 

impad in Ihe a m e n ! year i:. due In Ihr: (mnhiueil elleel ol Ihe i;e:.:.ali{jn nl Mich (li:;ljiliiilinn:, In Ihe Clav. A pieleieuce shajchnlilei a! lln.' 

lime lhat Insl lineniy i.miveiled lo a laxahle Canadian (.mpmalinn elleclivi: January 1, 201 1, and a dedine in l l ic cnipuiale lax lah: in 

Canada duiitut Ihe cmiei i l year. 

A:; noled in Jusl lineKjy':; 2010 Annual H(.'|ioil. a Inline lax recovery nl $122.0 million wa:; recur tied in livcal 2010 lo recmini/e Ihe 

r.ignifiCiinl lempmaiy dillerenres al l i ibuled lo rnaik lo markel los:;e:; Irom financial inslrumenl:;, wh id i arc expecled lo he realised 

subseriuenl lo Ihe Conversion nn lanuaiy 1, 201 1. Piirimj Ihis liscal year, Ihese rnaik lo markel losses dedined as a resull of a diamje in 

(air value o l ihese derivalive inslnimenls and, as a resull, a luture lax.expense nl 122.7 million has been recorded lor Ibis yeai. 

Afler Ihe Conveisinn on January 1, 2011, Jusl l-neiyy has been taxed as a laxahle Canadian corporation. Therelore, the fultue lax asset or 

liability associated with Canadian liabililics and assets lecoided on lite consolidalcd balance sheets as al lhal dale will he reali/ed over lime 

as the temporary differences between lire canyincj value of assels in the consolidated financial slalemenls and their respeclive tax bases are 

realized, Current Canadian income taxes.are accrued to ihe extent that there is laxahle income in Jusl nnerrjy and its underlyiiicj 

coipomlioii:;. Canadian corporations under Just lineryy <ire subject to a lax rale of approximalely 2 8 % afler Ihe Conversion. 

• 'Ihe U.S.diased corporalc subsidiaries are subject to U.S. income taxes on their taxable income delcrmined under U.S. income lax rules and 

regulations. During the year, the U.S. subsidiaries had fully ulilizcd their combined operating losses for tax purposes carried over from prior 

years, and after taking these lax losses into effect, recorded a $3.1 million current U.S. income tax for the year. 

Jusl Energy follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income lax liabilities and assets are recognized 

for the.eslimaled lax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying value of the assets and liabilities on the 

consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income lax rates. A valuation allowance is 

recorded against a future income tax asset if it is not anticipated that the asset will be realized in the foreseeable future. The effect of a 

change in the income lax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income during the period in which 

the change occurs. 

LIQUIDITY A N D CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Summary o f cash f lows 

(thousands of dollars) 

Operating activities 

Investing activities 

Financing activities, excluding distributions/dividends 

Effect of foreign currency translation 

Increase in cash before distributions/dividends 

Distributions/dividends (cash payments) 

Increase in cash 

Cash - beginning of year 

Cash - end of year 

Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2010 

$ 153,360 $ 158,273 

(318,847) (37,466) 
346,266 46,666 

(891) (3,861) 

179,888 163,612 
(142,387) (162,574) 

37,501 1,038 
60,132 59,094 

$ 97,633 $ 60,132 
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Operating activities 

. year. The decrease is a result of the higher gross margin being offset by an increase in short-term working capital, general and 

^ V ' ' administrative, marketing, bad debt and interest expenses. 
,' 
• Investing activities 

'^'jt ' Just Energy purchased capital assets totaling $36.6 million during the year, a decrease from $41.2 million in the prior year. In fiscal 2011 to 

^-.l?-' date, Just Energy's capital spending related primarily to the home services business and costs related to purchases of office equipment and 
i'VJ- IT software. 

\ 
'$!?(')'••• Financing activities 

f̂ ;;,', Financing activities, excluding distributions/dividends, relates primarily to the issuance of the $330 million in convertible debentures in 

£ f relation to the Hudson acquisition. Long-term debt, amounting to $484.8'million, was issued (related to the convertible debentures, NHS 

'%i<y financing and the credit facility) with repayment during the year of $148.3 million. In the prior comparable year, $243.8 million was issued 

f!$.'v. in long-term debt while $207.5 million was repaid. 

j ^ ^' As of March 31, 2011, Just Energy had a credit facility of $350 million. In connection with the Conversion on January 1, 2011, Just Energy 

jS^ ' increased its credit facility with repayment of the facility due on December 31, 2013. The syndicate of lenders now includes the Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Soci£t£ GSn§rale, Bank of Nova Scotia, Toronto-Dominion 

lim'-'i"'" As Just Energy continues to expand in the U.S. markets, the need to fund working capital and collateral posting requirements will increase, 

' driven primarily by the number of customers aggregated, and to a lesser extent, by the number of new markets. Based on the markets in 

which Just Energy currently operates and others that management expects the Company to enter, funding requirements will be fully 

supported through the credit facility. 

nts. 

AY • 
§>: J j U MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Cash flow from operating activities for the yearended March 31, 2011, was $153.4 million, a decrease from $158.3 million in the prior 

: ^ S : Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches 

Just Energy's liquidity requirements are driven by the delay from the time that a customer contract Is signed until cash flow is generated. For 

residential customers, approximately 60% of an independent sales contractor's commission payment is made following reaffirmation or 

verbal verification of the customer contract, with most of the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the 

customer. For commercial customers, commissions are paid either as the energy commodity flows throughout the contract or partially up 

front once the customer begins to flow. 

The elapsed period between the time when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies with each 

?M!V' ' market. The time delays per market are approximately two to nine months. These periods reflect the time required by the various LDCs to 

'j^U;'. enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the first payment to Just Energy. In Alberta and Texas, Just Energy receives payment 

'wkW directly from the customer. 

•uyrv Distributions/Dividends (cash payments) 

3 $ / . / In conjunction with the Conversion, investors began receiving dividends as of January 31, 2011, instead of distributions. Just Energy 

•: maintains its annual dividend rate at $1.24/share, the same rate that was previously paid for distributions. Investors should note that due to 

• j i ' ^ . the dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP"), a portion of dividends (and prior to January 1, 2011, distributions) declared are not paid in cash, 

î 'jtl',' •-• Under the program, shareholders can elect to receive their dividends in shares at a 2% discount to the prevailing market price rather than 

isftVv the cash equivalent. For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011, $26.0 million of the distributions/dividends were paid in shares/units under 

' " the DRIP, a 30% increase from $20.0 million in the prior comparable year. During the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy made cash 

distributions/dividends to its unitholders/shareholders and the Class A preference shareholder in the amount of $142.4 million compared to 

l i ^ V ' - $162.6 million in the prior comparable periods. 
(t • 

,n^L' Just Energy will continue to utilize its cash resources for expansion into new markets, growth in its existing energy marketing customer 

'''''• ' k a s e ' JustGreen products and Home Services division, and also to make accretive acquisitions of customers as well as dividends to its 

shareholders. 

f j l ;• 
•'flv-SfJ' At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $ 1.24. The current dividend policy provides that shareholders of record 

r j l j ^ ' o n tf16 of e a c h month receive dividends at the end of the month. 

80$. 

if' 
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UAI.ANCi; SI•11:1:1 AS AT M A R C H 31, 2011, C O M f A H l I D TO M A R C H 31, 2010 

C.r.h ii n tfa;.t:(l In mi "Mil). 1 iiiillini i .r. al Man h '.i 1, 20 Ml, I" V.JV.O millH in. I(<::.liii:li.-d i;a:.li, whii.li ii K.IIHII.-:. <VI:.II fi ill.ilui.il | nr. led icl. i lci l In 

Mipj'lv |iiiirun:iii':iil and (.mdil Mippoil Im UniuciMil, CmiiinciM! anil llii:TGI:('iilili»::,, ha', ilcctcax'tl ID '|.(),H inillinn nn M.IKh III, 2011, 

Irom 1, IH.'/ millii II i. I lie ulili^'ilion ol llu: i.ii:dil ladliiy di:i:ieaMMl iJiijIilly 1 i '1.117.11 millinn lo i'.il.O inillinn a:, a M.-MIII ol iiotmal wnikinfi 

tViplial i(:t)uili:hii:n!:;. Wnikini] c.'ipiial iciiniicmnni:, in llu: ll.'.l. and Allmila an: a ii::;n!l nl Ihu liniiiuj dilh.'icm.c liirlwcnn nrilomcr 

coiisumplion iititluvji icccip):.. l:or elndiinly, wotkini] i aptlal i:; mi|iiin:il lo liiiul llic latj hetween M.'IIIL.'HICIIIS wilh lln: :;u|)plu:i:.' and 

scUk'mcnl wilh Ihu 1.1'iC:.. 

Asai March 31. 20.11, accounls rwcivahlr: and iinliillod luvcmic amnunled lo !2H1,7 millinn and 1,12!i.1 millinn, n::;p('r.livi:ly,.C(nripair.'d in 

a year earlier when Ihe accounls icceivahle and unhilled levemu: amnunled lo :P.32.fi millinn and %7A,() million. Arcnunl:, payable ami 

accrued liabililics have Increased Irom %m.7 million lo $282.8 million in IhepaM year, liolh inneases In accounls receivable and payable 

are related lo added consumption as a lesult ol ihe Hudson cuslomers acr|iiired and Mront.! nel addiiionsin fiscal 2011 as well as Hie colder 

winter temperatures in the current fiscal year compared wilh liscal 2010. 

As at March 31, 2011, Just Energy had delivered loss yas to the I.DCs than had been consumed by cuslomers in Onlario, Maniioba, Quebec 

and Michigan, resulling in accrued gas receivable and payable balances of 126.5 million and $19.1 million, respeclively. Al March 31, 2010, 

Just Energy had accrued-gas receivable and payable amounlimj lo $20.8 million and $15.1 million, rospectively and gas.delivered in excess 

of consumplion and deferred revenue of $7.4 million and $7.2 million, respectively. 

Contract iiiillalion cosls relate to the commissions paid by bolh Hudson and NHS for contracis sold and will be amoriim! over the life of 

the contract. The balance increased to 129.7 million from $5.6 million at the end of the last fiscal year mainly due lo the Hudson 

acquisition. The March 31, 2010, balance related to contract initiation cosls for NHS only. 

Other assels and other liabilities relate entirely lo the fair value of the financial derivatives. The mark to market gains and losses can result in 

significant changes in nel income and, accordingly, shareholders' equity from quarter lo quarler due to commodity price volatility. Given 

lhal Just Energy has purchased this supply to cover future customer usage at fixed prices, management believes that these non-cash 

quarterly changes are not meaningful. 

Intangible assets include the acquired customer contracts as well as other intangibles such as brand, broker network and information 

technology systems, primarily related to the Hudson and Universal purchases. The total intangible asset and goodwill balances increased to 

$413.0 million and $211.4 million, respeclively, from $342.0 million and $177.9 million, respectively, as al March 31, 2010. 

Long-term debt excluding the current portion has increased to $507.5 million in the year ended March 31, 2011, from $231.8 million and is 

detailed below. 

LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING 

(thousands of dollars) 

Just Energy credit facility 
• TGF credit facility 
TGF debentures 
TGF term loan 

$90m convertible'debentures 

NHS financing 

$330m convertible debentures 

As at 
March 31, 

2011 

As at 
March 31, 

2.010 

$ 51,035 $ 57,500 

36,680 41,313 

37,001 37,001 

- 10,000 

84,706 83,417 

105,716 65,435 

286,439 -

Just Energy credit facility 

Just Energy holds a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of lenders now includes Canadian 

Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royal Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Soci£t£ G6n6ra!e, Bank of Nova Scotia, Alberta Treasury 

Branches and Toronto Dominion Bank. Under the terms of the credit facility. Just Energy was able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and 

LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3.25% and 3.75%, prime rate advances at rates of interest that vary between bank 

prime-plus 2.25% and 2.75%, and letters of credit at rates that vary between 3.25% and 3.75%. Just Energy's obligations under the credit 

facility are supported by guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates, excluding among others, TGF and NHS, and secured by a pledge of 

the assets of Just Energy, and the majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial 

covenants under the credit facility agreement. As at March 31, 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants had been met. 

v 
'A 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50 million was established with a syndicate of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was arranged to 

finance the construction of the ethanol plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was converted to a fixed repayment 

term of ten years commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime plus 3%, with principal repayments 

commencing on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand debenture agreement, a first priority security interest on all assets 

and undertakings of TGF, and a general security interest on all other current and acquired assets of TGF. The facility was further revised on 

March 31, 20.10, postponing.the principal payments due for April 1, 2010 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the six-month period 

commencing October 1, 2010, and ending March 31, 2011. The credit facility includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of 

which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum shareholders' equity. The lenders had deferred 

compliance with the financial covenants until April 1,2011. TGF is in discussions with the lenders with respect to the language and compliance 

of such general covenants. 

TGF has separate non-recourse financing in place such that capital requirements and operating losses will not impact Just Energy's core 

business and its ability to pay dividends. 

TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40 million aggregate principal 

amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually. Interest is to be paid 

quarterly with quarterly principal payments commencing October 1, 2009, in the amount of $ 1.0 million per quarter. The agreement 

includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, 

debtto-EBlTDA and minimum shareholders' equity. The lender has deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. 

TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debentures to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the debenture until 

April 1, 2011. The current debenture agreement matures in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. TGF is in negotiations with the debenture 

holders to renew the financing terms and with respect to the terms.of the financial covenants. 

TGF term/operating facilities 

TGF had a term loan for $10,000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1 %, which was due in full on December 31, 2010. 

As at December 31, 2010, the $10,000 amount was repaid. In addition, TGF has a working capital operating line bearing interest at prime 

plus 2% of which $0.3 million of letters of credit have also been issued. 

$90m convertible debentures 

in conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, Just Energy assumed the obligations of the convertible unsecured subordinated 

debentures issued by Universal in October 2007, which have a face value of $90 million. The fair value of the convertible debenture was 

estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of acquisition. This discount will be accreted using an effective 

interest rate of 8%. These instruments mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annual rate 

of 6%, payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year. As at March 31, 2011, each $1,000 principal amount of the $90m 

convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the holder, into 

approximately 30.87 JEGI shares, representing a conversion price of $32.40 per share. Pursuant to the $90m convertible debentures, if JEGI 

fixes a record date for the making of a dividend on its shares, the conversion price shall be adjusted in accordance therewith. 

On and after October 1, 2010, but prior to September 30, 2012, the $90m convertible debentures are redeemable, in whole or in part, at a 

price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole option on not more than 60 days' and 

not less than 30 days' prior notice, provided that the current market price on the date on which notice of redemption is given is not less 

than 125% of the conversion price. On and after September 30, 2012, but prior to the maturity date, the $90m convertible debentures are 

redeemable, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, at Just Energy's sole 

option on not more than 60 days' and not less than 30 days' prior notice. 

NHS financing 

In fiscal 2010, NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement with HTC for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and 

HVAC contracts in the Enbridge Gas distribution territory. On July 16, 2010, the financing arrangement was expanded'to the Union Gas 

territory. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS will receive financing of an amount equal to the net present value of the first five, seven or ten 

years (at its option) of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99%, and is required to remit an amount 

equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, seven or ten years, respectively. 

Under the agreement up to one third of rental agreements may be financed for each of the seven- or ten-year terms. As at March 31, 2011, 

the average term of the HTC funding was 5.4 years. 
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liiindpal ainounl ol llu: 'l,330iii ronvciliblc ilchcnlum:. i:. rouvcilihlc al any lime ptioi lu mahihty 01 on Ihe dale lixed loi mdcuipliun, al 

Ihe nplion of Ihe hnldei, inln appioxiiiwiloly liil.n shaie:. of IliGI, repie:.ciilimj a conueciion piice of $1f! per nnil. 

The !|.330iii eonverlihlc debenluic:; are nol ledeemable pdor lo lime 30. 2013, cxcepl undei rei lain contlilitms allei a diamje of eouliol 

has occurred. On or alter June 30, 2013,1 ml prioi lo lime 30, 201 ll, llic ilebenluie;. may be redeeineil by JEGI, in whole or in pari, on nol 
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conversion pi ice. On or afler June 30, 2015, and prior lo Iho malurily dale, Ihe clehentutes may bo redeeineil by JEGI, in whole or in pail, 

al a redemption price equal lo llic principal amount I hereof, plus no rued and unpaid inleresl. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 

In the normal course of business. Jusl Energy is obligated to make future payments for contracis and oiher cornmilmenis that are known 

and non-cancelable. 

Payments due by period 

(thousands of dollars) 

Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years 4-5 years After 5 ytiars 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities % 282,805 $ 282,805 $ $ $ 
Bank indebtedness 2,314 2,314 - - -
Long-term debt (contractual cash flow) 652.397 94,117 99,099 119,684 339,497 
Interest payments 173,609 45,430 61,282 45,470 21,427 

Property and equipment lease agreements 30,662 8,333 10,955 6,533 .4,841 
EPCOR billing, collections and supply commitments 4,974 4,974 - - -
Grain production contracts 9,181 7,082 2,099 - -
Gas and electricity supply purchase commitments 3,173,789 1,498,293 1,405,699 267,505 2,292 

$4,329,731 $ 1,943,348 $ 1,579,134 $ 439,192 $ 368,057 

Other obligations 

In the opinion of management, Just Energy has no material pending actions, claims or proceedings that have not been included in either 

its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements. In the normal course of business, Just Energy could be subject to certain contingent 

obligations that become payable only.if certain events were to occur. The inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing.and financial impact 

of any events prevents any meaningful measurement, which is.necessary.to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations 

include potential judgments, settlements, fines and other penalties resulting from actions, claims or proceedings. 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES • 

Just Energy does not have any material transactions with any individuals or companies that are not considered independent of Just Energy 
or any of its subsidiaries and/or affiliates. 
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.S'.', 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
I"::*;- ' The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. Certain accounting policies 

j j^lv require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of sales, 

marketing, and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and various other 

]\ assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and changed circumstances 

,tii ' may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 
i*>- • 
ryl'- •' The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. Just Energy might realize different results from the 

^ application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Just Energy to the LDCs. These estimates are 

• stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Just Energy's obligation to the LDC with respect to gas consumed 

by customers in excess of that delivered and valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas business unit only, since 

electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price and the current average 

supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/Deferred revenues 

Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is.valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections from LDCs 

in advance of their consumption results in deferred revenues, which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate is required for the gas 

p £ ' ' business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current average customer contract price 

^fii '. and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

. . Allowance for doubtful accounts 
lift''' 

Just Energy assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of customers' accounts in Alberta, Illinois, Texas, Pennsylvania, California 

iV'^i' and Massachusetts. In addition, for large direct-billed accounts in B.C., New York and Ontariojust Energy is responsible for the bad debt risk. 

NHS has also assumed credit risk for customer accounts within certain territories in Ontario. Management estimates the allowance for 

. doubtful accounts in these markets based on the financial conditions of each jurisdiction, the aging of the receivables, customer and industry 

• concentrations, the current business environment and historical experience. 

i*frt !-
Goodwill 

• In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Just Energy's future cash flow. If the estimates 

change in the future, Just Energy may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment review of goodwill was 

performed as at March 31, 2011, and as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill existed. 
FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

liy'*,', T Just Energy has entered into a variety of derivative financial instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas, electricity and 

- JustGreen supply. Just Energy enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices and provide comfort to 

•HC'' certain customers that a specified amount of energy will be derived from green generation. These customer contracts expose Just Energy to 

^ changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity market price changes, Just Energy uses 

' \Y 1 derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed-price commodity supply to cover its estimated fixed-price delivery or green 

• commitment obligations. 

y.'y. . Just Energy's business model's objeaive is to minimize commodity risk, other than consumption changes, usually attributable to weather. 

Accordingly, it is Just Energy's policy to hedge the estimated fixed-price requirements of its customers with offsetting hedges of natural gas 

and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. The cash flow from these supply contracts is expected to 

' !„•' be effective in offsetting Just Energy's price exposure and serves to fix acquisition costs of gas and electricity to be delivered under the fixed-

price or price-protected customer contracts. Just Energy's policy is not to use derivative instruments for speculative purposes. 

Just Energy's expansion in the U.S. has introduced foreign exchange-related risks. Just Energy enters into foreign exchange forwards in 

^ 'A , order to hedge the exposure to fluctuations in cross border cash flows. 

The financial statements are in compliance with Section 3855 of the C1CA Handbook, which requires a determination of fair value for all 

^ . y : derivative financial instruments. Up to June 30, 2008, the financial statements also applied Section 3865 of the C1CA Handbook, which 

v ^ ' permitted a further calculation for qualified and designated accounting hedges to determine the effective and ineffective portions of the 

hedge. This calculation permitted the change in fair value to be accounted for predominantly in the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive income. As of July 1, 2008, management decided that the increasing complexity and costs of maintaining this accounting 

fgW' treatment outweighed the benefits. This fair value (and when it was applicable, the ineffectiveness) was determined using market 

information at the end of each quarter Management believes Just Energy remains economically hedged operationally across all jurisdictions. 
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i RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

'Ihe lollowiny aie new slaudaids, nol yet in effect, which an: leqiliied lo he atlopted hy Ihe Company cm Ihe elleclive dale: 

j" Business combinations 

j' In October 200ii, the CICA issued Handbook Seclion l!iB2, liusiness Comhlnalions.C'CICA 1582"), concunenlly with CICA 11 at id book 

j Section 1001, Consulidaled Financial Slalemenls {"CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Seclion 1602, Non-conliollinrj lulciesl ("CICA 

i 1G02"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Seclion 1581, liusiness Coinhinaiions, osiablishos standards (or the measurenient of a 

ij business combinalion and Ihe rccorjnilion and measmemenl ol assels actiuired and liabililics assumed, CICA 1601, which replaces CICA 

s Handbook Seclion 1GO0, carries forward the exislinrj Canatlian tjuirlance on aspocls of the preparation of consolidated financial slalemenls 

1 subsequent lo ncquisilion olhcr than non-conlrolliny inlerosls. CICA 1002 establishes cjuidance for llic trealmenl of non-conlrollincj 

interests stibscqueni lo acquisition through a business combination. These new standards are elfcclivc for fiscal years beginning on or afler 

s January 1, 2011. The Company will not adopt the new standards prior lo adopting IFRS as described below. 

\ 
j; International Financial Reporting Standards 

j In February 2008, CICA announced lhat GAAP for publicly accountable enterprises will be replaced by IFRS for fiscal years beginning on or 

I after January 1, 2011 . IFRS uses a conceptual framework similar to GAAP, but there are significant differences in recognition, measurement 

i and disclosures. The conversion to IFRS will impact the way we present our financial results, however, we do not expect IFRS to impact the 

j overall revenue and underlying profitability trends of our operating performance. 
x 
I Just Energy will transition to IFRS effective April 1,2011, and intends lo issue its first interim financial statements under IFRS for the three-

month period ending June 30, 2011, and a complete set of financial statements under IFRS for the year ending March 31, 2012. The first 

! financial statements prepared under IFRS will include numerous notes disclosing extensive transitional information and full disclosure of all 

!; new IFRS accounting policies. 

jl Based on the initial assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS relevant to Just Energy, an internal project team was 

| assembled and a conversion plan was developed in March 2009 to manage the transition to IFRS. Project status reporting is provided to 

; senior executive management and to the Audit Committee on a regular basis. 

| Our project consisted of three phases: IFRS diagnostic assessment, solution development and implementation. The diagnostic phase, which 

was completed in 2009, involved a high-level review and the identification of major accounting differences between current Canadian 

r GAAP and IFRS applicable to Just Energy. Phase 2, the solution development phase, which included the completion of all policy papers, was 

completed and discussed with the external auditors In 2010. The IFRS project team has recently completed the implementation phase, 

which'was the final phase of the project. This phase involved approving the accounting policy choices, completing the collection of data 

i1 required'tO'prepare the financial statements, implementing changes to systems.and business processes relating to financial reporting, 

administering key personnel training and monitoring standards currently being amended by the International Accounting Standards Board 

("IASB"). Just Energy has also analyzed the IFRS financial statement presentation and disclosure requirements. These assessments will 

continue to be analyzed and evaluated throughout the transition to IFRS. 

The areas with the highest quantitative or business system impact to Just Energy include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(AS 16: Property, plant and equipment 

IAS 16 reinforces the requirement under Canadian GAAP that requires each part of property,, plant and equipment that has a cost which is 

significant in relation to the overall cost of the item, be depreciated separately. The Company will adoptithis revised accounting policy with 

respect to the componentization of the ethanol plant on transition to IFRS. The carrying valueof the ethanol plant and corresponding 

depreciation expense will differ upon transition to IFRS. The quantification of the impact is approximately $0.6 million. 
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i ^ ^ ' 1 . . . _ MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

f i ^ MS 36; Impairment of assets 

.p?;'" IAS 36 uses a one-step approach to both testing and measuring impairment, with asset carrying values compared directly to the higher of 

yi'^i. fair value less costs to sell and value in use (which uses discounted future cash flows). Canadian GAAP, however, uses a two-step approach 

T ^ ' - t 0 impairment testing, first comparing asset carrying values with undiscounted future cash flows to determine whether impairment exists, 

w 
OJ:''! '. ' impairment upon transition to IFRS. 

and then measuring any impairment by comparing asset carrying values with fair values. Just Energy.does not expect any material 

impairment upon transition to IFRS. 

||jf: IAS 37: Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Provisions, a re measured at the discounted present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The discounting of significant litigation accruals results in an adjustment of 

i ^ * approximately $0.7 million. 

j^V' IAS 12: Income taxes 

. Other than recording the tax effect of the various other transitional adjustments and the.redassification of certain tax balances, the 

•f^i' " Company does not expect to record any significant tax-related adjustments on the transition to IFRS. 

-jj^ IAS 39: Financial instruments: Recognition and measurement 

j : ^ ; . . . The Company enters into fixed-term contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These customer contracts expose 

f f*. ; the Company to changes in market prices of electricity and gas consumption. To reduce the exposure to movements in commodity prices 

j . , ^ ' _ arising from the acquisition of electricity and gas at floating rates, the Company routinely enters into derivative contracts. Under Canadian 

il l i 'V- GAAP, all supply rontracts are remeasured at fair value at each reporting:date. The requirements for normal purchase and normal sale 

Iwv exemption (own-use exemption) are similar under Canadian GAAP and IFRS; however, several small differences exist. There is no specific 
JIJ* {(>*" 
f t : guidance either in Canadian GAAP or IFRS with respect to eligibility of the own-use exemption of energy supply contracts entered into by 

•jP':.' energy retailers. The Company has concluded that the own-use exemption does not apply and the amounts will continue to be marked to 

^ : market as is the Current practice. 

T IAS 39 also requires that transaaion costs incurred upon initial acquisition of a financial instrument be deferred and amortized into profit 
a n ^ ' o s s o v e r t ' i e ''fe 0 f t ' i e instrument. Initial application of IAS 39 will result in an opening balance sheet adjustment to reduce long-term 

debt on the date of transition. This adjustment of approximately $2.4 million will be offset through opening retained earnings. IAS 39 is to 

<//•. be replaced by IFRs 9 and Just Energy is closely monitoring the exposure draft for any possible impact. 

J'"/7' IFRS 2: Share-based payments 

I'jij- Under IFRS, when stock option awards vest gradually, each tranche is to be considered as a separate award; whereas under Canadian GAAP, 

(•4',jY. the gradually vested tranches are considered as a single award. This will result in expenses relating to share-based payments being 

recognized over the expected term of each vested tranche. IFRS also requires Just Energy to estimate forfeitures up front in the valuation of 

stock options; whereas, under Canadian GAAP, they can be recorded up front or recorded as they occur. Currently, the Company accounts 

for forfeitures as they occur. On transition the adjustment to opening retained earnings is not significant and the impact is approximately 

$0.5 million. 

LV-.K 

Just Energy has analyzed the optional exemptions available under IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting. IFRS 

'^•8?' generally requires an entity to apply standards on a retrospective basis; however, IFRS 1 provides both mandatory exceptions and optional 

exemptions from this general requirement. First-time adoption exemptions relevant to the Company are discussed below. 

?!$'' 
-liv.'V Business Combinations 

| ^ ; Under this exemption, Just Energy may elect not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to past business combinations. The standard may be 

j ? ^ . : prospectively applied from the date of the opening IFRS balance sheet. Just Energy intends to use this exemption. 

1$^. I Share-based payment transactions 

•^ fJv ' J u s t E n e r 9y m a y not elect to apply IFRS 2 to equity instruments that were granted on or before November 7, 2002, or which are vested 

f ^ . - ' before the Company's date of transition to IFRS. Just Energy may also not elert to apply IFRS 2 to liabilities arising from share-based 
r i payment transactions, which settled before the date of transition to IFRS. Just Energy intends to apply these exemptions. 

# • ' 
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piospeclively 110111 Hi'-' dale <\\ Ihe opening IPKS balance sheel. Iu:.l lineujy in lei ills lo iii;e lliir. eXemplion. 

lust liiieu.jy has piepaicd an ll;KS 1 hansilinn nole and lull i.el ol animal linancial slalemenls undei IFRS, which will he disclosed in liscal 20)2. 

We have evalualed Ihe impad of ihe conversion on our acoouniinii syslems. Haserl on Ihe tlifleiences identified lo dale, we believe nur 

systems can accommodale Ihe ie(|uiied chrihtjes. We believe our internal.and disclosure control piocesses will nol need siriniliranl 

modifications as a ie:.ull ol our transiiiou lo li:US. We have assessed ihe impact!, of adoplion on our debt covonanis and other coniraclual 

arrangements, and have nol ideniified any malerial compliance issues. 

Just Energy continues lo evaluate Ihe impacls of currenl and.piospedivo IFR.S on all ol our business aclivilies, incliidiiuj those of our 

subsidiaries and the impact on our entily-witlc inlormaiion system. 

RISK FACTORS 
Described below are the principal risks and unceilainlies lhat Jusl Energy can foresee. It is nol an exhaustive lisi, as some future risks may 

be as yet unknown and other risks, currently regarded as immaterial, could turn out to be malerial. 

CREDIT, COMMODITY AND OTHER MARKET RELATED RISKS 

Availability of supply 

The risk of supply default is mitigated through credit and supply diversity arrangements. The Just Energy business model is based on 

contracting for supply to lock in margin. There is a risk that counterparties could not deliver due to business failure, supply shortage or be 

otherwise unable to perform their obligations under their agrccmenls wilh Just Energy, or that Just Energy could nol identify alternatives lo 

existing counterparties. Just Energy continues to invesligate opportunities to identify or secure additional gas suppliers and eiectricily 

suppliers. Just Energy's commodity contracts are predominantly with Shell,.BP, Bruce Power, Constellation, Soci6t6 Gen&rale, EDF Trading 

North America, LLC, National Bank of Canada and CP Energy Marketing.(formerly and also known as EPCOR Merchant and Capital). Other 

suppliers represent less than 5% of commodity supply. 

Volatility of commodity prices - enforcement 

A key risk to Just Energy's business model is a sudden and significant drop in the market price of gas or electricity resulting in some 

customers renouncing their contracts. Just Energy may encounter difficulty or political resistance for enforcement of liquidated damages 

and/or enactment of force majeure provisions in such a situation and be exposed to spot prices with a material adverse impact to cash flow. 

Continual monitoring of margin and exposure allows management of Just Energy time to adjust strategies, pricing and communications to 

mitigate this risk, 

Availability of credit 

In several of the markets in which Just Energy operates, payment is provided by LDCs only when the customer has paid for the consumed 

commodity (rather than when the commodity is delivered). Also, in some markets. Just Energy must inject gas inventory into storage in 

advance of payment. These factors, along with the seasonality of customer consumption, create working capital requirements necessitating 

the use of Just Energy's available credit. In addition, some of Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates are required to provide credit assurance, 

by means of providing guarantees or posting collateral, in connection with commodity supply contracts, license obligations and obligations 

owed to certain LDCs. Cash flow could be impacted by the ability of Just Energy to fund such requirements or to provide other satisfactory 

credit assurance for such,obligations. To mitigate credit availability risk and its potential impact to cash flows, Just Energy has security 

arrangements ih place pursuant to which commodity suppliers.and the lenders under, the Credit Facility hold security over substantially all of 

the assets of Just Energy (other than AESLP, NEC and TGF). AESLP, in turn, has similar arrangements in place solely with EPCOR. Other 

commodity suppliers' security requirements are met through cash margining, guarantees and.letters of credit. The most significant assets of 

Just Energy consist of its contracts with customers, which may not be suitable as security for some creditors and commodity'suppliers. To 

date, the Credit Facility and related security agreements have met the collateral posting and operational requirements of the business. Just 

Energy continues to monitor its credit and security requirements. Just Energy's business may be adversely affected if it is unable to meet 

cash obligations for operational requirements or its collateral posting requirements. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular instrument or 

commodity. Although Just Energy manages its estimated customer requirements, net of contracted commodity to zero, it is exposed to 

market risks associated with commodity prices and market volatility where estimated customer requirements do not match actual customer 

requirements or where it has not been able to.exactly.purchase the estimated customer requirements. Just Energy is also exposed to interest 

rates associated with its credit facility and foreign currency exchange rates associated with the repatriation of U.S. dollar denominated funds 

for Canadian dollar denominated distributions. Just Energy's exposure to market risk is affected by a number of factors, including accuracy 

of estimation of customer commodity requirements, commodity prices, volatility and liquidity of markets, and the absolute and relative 

levels of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Just Energy enters into derivative instruments in order to manage exposures to 

changes in commodity prices.and foreign currency rates; current exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of 

derivative instruments. The derivative instruments that are used are designed to fix the price of supply for estimated customer commodity 

demand and thereby fix margins such that the payment of dividends to shareholders can be appropriately established. Derivative 

instruments are generally transacted over the counter. The inability or failure of Just Energy to manage and monitor the above market risks 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Market risk governance 

Just Energy has adopted a corporate-wide Risk Management Policy governing its market risk management and any derivative trading 

activities. An internal Risk Committee, consisting of senior officers of Just Energy, monitors company-wide energy risk management 

activities as well as foreign exchange and interest rate activities. There is also a Risk Committee of the Board that oversees management. 

The Risk Office and the internal Risk Committee monitor the results and ensure compliance with the Risk Management Policy. The Risk 

Office is responsible for ensuring that Just Energy manages the market, credit and operational risks within limitations imposed by the Board 

of Directors in accordance with its Risk Management Policy. Market risks are monitored by the Risk Office and internal Risk Committee 

utilizing industry accepted mark to market techniques and analytical methodologies in addition to company-specific measures. The Risk 

Office operates and reports independently of the traders. The failure or inability of Just Energy to comply with and monitor its Risk 

Management Policy could have an adverse effect on the operations and cash.flow of Just Energy. 

Energy trading inherent risks 

Energy trading subjects Just Energy to some inherent risks associated with future contractual commitments, including market and 

operational risks, counterparty credit risk, product location differences, market liquidity and volatility. There is continuous monitoring and 

reporting of the valuation of identified risks to the internal Risk Committee, Executive Committee and the Risk Committee of the Board<of 

Directors. The failure or inability of Just Energy to monitor and address the energy trading inherent risks could have a material adverse effect 

on its operations and cash flow. 

Customer credit risk 

In Alberta, Pennsylvania, Massachusetts, California, Texas and Illinois, credit review processes have been implemented to manage customer 

default as Just Energy has credit risk in these markets. The processes are also applied to commercial customers in all of Just Energy's 

jurisdictions. In addition, there is a Credit Policy that has been established to govern these processes. If a significant number of residential 

customers or a collection of larger commercial customers for which Just Energy has the credit risk were to default on their payments, It 

could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its 

margin expectations for all customers in these markets and for commercial customers where Just Energy has that credifrisk. 

For the remaining customers, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's customers 

for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There is no assurance that the 

LDCs that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual obligations. 

This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy replacing contracted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting the related customer 

margin or replacing contracted foreign exchange at prevailing market rates impacting the related Canadian dollar denominated cash flows. 

Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exception to these limits requires approval from the Board.of 

Directors of JEGI. The Risk Office and internal Risk,Committee monitor current and potential credit exposure to individual counterparties 

and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. The failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a 

material adverse effect on the operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 
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Natural gas supply - balancing risk 

II is Jusl liiiaicjy's policy lo piocure Ihe.cslimaled fja:;'ie(|iiiiciiicnls ul its ciislomcis wi lh ul lsel l ing gas derivatives in advance ol oblaiuinrj 

(.uslnmers. Depondini) un several faclors incluclinij weal her, Jusl tinergy's cuslomers may use mnje 01 less gas l l ian l l ic volume purchased 

by Jusl linertjy kir deliveiy lo litem. Jusl l-nenjy does nol invoice ils nalural gas cuslomers lor balancing and, accordingly, bears Ihe risk ol 

l l i iclualion in customer consntiipliou. lusl liiicitjy monilors yas tonsumjil ion and actively manages forecast differences in customer 

consumplion due to weal her varialions as well as forecast LDC balancing rcfjiiircmeuls. l b the extent lhal forecasl balancing icquiremenls 

aie beyond iniiial esliniaics, Jusl lineryy will hear financiny responsibility, be exposed lo markel risk and, furihermore, may also be exposed 

In.penalties, by Hie I.DCs. The inability or failure of Jusl lineryy lo manage and monilor ihese lialancing risks could have a matciial adverse 

effeel on its operations and cash flow. Jusl lineryy has developed a policy of entering into wealhor-rolaled derivalive contracis which arc 

inUnKiotl lo reduce margin volalility in situations of materially higher or lower than forecast consumer consumplion. In addition, for cei lain 

commercial customers, Just linergy bears the risk of fluctuation in customer consumpHon.Just Energy monilors consumption and has a 

balancing and pricing strategy to accommodate for the estimated associated cosls. 

JustGreen - ba lanc ing risk 

It is Jusl Energy's policy to procure the estimated carbon offsets or renewable energy requirements of its cuslomers in advance of obtaining the 

customers. The balcincing risk associated with this product is different in that there is no ulility reconciliation of the requirements and public 

perception of the product is a more significant risk. The Risk Management Policy requires that there be no shorl posilionsTor this product and 

management ensures that there is an independent review performed annually of the maich of purchased supply to committed delivery. 

OPERATIONAL RISKS 

Informat ion techno logy systems 

Just Energy operates in a high volume business with an extensive array of data interchanges and markel requirements. Just Energy is 

dependent on its management information systems to track, monitor and correct or otherwise verify a high volume of data to ensure the 

reported financial results are accurate. Management also relies on its management information systems to provide its independent 

contractors with compensation information, provide its brokers with pricing and compensation information and to-electronically record each 

customer telephone interaction. Just Energy's information systems also help management forecast new customer enrollments and their 

energy requirements, which helps ensure that Just Energy is able to supply its new customers' estimated average energy requirements 

without exposing the Company to the spot market beyond the risk tolerances established by the Risk Management Policy. The failure of Just 

Energy to install and maintain these systems could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash f low of Just Energy. 

Reliance on th i rd party service providers 

In most jurisdictions in which Just Energy operates, the LDCs currently perform.billing and collection services. In some areas, Just Energy is 

required to invoice and receive payments directly from its customers; in others, Just Energy is responsible for collection of'defaulted amounts; in 

others, Just Energy is required to invoice and receive payments from certain commercial customers; and in others. Just Energy is responsible for 

collection of defaulted amounts. If the LDCs cease to perform these services. Just Energy would have to seek a third party billing provider or 

develop, interna I systems to perform these functions. There is no assurance that the LDCswil l continue to provide these services in the .future. 

Outsourc ing arrangements $ 

Just Energy has outsource arrangements to support the call centre's requirements for business continuity plans and independence for 

regulatory purposes, billing.and settlement arrangements for certain jurisdictions and operation support for its multi-level marketing efforts. 

Contract data input is also outsourced as is some business continuity and disaster recovery. As.with any contractual relationship, there are 

inherent risks to be mitigated and these.are actively managed, predominantly through quality control measures and regular reporting. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Competition 

A number of companies (including Direct Energy, Reliant, Superior Energy, Constellation, NewEnergy, FirstEnergy Solutions and Sempra 

Energy Solutions) and incumbent utility subsidiaries compete with Just Energy in the residential, commercial and small industrial market. It is 

possible that new entrants may enter the market as marketers and compete directly for the customer base that Just Energy targets, slowing 

or reducing its market share. If the LDCs are permitted by changes in the current regulatory framework to sell natural gas at prices other 

than cost, their existing customer bases could provide them with a significant competitive advantage. This may limit the number of 

customers available for marketers including Just Energy. 

' ' i , ' * ' Dependence on independent sales contractors and brokers 

. Just Energy must retain qualified independent sales contractors to conduct its door-to-door sales as well as brokers and inside salespeople to 

market to commercial customers despite competition for these sales professionals from Just Energy's competitors. If Just Energy is unable to 

attract a sufficient number of independent sales contractors or brokers. Just Energy's customer additions and renewals may decrease and 

. ;' the Company may not be able to execute its business strategy. The continued growth-of Just Energy is reliant on distribution channels, 

including the services of its independent sales contractors.and brokers. There can be no assurance that competitive conditions will allow 

jf- ' these independent contractors and brokers, who are not employees of Just Energy or its affiliates, to achieve these customer additions. 

». Lack of success in these marketing programs would limit future growth of the cash flow of Just Energy. 

' '•' Just Energy has consistently taken the position that its independent sales contractors act independently pursuant to their contracts for 

service, which provide that Just Energy does not control how, where or when they provide their services. On occasion, an independent 

contractor may make a claim that they are entitled to employee benefits pursuant to legislation even though they have entered into a 

' contract with Just Energy that provides that they are not entitled to benefits normally available to employees and Just Energy must respond 

"if,' • to these claims. Just Energy's position has been confirmed by regulatory bodies in many instances, but some of these decisions are under 

appeal. Should regulatory bodies be ultimately successful, Just Energy would be required to remit unpaid tax.amounts plus interest and 

might be assessed a penalty. It could.also mean that Just Energy would have to reassess its position in respect of other regulatory matters 

affecting its independent sales contractors, such as income tax treatment. Such a decision could have a material adverse effect on the 

operations and cash flow of Just Energy. 

Electricity and gas contract renewals and attrition rates 

As at.March 31, 2011, Just Energy held long-term electricity and gas contracts reflecting approximately 3,308,000 long-term RCEs andthe 

renewal schedule for the contracts is noted on page 32. In fiscal 2011, Just Energy experienced.contract attrition rates of approximately 

10% in Canada and 23% in the U.S. for gas with rates of 10% and 17% being .realized for Canada and the U.S., respectively, for electricity. 

Management forecasts using a combination of experienced and expected attrition per year, however there can be no assurance that these 

rates of annual attrition will not increase in the future or that Just Energy will be able to renew its existing electricity and gas contracts at 

the expiry of their terms. Changes in customer behaviour, government regulation or increased competition may affect (potentially adversely) 

attrition and renewal rates in the future, and these changes could adversely impact the future cash flow of Just Energy. See page 32 for 

"'*' further discussion on "Failed to renew".Just Energy's fiscal 2011 experience was that approximately 65% and 73% of its Canadian and 

U.S. gas customers, respectively, and 61 % and 66% of its Canadian and U.S. electricity customers, respectively, have renewed at the expiry 

of the term of their contract. 

Cash dividends are not guaranteed 

The ability to pay dividends and the actual amount of dividends will depend upon numerous factors, including profitability, fluctuations in 

* v •/ working capital, debt sen/ice requirements (including compliance with Credit Facility obligations), the sustalnabillty of margins, the ability of 

.tC-i.- Just Energy to procure, at favourable prices, its estimated commitment to supply natural gas and electricity to its customers, the ability of 

^ , Just Energy to secure additional gas and electricity contracts and other factors beyond the control of Just Energy. Management of Just 

z • Energy cannot make any assurances that the Company's affiliates will be able to pass any additional costs arising from legislative changes 

(or any amendments) on to customers. Cash dividends are not guaranteed and will fluctuate with the performance of the Company's 

affiliates and other factors. 
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M o d e l risk 
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moilelinri crrnr IJO undelecled in Ihe vcllinti process. 

Commodi ty alternatives 

To Ihe exlenl lhat natural ijas and eleclricily enjoy a price advanlaye ovei other loi in:; of eneujy, such pi ice advanlatje may be tiansiloiy 

and.consumers may swilch to the use o l anolher lo im of energy. 'Ihe inhoreiil volalilily ol nalural gas and elecliicity prices could result in 

ihese oilier sources ol energy providiny more significant cnmpelil ion lo Just l-neiyy. 

Capi tal asset and replacement risk 

'Ihe retail business does not invest in a significant capital asset program, however the waler healer liusiness and ihe •ethanol plant are •more 

capital-inlensive businesses. The risk associated wilh water healer replacement is considered minimal as there are several suppliers ol high 

elliciency tanks lo source replacements and, individually, ihe units are not material. The risk associated with Ihe capital assets of the ethanol 

plant are more significant as parts are not siaudard, components have a significant value associated and capital asset replacements could 

significantly impact operations during periods of upgrade or repair. Management monitors this risk in the ethanol business to ensure 

continuity of operations as demonstrated through the recenl hammer mill project lhat replaced the roller mill technology, 

Credi t facil it ies and other debt ar rangements 

The credit facility maintained by Jusl Energy Onlario L.P and JEUSC is in the amount of $350 million. The lenders under such credit facility 

together with certain of the suppliers of Just Energy and ils affiliates are parties to an intercreditor agreement and related security 

agreements which provide for a joint securily interest over all customer conlracts (except for those owned by AESLP). There are various 

covenants pursuant to the credit facility that govern Ihe activities of Just Energy and ils subsidiaries and affiliates. The borrowers are 

required lo submit monthly reports addressing, among other things, mark to markel exposure, their borrowing base and a supply/demand 

projection. To date, Just.Energy's subsidiaries have met the requirements of the credit facility; however, should those subsidiaries default 

under the credit facility, il becomes unavailable and could have a significant material adverse effect on the business of those subsidiaries 

and on the results of operations and financial performance of Just Energy if it is nol able lo obtain other financing on satisfactory terms. 

TGF also has a credit facility of up to $50 million and a debenture.purchase agreement providing for the issuance of up to $40 million 

associated with the Belle Plaine facility. Security for these facilities includes a first priority security interest on all assets and undertaking of 

TGF. These facilities include certain financial covenants. The debenture holders also agreed to defer certain principal payments during fiscal 

2011. In addition, there was a term loan for $10 million, which was repaid at December 31, 2010, and a working capital operating line of 

$7 million. There is a risk that these credit facilities, including the debenture purchase agreement, may not continue to be available on the 

same terms or at all given the compliance issues that TGF has previously experienced and the inability of TGF and the lender and debenture 

holders to reach an agreement regarding the financial covenants for fiscal 2012, which could result in the Belle Plaine facility ceasing to * 

operate and a loss of the security pledged by TGF as security for advances under such credit facilities. 

NHS has also.entered into a long-term financing agreement with respect to the installation of water heaters {see page 40 for more 

information). In the event this financing became unavailable, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company's home services business. 

Disruptions to infrastructure 

Customers are reliant upon the LDCs to deliver their contracted commodity. LDCs are reliant upon the continuing availability of the 

distribution infrastructure. Any disruptions in this infrastructure would result in counterparties and thereafter Just Energy enacting the force 

majeure clauses of their contracts. Under such severe circumstances there would be no revenue or associated cost of sales to report for the 

affected areas. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

Expansion strategy and future acquisitions 

The Company.plans to grow its business by expansion into additional deregulated markets through organic growth and acquisitions. The 

expansion into additional markets is subject to a number of risks, any of which could prevent the Company from realizing its business strategy. 

v^ ; V Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any one of which could harm the Company's business, including difficulties in integrating the 

l^v;'^'- operations, technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting processes and personnel of the target and realizing the anticipated 

•' synergies of the combined businesses; difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any,.or assets of the target company may 

exceed the value the Company realizes, or the value it could have realized if it had allocated the purchase price or other resources to 

another opportunity; risks of entering new markets or areas in which Just Energy has limited or no experience or are outside its core 

competencies; potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either Just Energy's current business or the business 

of the target; assumption of unanticipated-problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality of the products of the target; and 

inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs. 

Future acquisitions or expansion could result in the incurrence of additional debt and related interest expense, as well as unforeseen 

liabilities, all of which could have a material adverse effect on business, results of operations and financial condition. The failure to 

successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or otherwise adequately address the risks associated with acquisitions could have a material 

adverse effect on Just Energy's business, results of operations and financial condition. Just Energy may require additional financing should 

an appropriate acquisition be identified and it may not have access to the funding required for the expansion of Its business or such funding 

may not be available to Just Energy on acceptable terms. There is no assurance that Just Energy will determine to pursue any acquisition or 

that such an opportunity, if pursued, will be successful. 

jjjf.f" . LEGAL, REGULATORY AND SECURITIES RISKS 

Legislative and regulatory environment 

Just Energy operates in the highly regulated natural gas and electricity retail sales industry in all of its jurisdictions. It must comply with the 

, legislation and regulations in these jurisdictions in order to maintain its licensed status and to continue its operations. There is potential for 

change to this legislation and these regulatory measures that may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy's business model. As part 

of doing business door-to-door, Just Energy receives complaints from consumers which may involve sanctions from regulatory and legal 

authorities including those which issue marketing licenses. Similarly, changes to consumer protection legislation in those provinces and 

1; states where Just Energy markets to non-commercial customers may, favourably or unfavourably, impact Just Energy's business model. 

Just Energy has a dedicated team.of imhouse regulatory advisors to ensure adequate knowledge of the legislation and regulations in order 

that operations may be advised of regulations pursuant to which procedures are required to be implemented and monitored to maintain 

license status. When new markets are entered, the team assesses the market and determines if additional expertise (internal or external) is 

required. There is also a team that monitors and addresses complaints with a view to mitigating underlying causes of complaints. 

. ' In addition to the litigation referenced herein and occurring in the ordinary course of business, Just Energy may in the future be subject to 

. class actions, other litigation and other actions arising in relation to its consumer contracts and marketing practices. See the "Legal 

. proceedings" section on page 53 of this report. This litigation is, and any such additional litigation could be, time consuming and expensive 

j. •. '; and could distract our executive team from the conduct of Just Energy's daily business. The adverse resolution or reputatlonal damage of 

<' any specific lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on our ability to favourably resolve other lawsuits and on the Company's financial 

i^; . condition and liquidity. 
' - ?'' 

^ The Company may issue additional shares, diluting existing shareholders' interests 

"if" The Company may issue additional common shares and up to 50,000,000 preferred shares without the approval of shareholders. 

§"': 
•"VW Financial markets 

• j ^ ; Significant events or volatility in the financial markets could result in the lack of {i} sufficient capital to absorb the impact of unexpected 

ttt losses and/or (ii) sufficient.liquidity or financing to fund operations and strategic initiatives. Furthermore, significant volatility in exchange 

tp* . ; rates and interest rates could have an adverse impact on product pricing, gross margins and net interest expense. In addition, inappropriate 

. _ hedging strategies for mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and equity exposures could cause a significant impact on earnings. 

:<•:" 
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TGI :'*. (luiKiiidiMK.o on conimoi.lity prices 

I CM":, 11".i ill'; nl n| inalinir;, linai ii.inl | inr.ilinii and I nr.inc:.:. ni i l l i»i l ; an.' snli'aanli.illy ilrprndi.'nt nn i:niinni»lily pile nr., jeii'illy piit >>:. Ii u 

wheal, naluial 'i.T,, nlhannl and dis l i lh: , ' r|i;iiii:„ I'lkn:. Im H K : : * lioiiiinoililie:; an: (jc'iicially Mil i jcd Ki :.i(|nilir,'inl vnlalilily ainl iiiii;i:il.'iinly, 

A:, a i CM ill, 'U tl1':. ICMIII:; may l lur lnal i : :;iili:,laiilially, and I G l : may expniiencn pciiud:. nl ileclinii n.i piii'ns loi TGI-':; piudtn.l:. and im ii:a:.iiii) 

m:,!:; Un''I Gl 1 ':. raw maleiial:;, which i milif n::;uli in ni ic ial imi kiv.iu:;. TGI-' may al tempi I" " l l se l a pott inn nl l lu: cllec'l:; n| Mich lli iclualion:; 

hy eulei imi inln loi waul conliacl:; lo supply eihaiml m lo piii(.lia:.i: wheal , nalural IJ.'I:; nt nlhei ileiu:. ui hy umjayiiiii in olln:i heili jlmj 

liviMVicliaii:;, liowew.'i; iltc ,'imnun! :nid cUiwilhin of /Itc.-.e li(:J(/ii»j and nlhei ih.k inil ' i i j i i lhii -•KJIiwiii.1:; may v/iiy.'-uhNl.'inijalJy tm:i limv. In 

adili l ion, Ihese aclivilies involve taihsianlial cosl:; and stihsiauliaf lisks and may he iuelleclive In milii jale lln.'Se lliiclualion::. 

IMhanol is maifcefer/ hoi l ; ;r, a litel additive lo leduce vehicle emission:; Irom ijasoline and as an oclatie enhancer ui impruve Ihr: oclane 

lalinri of tiasoliiie wi lh whicli it is blended. As a lesull, elhannl [irices are inlluenced by Lln: suj)|)ly and deinaml lor fjasoline'fwliich is itself 

iiillueticed liy l ln: supply and ilemand (or crude oil). 

TGF's dependence on federa l and provincial legis lat ion and regu la t ion 

Vaiious laws, reijulaliniis and prtxiiam:; ol I he Uniletl Slates letlcral governmenl and cerlain provincial and stale governments are inlended 

lo lead lo increased use ol elhanol in gasoline. Tor example, cerlain existinr) and proposed laws, regulaibns and programs provide (or if 

implemented will provide) eronomic incenlives to elhanol producers and users, however, existing and proposed laws may be influenced by 

those who believe thai the use of ethanol does not create l l ic benefits stifjgeslcd by proponents of increased ethanol usage. These exisling 

and proposed laws, rerjulalions and programs are conslanily changing. In both the U.S. and Canada legislators and environmental 

rcyulators could adopl or modify exisling or proposed laws, regulations or programs that could adversely affect the use of ethanol. There 

can be no assurance that extstinrj laws, regulations or programs will continue in l l ic future, or lhat proposed laws, regulations or programs 

will be adopted or iinplementcd as currently anticipated or al all. In addition, certain jurisdictional governments may oppose Ihe use of 

ethanol because those jurisdictions might have lo acquire ethanol from other jurisdictions, which could increase gasoline prices in those 

jurisdictions. 

Env i ronmenta l , heal th and safety laws, regulat ions and l iabil i t ies 

TGF owns the land on which it has built the Belle Plaine facility. TGF is subject to various federal, provincial and local environmental laws 

and regulations, including those relating to the discharge of materials into the air, water and ground, the generation, storage, handling, 

use, transportation and disposal of hazardous materials, and the health and safety of TGF's employees. These laws and regulations require 

TGF to maintain and comply with numerous environmental permits to operate its Belle Plaine facility. These laws,- regulations and permits 

can often require expensive-pollution control equipment or operational changes to limit actual or potential impacts on the environment. A 

violation of these laws, regulations or permit conditions or contamination to Ihe land or neighbouring lands can result in substantial fines, 

natural resource damages, criminal sanctions, permit revocations, litigation and/or facility shutdowns. In addition, new laws, new 

interpretations of existing laws, increased governmental enforcement of environmental laws or other developments could require TGF to 

make additional significant expenditures. Continued.government and public emphasis on environmental issues may result in increased 

future investments for environmental controls at the Belle Plaine Facility. 

The hazards and risks associated with producing and transporting TGF's products (such as fires, natural disasters, explosions, and abnormal 

pressures and blowouts) may also result in personal injury claims by employees, third parties or damage to property owned by TGF or by 

third parties. As protection against operating hazards, TGF maintains insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential losses. 

However, TGF could sustain losses for uninsurable or uninsured events, or in amounts in excess of existingJnsurance coverage. 

Technological advances 

TGF expects that technological advances in the processes and procedures for processing ethanol will continue to occur, tt is possible that 

those advances could make the processes and procedures that TGF intends to utilize at the Belle Plaine facility less efficient or obsolete, or 

cause the.ethanoi TGF intends to produce to be of a lesser quality. These advances could also allow TGF's.competitors to produce ethanol at 

a lower cost than TGF. If TGF is.unable to adopt or incorporate technological advances, TGF's ethanol production methods and processes 

could be less efficient than those of its competitors, which could cause the Belle Plaine facility to become less competitive. 

In addition, alternative fuels, additives and oxygenates are continually under development. Alternative fuel additives that can replace 

ethanol may be developed, which may decrease the demand for ethanol. It Is also possible that technological advances in engine and jjf 

exhaust system design and performance could reduce the use of oxygenates, which would lower the demand for ethanol, in which case * 

TGF's business, results of operations and financial condition may be materially adversely affected. 
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\> MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

* 
>ya> , 
p;^'',' Social or technological changes affecting the water heater market 

^ jj'- Within Canada, the Ontario marketplace is unique in that the vast majority of homeowners rent their water heaters; however, there can be 

H^t;' no assurance that NHS's customers will continue to rent their water heaters. It is also possible that more economical or efficient water 

r j ^ i y ' h e a t i n g technology than that which is currently used by customers will be developed or that the economic conditions in which the current 

3>fr" technology is applied will change resulting in a reduction in the number of installed water heaters. 
Hi" .'»• 

^ v , 1 The Canadian water heater rental market is primarily limited to the Province of Ontario. A prolonged downturn in the Ontario economy and 

a corresponding slowdown in new home construction could have an adverse effect on the demand for additional water heaters in Ontario 
f - j l ' Concentration of water heater suppliers and product faults 

Although there are a number of manufacturers of water heaters, NHS relies principally on GSW Inc. ("GSW") for its supply of water heaters. 

"fyi^.j Should this supplier fail to deliver in a timely manner, delays or disruptions in the supply and installation of water heaters could result. 

.»V ̂  

.-^v In addition, different water heater manufacturers may, from time to time, source components from the same manufacturers for use in their 

4-^... water heaters. As a result, a parts defect relating to a commonly sourced component could affect water heaters produced by more than 

' ' j^ i • one manufacturer. Although NHS maintains what it believes to be suitable product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that NHS 

^ • '̂  will be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or that any such insurance will provide adequate protection against potential 

j-^fl ' liabilities, including with respect to product recalls. 

; ' 'i 
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

Ij'j-rj Just Energy's subsidiaries are party to a number of legal proceedings. Just Energy believes that each proceeding constitutes a routine legal 

^ matter incidental to the buslness.conducted by Just Energy and that the ultimate disposition of the proceedings will not have a material 

4 v adverse effect on its consolidated earnings, cash flows or financial position. 

0 $ . In addition to the routine legal proceedings of Just Energy, the State of California has filed a number of complaints to the Federal Energy 

p'i, Regulatory Commission {"FERC") against many suppliers of electricity, including Commerce with respect to.events stemming from the 2001 

energy crisis in California. Pursuant to the complaints, the State of California is challenging the FERC's enforcement of its market-based rate 

r^'i •' system. Although CEI did not own.generation facilities, the State of California is claiming that CEI was unjustly enriched by the run-up in 

charges caused by the alleged market manipulation of other market participants. On March 18, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge in the 

'j^'*' • matter granted a motion to strike the claim for all parties in one of the complaints, holding that California did not prove that the reporting 

errors masked the accumulation of market power. California has appealed the decision. CEI continues to vigorously contest this matter and 

. '̂t it is not expected to have a material impact on the financial condition of the Company. 

I^t CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

liQv Disclosure controls and procedures 

m:: • Except for the limitation on scope of design of disclosure controls and procedures as noted below. Just Energy maintains appropriate 

-t;'̂  '. information systems, procedures and controls to ensure that information disclosed externally is complete, reliable and timely. Just Energy's 

ij1! Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer evaluated, or caused an evaluation under their direct supervision of, the design and 

p ' , operating effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures {as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of 

! _'{>' Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings) as at March 31, 2011, and have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures 

<}A were appropriately designed and were operating effectively. 

Internal control over financial reporting 

| , s ^ Except for the limitation on scope of the internal controls over financial reporting as noted below, Just Energy has established adequate 

; ^ J ' internal controls over financial reporting to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of its financial reporting and the 

preparation of the financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Just Energy's Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

. / ^ Financial Officer assessed, or caused an assessment under their direct supervision of, the design and operating effectiveness of its internal 

jH^v controls over financial reporting (as defined in National Instrument 52-109, Certification of Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Interim Filings) 

as at March 31, 2011, using the Internal Control over Financial Reporting - Guidance for Smaller Public Companies published by The 

1̂ 4)], Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on the assessment it was concluded that Just Energy's 

gf™ internal controls over financial reporting were appropriately designed and were operating effectively. 

M 
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Itiuviili.' .'ilr.dluli: :I:,MUVIII(.I: lhal all on i l in l iM.m::,, iiii:lii(liui|;in!;laii{c:; ul ham I, il aiiy/havu hei.n i lelnclei l . llu.'M: iiiln.'fnnl liniilalinir; 

iiu lutl«', an mm | nil mi iirni:;; (i) lhal manaijoiiifnirs ..•i:.::iiiii|)lii»ii:. anil jiiilijuu.'nl:, cnulrl ullinialcly imivi: In he iufnuei:! uinlei vaiyiiiij 

i:i)i H 111 im i:; am I cin uni'.laiK i;;;; (ii) lln.' ini|ia(.l nl any unrinli.'i.li.'il i.'inn:;; ami (iii) lhal < nnl ml:; may he i.in'uinvimleil hy Ihe i mat ill ini i /ed ads 

nl iinlivi'liial:;, hy i.nllm.inn ul Iwn ni mute |>en|ile, m hy maiiai|eii ienl nvetiiile. 

Ihe ile:;i(|ii nl any sys/cm ni canUob i:. al:;n liaiieil in | iail u|ioii {.eiiaiu assiimplioii:; abuii l ihe likelihnoil n| luluie eveni:;, ami I lieu: can be 

im ai.Mnance lhal any desiijn will succeed in acliievimj ils slaleil (joals undi:i all pnletil ial luluie f IMIIlilions. 

Changes in internal control over f inancial repor t ing 

Iheie have' been no i hamjes in lusl l inenj/s policies and pioceilures lhal cominise ils iniernal cnnliol over linancial lepoi l imj lhal have 

malehally alfecled, or are ieasr>ii.ilily likely lo maleiialiy a i l e d , Ihe Company':, iulemal cuiilioliovet linancial lepoi l iug rliiting Ihe yeai 

ended March 31, 2011, 

L imi tat ion on scope of design 

Seclion 3.3(1) ol National Inslrumenl 52-109, Ccrlification ol Disclosure in Issuer's Annual and Inlerirn Pilings, stales lhal Just Pnergy may 

limit ils design.ol disclosure conlrols and procedures and internal conlrols over financial reporting for a business lhal il acquiied nol more 

than 3GL) days before Ihe end of Ihe (inancial period lo which the cerlificale relates. Under Ibis seclion, Just Pneiyy's Chief fixeailive Officer 

and Chief financial Officer have limiled the scope.of ihe design,.and subsequent evaluation, of disclosure controls and proceduics and 

.iniernal conlrols over financial reporting to exclude conlrols, policies and procedures o l Ihe Pludson subsidiaries acquired on May 1, 2010. 

Summary financial inforrnalion pertaining lo the Hudson acquisition that was included in the consolidated linancial slalemenls of the Company 

for the 11 months ended March 31, 2011, is,as follows: 

(thousDnds of dollars) 

Sales' $ 654,802 

Nel income' 5,670 

Current assets 123,322 

Non-current assets 293,967 \ )\ 

Current liabilities 114,578 

Non-currenl liabilities 20,544 _ !. tl 

1 Results from May 1. 2010 to March 31. 2011. 

Just Energy, as part of the acquisition of the above noted subsidiary, acquired commitments to office leases in the amount of SI .4 million ^ | 

which have been included in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Corpora te governance . 

Just Energy is committed to transparency in our operations and our approach to governance meets all recommended standards. Full disclosure 

of our compliance with existing corporate governance rules is available on our website at www.justenergy.com and is included in Just Energy's 

May 20, 2011, management information circular. Just Energy actively monitors the corporate governance and disclosure environment tOiensure 

timely compliance with current and future requirements. 

O U T L O O K 

Fiscal 2011 saw the continued benefit of Just Energy's ongoing diversification beyond its core business of five-year fixed rate residential 

gas and.electricity. Sales to this core customer group have faced very difficult market conditions during the past two years, with very stable 

low commodity prices limiting the attraction of a fixed price product both for new customers and renewals. As this situation became clear, 

Just Energy management took a number of steps intended to use new products and markets to provide growth that would'not otherwise 

be available. > 

Foremost among these diversifications is the expansion of Just Energy's commercial offerings through the acquisition of Hudson and the 

expansion of the Company's in-house commercial sales capability. The result is a second consecutive year of record.gross and net new 

customer additions with the majority of these coming from the commercial division. Going forward, the Company will continue to broaden 

its product offering with more flexible terms for both residential and commercial customers. The availability of shorter-term contracts and 

variable and/or fixed rate blended options added to existing JustGreen offerings will broaden the base of potential customers for Just Energy 

and ease renewals at contract end. 
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ft. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

-V-u? The short-term impact of these diversifications can be seen in gross customer additions, which were 999,000 (excluding those acquired with 

Hudson), up 98% from the previous record of 505,000 in fiscal 2010. This strong growth was combined with improvements in customer 
VMS, • 

!(4i,"' _ attrition leading to net additions through marketing of 361,000, up 395% from 73,000 in fiscal 2010. Commercial customers are currently 

approximately 40% of Just Energy's base, and management expects this to increase to 50% over time. Commercial customers are typically 

-;;<-/ .- subject to less weather volatility than residential customers. This may translate into more predictable results from the natural gas book. Also, 

commercial customers do not ordinarily move, reducing overall attrition, and making balancing of the supply book less complex. 

fl?,*'' New product offerings and further geographic expansion will also contribute to growth in the coming years..A major product will be the 

-' JustClean offering, which results in comparable margins per RCE to traditional residential customer contracts, can be offered in all states 

pi'W and provinces and is not dependent on energy deregulation. Early response to JustClean has been very positive and product rollout across 

North America is expected in the coming fiscal year. 

Geographic expansion is expected in the coming year into Pennsylvania, Saskatchewan.and two new utility territories in New York. Equally 

important will be an expansion of the very successful Hudson broker network. Broadening this commercial footprint to existing. Just Energy 

. , markets will be a major contributor to growth in fiscal 2012. Recently developed telemarketing and Internet sales as well as the Momentis 

Jp'-i ' network marketing unit are further diversifications of the Company's sales platform, which should also contribute to'growth. 

The year also saw improved operations and growth in the Home Services and Ethanol divisions. These product line diversifications are now 

beginning to contribute to current EBITDA as well as future growth. The coming year will see the addition of Hudson Solar, a solar project 

development platform, which has begun operations in New Jersey. Just Energy continues to monitor opportunities to enhance growth by 

^''^ adding related products to its offering to customers. 

>.,;/,r Management has, in past years, provided guidance on growth expected for the coming fiscal year. For fiscal 2012, management expects 

^ '•; I growth of approximately 5% per share in gross margin and Adjusted EBITDA. Customer growth should exceed these levels but the shift 

toward lower aggregation cost/lower margin commercial customers will result in a lower relative growth of margin. Management 

^k, anticipates that accelerated deductibility of Hudson solar capital expenditures combined with tax planning for Canadian operations should 

''"i" ' result in a cash tax expenditure for fiscal 2012 very similar to that of fiscal 2011. 

S\ 
1 . Just Energy's recent growth has been, and will continue to be, predominantly in U.S. markets. The decline in the U.S. dollar versus the 

Canadian has had an adverse impact on the reported results of Just Energy. The 7% decline in the U.S. annual exchange rates seen year 

..f over year reduced reported gross margin by $16.3 million.and distributable cash by $10.6 million. It is expected that sales, margins and 

ij-'* •' distributable cash will be subject to more volatility during times of currency fluctuations. U.S. cross border cash flow is forecasted annually, 

and hedges for cross border cash flow are entered into. Just Energy hedges between 25% and 90% of the next 12 months' cross border 

cash flows depending on the level of certainty of the cash flows. 
i'l'V Just Energy margins were reduced by $35 million in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2011 due to balancing cost and utility financial 

reconciliations related to the record warm winter of 2009-10. In an attempt to reduce exposure to further weather.variance, management 

'K^S has increased the usage of weather options as part of the overall hedge positions. The impact of this will be to increase margins toward 

expected levels when weather-related consumption declines and reduce margins toward expected levels when weather-related 

':. consumption is high. The existence of these options had a small adverse effect on gross margin in the fourth quarter but the longer-term 

pj*" result of the policy should be more stable, predictable operating results. 

j ^ ' , Just Energy has partnered on a power-purchase-agreement basis with a number of green energy projects and plans to enter into more such 

A • partnerships concentrated in jurisdictions where the Company has an established customer base. Just Energy continues to monitor the 

progress.of the deregulated markets in various jurisdictions, which may create the opportunity for further geographic expansion. 

So 

4>. 
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

'Ihr: aauniiKiiiyiiiij cimsnliitalcd linancial Malmnniil:. nl lu:.l lincrriy (.iimiji Inc. and all the1 inlounalinii in Ihis; 

n::,pnii:.i|iiliiy ni uianaiicninnt anil have hncti apiiroved hy iln» Huanl ol niiecloi:.. 
al n:pi)i I an: 

I IK: consolidali.'d linancial Malemnnls have l)i:i:ii im.'pamd hy uiaiunjenierii in aci mdanci: wilh C'niadian. Generally Accepted Arc out 11 inr j 

I'linriiiles, The consnlidaled linancial i.lalemenl:. inclutle some amount!; lhat are based nn eMimalevand jurlrimenls. Mauaiiement ha:; 

cleleimliied such aniounls nn a reasonable basis in order lo ensure lhat Hit: cnnsolidaled linancial slalemenls aie ptesenled laiily, in all 

malerial respects. Financial iiilomialiou presenled i.'lsewheii: in Ihis annual lepot l has been piepated on a consistent basis willi lhal in Ihe 

consnlidaled linancial slalemenls. 

Jusl l-nertjy Group Inc. maintains systems of iniernal accounliiuj and adminislralive conlrols. These systems are deskjiiated lo provide 

reasonable assurance lhat ihe financial information is relevant, reliable and accurale and that Ihe Company assels are properly accounled 

for and adequaiely safcr]uarded. 

The Hoard of Direclors is responsible for ensurinrj lhat manarjemenl fulfills its responsibilities for financial repot linrj and is ullimalely 

responsible for rcviewincj and approving Ihe consolidated financial stalomenls. 'Ihe Hoard carries oul this responsihilily principally Ihroutjh 

its Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Hoard of Directors and is comprised entirely of non-management direclors. The Audit Comtnillee 

meets periodically with management and the external auditors, lo discuss auditing, internal controls, accouniinc] policy and financial 

reporting matters. The committee reviews the consolidated financial statements wilh bolh management and the external auditors and 

reports ils findings.lo the Board of Directors.before such slalemenls are approved by the Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, in accordance.with Canadian 

generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit 

Committee, with.and without the presence of management, to discuss their audit and their findings as to the integrity of the financial 

reporting and the effectiveness of the system of internal controls. 

On behalf of Just Energy Group Inc. 

Ken Hartwick 

Chief Executive Officer and President 
Beth Summers 

Chief Financial Officer 

1 
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m INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

iffl}'" '' ^ 0 ^ Shareholders of Just Energy Group Inc. 

f r 
ffi 

% 

I? 

i 

w 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group inc., which comprise the consolidated balance 

sheet as at March 31, 2011 and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' deficiency, comprehensive income and cash flows 

for the year then ended, and a summary of significant.accounting policies and'Other explanatory information. 

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

ta'A. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
'I ' ' 
i j ^ / ' Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

W : ' AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those .standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 

:J|'/r • misstatement. ;&:.';• 
| f p ' An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal 

control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 

' that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 

7*"' We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
IJ. , 

^ . OPINION 

M ' • In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Just Energy Group Inc. as 

j ^ i at March 31, 2011 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting principles. 

OTHER MATTERS 

The consolidated financial statements of Just Energy Group Inc. for the yearended March 31, 2010 were audited by another firm of 

•(' chartered accountants who expressed an unmodified opinion on those consolidated statements on May 19, 2010. 

1; 
t 

Toronto, Canada, Chartered Accountants, 

May 19, 2011. Licensed Public Accountants 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
A: :>l M.iu Ii '! I 

(llu iu:::i!iif:- nl Oiii:iili;in tlolUi:.) 

ASSI-'IS 
OJimiiNI 

Ca:.li 
Ki.'shic.ii.'il o'i:;li fM 
Accnitnt:; K^eivahli: 
Unhilli.-tl icvcuvw 
Arcriioil fj.'rt Jctcivnlik' 
G;\'.; (tolivorc'd in cxci':.:. nl aiiiMtnitilion 
Gfi:. in sloivigc 
Invciilory (Ndv 'J) 
I'mpnid (!X|)[.'n:.(.'S ami dcpnsils 
CuirwH portion of fuluit: income lax asset:; (Naif: I a) 
Coiporale tax iccovorablo 
Olhcr assets - curienl (Nviv M.I) 

FUTURE INCOME TAX ASSETS (Note 10) 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Nttiu 7) 
CONTRACT INITIATION COSTS 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Note 8) 
GOODWILL 
LONG-TERM RECEIVABLE 
OTHER ASSETS - LONG-TERM (Note Un) 

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT 

Bank indebtedness 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Unit distribution payable 
Corporate taxes payable 
Current portion of future income tax liabilities (Wore 10) 
Deferred revenue 
Accrued gas accounts payable 
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 9) 
Other liabilities - current (Note 14a) 

LONG-TERM DEBT (Wore 9) 
FUTURE INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Note 10) 
DEFERRED LEASE INDUCEMENTS 
OTHER LIABILITIES - LONG-TERM fWofe 14a) 

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
Deficit 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 11) 

Unitholders' capital (Note 12) 
Shareholders' capital (Note U) 
Equity component of convertible debenture (Wore 9e) 
Contributed surplus fNote 13d; 

Shareholders' deficiency 
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Rebecca MacDonald, Executive Chair 
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Michael Kirby, Corporate Director 

2011 Win 

$ 97,633 1 CO, 132 
833 UUHiO 

281,685 232,579 
125,122. 74,045 
26,535 20,793 
3,-181 7,410 
6,133 4,058 
6,906 0,323 
6,079 20^038 

36,375 29,139 
9,135 
3,846 . 2,703 

603,763 475,870 
85,899 85,197 

234,906 21 7,223 
29;654 5,587 

413,035 342,022 
211,434 1 77,887 

4,569 2,014 
5,384 5,027 

$ 1,588,644 $ 1,310,827 

$ 2,314 $ 8,236 
282,805 184,682 

- 13,182 
9,788 6,410 

13,216 6,776 
- 7,202 

19,353 15,093 
94,117 62,829 

485,406 685,200 

906,999 989,610 
507,460 231,837 

2,657 -
1,622 1,984 

355,412 590,572 

1,774,150 1,814,003 

. 20,603 

$(1,063,179) $(1,423,698) 
123,804 221,969 

(939,375) (1,201,729) 
- 659,118 

697,052 -
33,914 -
22,903 18,832 

,(185,506) (523,779) 

$ 1,588,644 $ 1,310,827 

Guarantees (Note 18) Commitments (Note 19) Contingencies (Note 20) Subsequent events (Note'24) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Approved on behalf of Just Energy Group Inc. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the years ended March 3 7 

(thousands of Canadian dollars, except per sfiare amounis) 

SALES 

COST OF SALES 

GROSS MARGIN 

EXPENSES 

General and administrative expenses 

Marketing expenses 

Bad debt expense 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Share-based compensation 

Capital tax expense 

INCOME BEFORE THE UNDERNOTED 
INTEREST EXPENSE (Note 9) 

CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS (Note Ma) 

OTHER INCOME 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 

PROVISION FOR (RECOVERY OF) INCOME TAXES (Note W) 
NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

NET INCOME 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Net income per share/unit (Wore 16) 

Basic 

Diluted 

2011 2010 

$ 2,953,192 $ 2,299,231 

2,470,989 1,883,898 

482,203 415,333 

109,407 88,423 

133,607 95,760 

27,650 17,940 

120,841 60,951 

5,698 5,494 

5,509 4,754 

188 522 

402,900 273,844 

79,303 141,489 

50,437 16,134 

(509,401) 1,282 

(7,235) (3,515) 

545,502 127,588 

32,142 (100,260) 

(1,987) (3,648) 

$ 515,347 $ 231,496 

$ ' 3.81 $ 1.81 

$ 3.73 $ 1.79 

in • 

jfl'-J 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIENCY 
Im the yt:'ir. i •inli >il M.m h .'! I 

(lliniKtlitl', al Giit.itlhil ihilhl::) 

ACGUMULATI ID I-.AHNINGS (DEFIGIT) 

Af.f'umultilcd Hdlicil, hi.'ijinniinj.iif yuar 

Nel income 

A C C U M U L A T E D GAININGS (DEFICIT), END OF Y E A R 

DISTRIBUTIONS A N D DIVIDENDS 

Distdliulions m d clivicleuds, hefjinniucj of year 

Dislribuiions and dividciuls 

Class A preference share disiiibniions - nel u l income taxes of 1.1,305 ( 2 0 1 0 - $2,501) 

Distr ibut ions f ind dividends, end of year 

DEFICIT 

A C C U M U L A T E D OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Note i I) 

Accumulaled oil ier comprehensive income, heginnincj of year 

Other comprehensive loss 

Accumu la ted other comprehensive income, e n d o f year 

SHAREHOLDERS' /UNITHOLDERS' CAPITAL (Nolo 12) 

Shareholders' capital, beginning of year 

Shares exchanged 

Shares issued on exercise/exchange of share compensation 

Shares issued 

Distribution reinvestment plan 

Exchangeable Shares issued 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged 

ShareholdersVUni tho lders ' capi ta l , end of year 

EQUITY COMPONENT OF CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURE (Note9e) 

CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS (Wore 13d) 

Shareholders ' deficiency, end of year 

2011 2U)il 

$ ('180,931) 1. ('/12,427) 

515,317 231,490 

31,416 mv.oi) 

(912,767) (757,850) 

(151,782) (179,839) 

(3,046) (5,078) 

(1,097,595) 042,707) 

(1,063,179) (1,423,698) 

221,969 364,566 

(98,165) (142,597) 

123,804 221,969 

659,118 398,454 

23,231 187,063 

1,559 682 

10,328 -

26,047 20,036 

- 239,946 

(23,231) (187,063) 

697,052 659,118 

33,914 -

22,903 18,832 

$ (185,506) $ (523,779) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

NET INCOME 

Unrealized gain on translation of self-sustaining operations 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain of discontinued hedges, net of income taxes 

of $21,384 (2010 - $34,339) (Note 14a) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2011 2010 

$ 515,347 $ 231,496 
334 26,626 

(98,499) (169,223) 

(98,165) (142,597) 

$ 417,182 $ 88,899 

• 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of Canadian dollars) 

••'ft 

Net inflow (outflow) of cash related to the following activities 

OPERATING 

Net income 

Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of intangible assets and related supply contracts 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 

Amortization of contract initiation costs 

Share-based compensation 

Non-controlling interest 

Future income taxes 

Financing charges, non-cash portion 

Other 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 

Adjustments required to reflect net-cash receipts from gas sales (More 21) 

Net change in non-cash working capital (Note 22) 

Cash inflow from operating activities 

FINANCING 

Distributions and dividends paid 

Distributions to Class A preference shareholder 

Tax impact on distributions to Class A preference shareholder 

lncrease/(decrease) in bank indebtedness 

Issuance of long-term debt 

Repayment of long-term debt 

Debt issuance costs 

Funding from minority interest holder of TGF 

Restricted cash 

Cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities 

INVESTING 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 

Purchase of other intangible assets 

Acquisitions (Wore 5) 

Proceeds from long-term receivable 

Contract initiation costs 

Cash outflow from investing activities 

Effect of foreign currency translation on cash balances 

NET CASH INFLOW 
CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 

CASH, END OF YEAR 

Supplemental cash f low information 

Interest paid 

Income taxes paid 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

2011 2010 

515,347 S 231,496 

120,841 60,951 

5,698 ' 5,494 

12,429 -
5,509 4,754 

(1,987) (3,648) 

22,655 (122,014) 

6,151 902 
16,056 4,030 

(509,401) 1,282 

(322,049) (48,249) 

(1,725) 10,549 

(38,213) (35,523) 

153,360 158,273 

(138,796) (1 57,495) 

(4,896) (7,580) 

1,305 2,501 
(5,922) 8,236 

484,844 243,797 

(148,292) (207,493) 
(2,157) -

- 1,500 

17,793 626 

203,879 (115,908) 

(36,641) (41.207) 
(2,555) (6,348) 

(262,673) 9,799 
2,232 290 

(19,210) -

(318,847) (37,466) 

(891) (3,861) 

37,501 1,038 
60,132 59,094 

97,633 $ 60,132 

39,167 

8,651 
14,621 

27,886 

it ' ' 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
/V./ ilia yt.'.-u aihi'.-'I M.m.li 31, ?MI I 

(IhniKunl;, nl C'liwiilun ilfilhi:'. cxtj'/it whan: inilic'ilail .'milpai •Juna ninotint:;) 

NOTE 3(i) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1 

HUH. i ORGANIZATION 

1:11 cdivc I, un i.'ii y 1, 'M H , IjiL'Mjy coiniilclcil llic ( OIIVCII.ILIM I nun nn inci mic lni:;l (In:.! Ihicu.ty ItiCninc l:ui nl (I IK: "I in id")) 

in ,i cuiiinialirin (lln: "Onivctstfin") |IUIMI.'INI In a plan ol anangcmcnl appiovcd l>y unillioldci:. on lime V.O, 2010, and by llic 

Albeila Cnml ol llic Queen':, liendi on June ;){), 2(110 .'mil <)olnf| lorwatd, opcialc:. undei llu: name, In-,I lineniy f/imiip Inc. 

("JliGI", "Ju1;) lincujy" or "llic Company"). II[GI wa:; a newly incoipornled culily Im Ihe |)iiipn:.c nl ac(|uinii[j llic oiilslnndimi 

uiiils ol Ihe Piinil. cxcliaiKjcahlc shares ol lusl Lnenjy l-xcliauf|C' Corp ("JIIHC") and Ihe Class A I'lclercnce Shares ol lusl lincujy 

Corp (".MiC") on a one-lor-one basis (or ("ommnn shams of JIIGI. There was no clianije in Ihe ownc/sliifi of ihe business' and 

llierelore, lliore is no impac;! lo Ihe consolidated linancial slalemenls excepl lor ihe eliminalion ol unilholclers' er|iiily and the 

iccorrliny ol shareholders' cquiiy in ihe same amount. 

Jusl l-neujy is a corporal ion eslablisherl under the laws nl Canada to hold secuiilies and lo rlislrihule the income of its direclly or 

indirectly owned operating subsidiai ies and affilialcs: Just Eneryy Ontado L.I'., Jusl l-ncrgy Maniioba I..P., Jusl Energy Quebec I.,p., $ 

Jusl linergy (B.C.) Limiled Partnership, Jusl Energy Alberla L.P., Albcrla Energy Savinrj:; L.I'. ("AESLP"), Jusl Energy Illinois Corp., ^ 

Jusl linergy New York Corp., Jusl linergy Indiana Corp., Just Energy Texas L.P., Just Energy Massachuseils Corp., Just Energy 

Michigan Corp., Just Energy Pennsylvania Corp., Universal Energy Corporation, Commerce Energy Inc. ("CommercQ" or "CEI"), 

National Energy Corp. (which operates under the trade name of National Home Services ("NHS")), Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

and Hudson Energy Canada Corp. ("Hudson" or "I IES"), Momentis Canada Corp. and Momentis U.S. Corp. (collectively, 

"Momentis"), Terra Grain Puels, Inc. ("TGE"), and Hudson.Energy Solar Corp. 

NOTE 2 OPERATIONS 

Jusl Energy's business primarily involves the sale of nalural gas and/or electricity lo residential and commercial customers under 

long-term fixed-price, price-protected or variable-priced contracts and green energy products. By fixing the price of natural gas or 

electricity under its fixed-price or price-protected program contracts for a period of up to five years, Just Energy's customers offset 

their exposure to changes in the price of these essential commodities. Just Energy, which commenced business in 1997, derives ils 

margin or gross profit from the difference between the price at which it is able to sell the commodities to its cuslomers and the 

price at which it purchases the associated volumes from its suppliers. Just Energy also offers green products through its JustGreen 

program. The JustGreen electricity product offers the customer the option of having all or a portion of their electricity sourced 

from renewable green sources such as wind, run of the river hydro or biomass. The JustGreen gas product offers carbon offset 

credits, which will allow the customer to reduce or eliminate the carbon footprint of their home or business. Management 

believes that the JustGreen products will not only add to profits but also increase sales receptivity and improve renewal rates. 

In addition, through NHS, Just Energy sells and^rents high.efficiency and tankless water heaters and other heating, ventilating 

and air conditioning ("HVAC") products. TGF, an ethanol producer, operates a wheat-based ethanol facility in Belle Plaine, 

Saskatchewan. Just Energy indirectly acquired Hudson, effective May 1, 2010, a marketer of natural gas and electricity that 

primarily sells to commercial customers. 

.3 
(a) Principles of consolidation ^ 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 

("GAAP"), and include the accounts of Just Energy and its directly or indirectly owned subsidiaries and affiliates. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 

All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are considered to 

be cash equivalents. p 

(c) Accrued gas receivable/accrued gas accounts payable or gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 

Accrued gas receivables are stated at estimated realizable value and result when customers consume more gas than has been 

delivered by Just Energy to local distribution companies ("LDCs"). Accrued gas accounts payable represents the obligation to the 

LDCs with respect to gas consumed by customers.in excess of that delivered to the LDCs. 

Gas delivered to LDCs.in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and net.realizable value. Collections 

from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 
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*j£f .• NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
fir 
| » 
{p< • Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months customers will have consumed more than what was delivered 

fjyt. resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer months customers will have 

consumed less than what was delivered, resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues. 

&v These adjustments are applicable solely to the Ontario, Manitoba, Quebec and Michigan gas markets. 

?.r • 
(d) Gas in storage f r̂ _ Gas in storage primarily represents the gas delivered to the LDCs in the States of Illinois, Indiana, New York, Ohio and California, 

j^'' The balance will fluctuate as gas is injected or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through November 

and withdrawals occur from December through March. 

if 

In addition, a portion of the gas in storage relates to operations in the Province of Alberta. In Alberta, there is a month to month 

carryover, which represents the difference between the gas delivered to the LDC within a month and customer consumption. 

The delivery volumes in the following month are adjusted accordingly. 

Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

(e) Inventory 

Inventory consists of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners as well as ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory. 

Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined 

on a weighted average basis. Ethanol, ethanol in process and grain inventory are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable 

value with cost being determined on a weighted average basis. 

\k (f> Property, plant and equipment 
p Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less.accumulated amortization. Cost for water heaters, furnaces and air 

conditioners includes the cost of installation. 

Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, with the half year rule applied to additions, as follows: 

t. Asset Basis Rate 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20% 

Office equipment Declining balance 20% 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30% 

Water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners Straight line 15 years 

i Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease 

•v' Vehicles Straight line 5 years 

L" Ethanol plant and equipment Straight line 25 years 

Building Straight line 39 years 

(g) Goodwill 

Goodwill is the residual amount that results when the purchase price of an acquired business exceeds the sum of the amounts 
j • 

allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired, less liabilities assumed, based on their fair values. Goodwill is allocated as 

of the date of the business combination of the Company's reporting subsidiaries that are expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the business combination. 

(V',' Goodwill is not amortized however; it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently If events or changes in circumstances 

jf -,. indicate that the asset might be impaired. The impairment test is carried out in two steps: in the first step, the carrying amount of the 

reporting unit including goodwill is compared with its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit including, goodwill exceeds its 

ijji" Carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered to be impaired and the second step of the impairment test is unnecessary. 

"Hie second step is carried out when the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, in which case the implied fair value 

of the reporting unit's goodwill is compared with its carrying amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, If any. The 

implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business combination. 

(h) Gas contracts and customer relationships 

Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the acquisition of 

various gas contracts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life of up to 

pi: ̂  five years on a straight line basis which.approximates the life of the assets. 

(i) Electricity contracts and customer relationships 
pSe Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Just Energy on the 

acquisition of various electricity' contracts and expected renewals. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated 

^tl-'i remaining life of up to six years on a straight line basis which approximates the life of the assets, 
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(|) W/tttir hoa lc r i.unli.'K.ls ami a i s l nmur ru la t ionshi in 

W a i t "i I n.'.'ili.'i 11 Ji i l i . t ' . l : : i'-| iK.viriil lln.* I.iii v . i lm : "I icnl . ' i l i m ih.'n'l:, o n I IK ; ;H:I |i ti'.ilii 111 i il va i tn ic . w . i l f i l i c ' i l c t 11 n ih.'n 1:. a m i 

iixpi'i Icil miinwaK. ' H U M : Miiiuar:!:; am n|i(:raliiii| li:a:;i::i ami an- aminii/i. ' i l nvci ilii'h avi'iviijc c'.itmaii-d nMii.-iiiiiini liii: nl M|> 

UI I ;i year; mi a Miaitjlif Iim: l;.'i,'.'i:i whit Ii a|jj)ii)xiiiia|i::i llu: li i i: nl the a:.M:l:;, 

(k) Impairinent of long- l ived assets 

lusl Uieii jy leview:. lonij-live'tl assels, which imJodc piopeily, planl and eqii ipmenl, i:.miliac:l inilialinn cosls ami inlaiigihle assel:; 

wi lh linlli: lives, whenever events nr changes iu ciicuiuslance:. indicale lhal ihe cauying amminl of ihe ai.sel may nol he 

lecuveiahlc. Hi.'cnveivihilily nl assels In he held and user! is measuicd by a cumpaiisun (il Ihecauying amoiml of an assel lo Ihe 

cslimaled uiidivcounU'd hiltne ca-.h Hows expeded lo he generaied by Ihe assel, ihroiigh use and evenlual dispnsiliun. Il llie 

cauyiiKj amounl nl an assel exceeds ils eslimaled future cash Hows, an impairmeul chaige is ieror|ui/eil foi I he amounl by which 

l lu: cir iying amounl ol the assel exceeds ihe lair value of Hit: assel. 

(i) O ther assets (liabilities) - current / long-term, change in fair va lue of der ivat ive instruments and 

o ther comprehensive income (loss) 

Jusl lineujy's various derivalive iiislruments have been accounled for using Ihe Canadian Insliluie ol Chnrlered Accounlanls 

("CICA") Handbook Section :l8r>!3, Hnancial Inst rumen is •- llecognilion and Measummenl. liffecllve July 1, 2008, Jusl t-nergy 

ceased Ihe ulilizaiion ol hedge accounting. In accordance with CICA Handbook Seclion 3865,1 lodges, Jusl linergy is amortizing 

Ihe accumulated gains and losses lo June 30, 2008, from other comprehensive income in Hie same period in which Ihr: original 

heclgccMlern affects the Consolidated Slalemenls ol Operations. No retrospective restatement is requiied for this.change. The 

derivatives are measured.at fair value and booked lo the consolidated balance sheets. Effective July 1, 2008, all changes in fair 

value between periods are booked to change in fair value of derivative inslruments on Ihe consolidated statements of operations. 

Just Energy enters into contracis wi lh the intent of moderating its exposure to risks affecting the cost of sales for fixed-price 

electricity and JustGreen electricity sales. The contracts include fixed-for-floating eleclricily swap contracis and physical forward 

contracts, unforced capacity contracis, heat rale swap contracts, heat rate options, renewable energy certificates, and financial 

and physical forward gas contracts (to fulfill obligations under the heat rale swaps) with electricity and natural gas suppliers. 

These swaps and forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Seclion 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed-price gas and JustGreen gas contracts by entering into a 

combination of physical gas forwards, financial gas forwards, physical transportation forwards, carbon offset contracts and option 

contracts. Physical gas forwards and transportation forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855. 

Option contracts and financial gas forwards are accounted for in accordance with CICA Handbook. Section 3855. 

Just Energy enters into hedges for its foreign exchange risk relating to its anticipated repatriation of U.S. dollar denominated 

currency by entering into foreign'exchange forward contracts with its lender. Just Energy accounts for these forward contracts in 

accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3855 by recording them on the consolidated balance sheets as either other assets or 

other liabilities measured at fair value, with changes.in fair value booked to change in fair value of derivative instruments. 

(m) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments are classified into a defined category, namely, heid-for-trading financial assets or financial liabilities, heid-to-

maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-for-sale financial assets, or other financial liabilities. Financial instruments are 

included on Just Energy's consolidated balance sheets and measured at fair value, except for loans and receivables, held-to-

maturity financial assets and other financial liabilities which are measured.at cost or amortized cost. Financial assets and financial 

liabilities.have been initially remeasured.as at April 1, 2009 to take into account the.appropriate credit risk and counterparty credit 

risk (see Note 13c). Gains and losses on held-for-trading financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in net earnings in 

the period in which they arise. Unrealized gains and losses, including those related to changes in foreign exchange rates on 

available-fof-sale financial assets, are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss until the financial asset is derecognized 

or determined to be impaired, at which time.any unrealized gains or losses are recorded in net earnings. Transaction costs other 

than those related to financial instruments classified as held-for-trading, which are expensed as incurred, are amortized using the 

effective interest method. The following classifications have been applied: 

• cash and restricted cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair value; 

• accounts receivable and unbilled revenues are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured at amortized cost; and 

• long-term debt, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, unit distribution payable and bank indebtedness are classified as 

other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. 

Financial Instruments measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are based on.a hierarchy that reflects the significance 

of the inputs used in the fair value measurements. The fair value hierarchy is disclosed in note 13 of the .financial statements. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Electricity: 

Just Energy has entered into contracts with customers to provide electricity and renewable energy at fixed prices ("customer 

electricity contracts"). Customer electricity contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes 

' at fixed prices. The customer electricity contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of electricity, renewable energy 

_ v_ certificates and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition of electricity 

' and renewable energy certificates at floating rates, Just Energy uses electricity derivative contracts ("electricity derivative 

contracts"). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed-for-floating swaps, physical electricity forward contracts, unforced 

^ capacity contracts, renewable energy certificates or a combination of heat rate swaps, heat rate options and physical or financial 

forward gas contracts. 

Just Energy agrees to exchange the difference betweenrthe variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of 

electricity for a specified time frame in the fixed-for-floating contract arrangements. Just Energy takes title to the renewable 

' i ' energy certificate volumes to satisfy customer contracts. Just Energy takes title to electricity and unforced capacity at a fixed price 

, v for scheduling into the power grid under the forward contracts. Just Energy agrees to pay for certain quantities of power based 

on the floating price of natural gas under heat rate swaps. In order to cover the floating price of gas under these arrangements, 

prices for gas are fixed through either physical or financial forward gas contracts with a protertion against weather variation 

j . achieved through the purchase of heat rate options. These contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the 

'- ^ electricity price exposure. 

The premiums and settlements for these derivative instruments are recognized in cost of sales, when incurred. 

''jf The fair value of the electricity derivative contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets with changes in the fair value 

being recorded in change in fair value of derivative instruments on the consolidated statements of operations. 

y.. Gas: 
•t Just Energy has entered Into contracts with customers to provide gas and carbon offsets at fixed prices {"customer gas 

contracts"). Customer gas contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable volumes at fixed prices. 

, i. The customer gas contracts expose Just Energy to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce its exposure to 

' J movements in commodity prices and usage, Just Energy uses carbon offset, options and gas physical and financial contracts 
; ' ("gas supply contracts"). These gas supply contracts are expected to be effective as economic hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Just Energy uses physical forwards, carbon offset transportation forwards (together "physical gas supply contracts") and other gas 

t financial instruments to fix the price of its gas'supply. Under the physical gas supply contracts, Just Energy agrees to pay a 

specified price per volume of gas or transportation. Other financial instruments are comprised of financial puts and calls that fix 

, \,, the price of gas in jurisdictions where Just Energy has scheduling responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk 

on volumes above or below its base supply. 

The fair value of physical gas contracts is recorded in the consolidated balance sheets with changes in the fair value being 

' • r e c o r d e d in change in fair value of derivative instruments.on the consolidated statements of operations. 
{••i i>. 

Foreign exchange: 
To reduce its exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates. Just Energy uses foreign exchange forwards ("foreign exchange 
contracts"). These derivative financial instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as either other assets or other 

{"'H;, liabilities measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized in income as change in fair value of derivative instruments, 
'ii. 

il, 

(n) Revenue recognition 

Just Energy delivers gas and/or electricity to end-use customers who have entered into long-term fixed-price contracts. Revenue is 

recognized when the commodity is consumed by the end-use customer or sold to third parties. The Company assumes credit risk 

ih Illinois, Alberta, Texas, Pennsylvania, Maryland, Massachusetts and California, and for large volume customers in British 

jji! Columbia and Ontario. In these markets, the Company ensures that credit review processes are in place prior to commodity 

j-'f.. flowing to the customer. 

Just Energy recognizes revenue upon delivery to customers at terminals or other locations for ethanol and dried distillers' grain. 

m 

Just Energy recognizes revenue from the monthly rental of water heaters, furnaces and air conditioners commencing from the 

installation date. 
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ini.uin.'d I'xri'ii] ;\;, t\\;< IOM.'II hdow: 

CiHiimissioti:. M:laii.'i| In nl itainiiifi ai ul n:i icwimj Mudsoi i cni.lonini n niii/ii.l:. an."| iaiil in nun n| 11 ic'lnllowini) w/iys; /ill in pai lially 

H|i lionl oi .a:, a ini.iiinal paynu'iil ovci llu: lilc ol the (.onli/icl. II llic cm unit:,:.ion is paid all 01 p/nli/illy up lion!, il i:, ji.'cnji|i:il a;, 

lohli.icl inilialinn ctv,.!';, and .imnsli/ed in maikclini) iixpunscsuvct ll«: lemi (in whicli llu: as^.oi.i/ilcd invcmie i:; earned. Il llic » 

i {iiniiiissiim is paid as a lesidual p/iymciil, llu: amen ml is expoiiM:!! as c/u ncd. 

In /ifldilinn, (oinii lission'; mlalcd lo ohl/iinii ir| cusiomci contr/ich, Mijucd uiiili:i' NMS .11 c ten in led /is cunli/icl ini I ial ion coi.l:; /ind 

amnrli/ed in m/nkcliinj cxpcn',,cs nvcf llic lemainiiK) lile uf Ihe cnnli/icl, 

(11) Foreign currency translation 

Tin: opemlions nl .lusl i-nergy's US-based stibs'uliaiies ate scll-sic.l/iiniug ripetalious. Accoidingly, llic /issels and liabililics.nl 

Inmirjn sitbsidi/iries /ue lr;inslalctl inln C/m/idi/m doll/us .al llic rale ol exchange al llie cousolidalcd balance sheet dales. Ueveiiues 

and expenses are lianslated .'il Ihe average rale ol exchange lor llic period. The resulting gains .and losses /ire accumulaled as a 

component ol Shareliolders' equity williin A0C1. 

(tt) Per common share amounts 

The computalicm of income per common share is based on lite wciyltlefl.avei'atje number of sluues oulsUmding duiincj the year. 

Dilulcd earnings per share is computed in a similar way to basic earnings per share except lhal Ihe vveigliled average shares 

outstanding are increased to include additional shares assuming the exorcise of options, restricted share grants and deferred 

rcslrictod share grants, and conversion o( convertible cfebentures, if dilutive. 

(0 Share-based compensation plans 

The Company accounts for all of its share-based compensation awards using the fair value based method. 

Awards are valued al the grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of llie underlying shares and 

other measurement assumplions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an expense and a 

credit to contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards with performance 

conditions is recognized based on management's best estimate of whether the performance condition will be achieved. 

When options, restricted share grants ("RSGs") and deferred share grants ("DSGs") are exercised or exchanged; the amounts 

previously credited to contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Shareholders' capital. The amounl of cash, if any, received 

from participants is also credited to Shareholders' capllal. 

(s) Employee future benefits 

Just Energy established a long-term incentive plan (the "Plan") for the permanent full time and part time,employees (working 

more than 20 hours per week) in Canada. The Plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan ("DPSP") and an 

Employee Profit Sharing Plan ("EPSP"). For participants of the DPSF^ Just Energy contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 

2% per annum of an employee's base earnings. For the EPSP, Just Energy contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per Ji 

annum of an employee's base earnings towards the.purchase of common shares of Just Energy, on a matching one for one basis. 1% 

For the U.S. employees, Just Energy has established a 401{k) plan to provide employees the potential'for future financial security 

for retirement. Employees may participate in the 401 (k) plan subject to all the terms and conditions of the plan. They may join the 

plan on the first of any month, once they have completed six months of employment. The 401 (k) savings plan is an employer 

matching plan. Just Energy will match an amount up to 4% of their base earnings. Employees may contribute from 1 % to 25% 

of their total salary with Just Energy on a beforehand basis with a 2011 calendar year maximum of $17. 

Participation in either plan in Canada or the U.S. is voluntary. The Plan has a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of 

the Plan's effective date and the employee's starting date. During the year. Just Energy contributed $1,572 (2010-$1,095) to 

both plans, which-was paid in full during the year and recognized as an expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(t) Exchangeable Securities 

Just Energy followed the recommendations of the Emerging issues Committee relating to the presentation of exchangeable 

securities, which includes the Class A preference shares, issued by subsidiaries of income funds. The recommendations require that 

the exchangeable securities issued by a subsidiary of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheets of the 

income fund as a part of shareholders' capital if the following criteria have been met: 

• the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitled to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to 
distributions received on units of the income fund; and 

• the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the passage of 
fixed periods of time.or the non-transferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first exchanging them for 
units of the income fund. 

The exchangeable shares and Class A preference shares met these criteria and were classified as Unitholders' capital for the year 

ended March 31, 2010. All distributions paid to JEEC shareholders were included in Unitholders' capital. All distributions paid to 

the Class A preference shareholder were in Unitholders' capital, net of tax. The management incentive program, which is a bonus 

equal to the dividend amount received by a Shareholder, is additional compensation to senior management of JEC, a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Just Energy. 

As a result of the Conversion to a corporation, the exchangeable shares of JEEC and Class A preference shares were converted 

into 3,794,154 and 5,263,738 common shares, respectively. 

(u) Use of estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with Canadian GAAP, requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results 

could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates include 

allowance for doubtful accounts, estimate of the useful life and estimated fair value of property, plant and equipment and 

impairments thereon, valuation of goodwill and intangibles and the impairment thereon, valuation allowances for future tax 

assets, the determination of the fair values of financial instruments, as the aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time 

estimates only and should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the supply contracts, and the 

determination.of share-based compensation. 

(v) Income taxes 

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, income tax liabilities and assets are 

recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary'differences between the carrying value of the assets 

and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases, using substantively enacted income tax rates 

expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled. A valuation allowance is recorded against a future income 

tax asset if it is determined that it is more likely than not that the future tax assets will not be realized in the foreseeable future. 

The effect of a change in the income tax rates used in calculating future income tax liabilities and assets is recognized in income 

during the period that the change occurs. 

(w)" Other intangible assets 

Computer software Is amortized on a declining basis at a rate of 100% and the commodity billing and settlement systems are 

amortized on a straight line basis over five years which approximates the life of the assets. 

(ii) RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

The following are new standards, not yet in effect, which are required to be adopted by the company on the effective date: 

Business Combinations 

In October 2008, CICA issued Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations {"CICA 1582"), concurrently with CICA Handbook 

Section 1601, Consolidated Financial Statements {"CICA 1601"), and CICA Handbook Section 1602, Non-controlling Interest 

("CICA 1602"). CICA 1582, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1581, Business Combinations, establishes standards for 

the measurement of a business combination and the recognition and measurement of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

CICA 1601, which replaces CICA Handbook Section 1600, carries forward the existing Canadian guidance on aspects of the 

preparation of consolidated financial statements subsequent to acquisition other than non-controlling interests. CICA 1602 

establishes guidance for the treatment of non-controlling interests subsequent to acquisition through a business combination. 

These new standards are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Just Energy will not adopt the new 

standards prior to adopting International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as described below. 
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In lc rna l iona l Financial Un[i(nlln(j Slandai 'ds 

lu Fi.' lnn.icy ZDIIH, ("K*. A .mi n n nn n i l thai t ' . ' inai l ian G A A I ' I in ['inlitii Iy at ' i 'nui l iab le el t tet j IIIM •:. w i l l be n.'pl.'n n i l by l l :HS lor li:;c:al 

yiMi:. l!i:i|iimit!(| nn m .-illoi lanuaiy I, 'Ml 11. 

In:.I lineniy will linn:;ilinii In IHIS el lec.live Aptil 1, 7M) I, and in lei id;; lo i:.:;uc il:. l i isl inlei iin i.nir.olirlaleil linancial i.laleinenl:. 

Milder ll;US Ini llie Ihiee-inonlh period endlmi June •!(), 2011, anil a complele :.el nl consnlidaled linancial sl/ilement:; umlei ll:HS 

Im Ihe year enilinij March IM. 2012. 

In:.I lineniy ha:, developed a i;li:iii(jeover plan, which includes dia(jno:.lii; assessnient, snlulinn developuietil ami implenienlalion 

phase:., lusl linenjy has compleletl llie iniiial a:,:;essmeul and solullon ilevelopmenl phases. These indinled cerlain liainimj 

iniiialives, teseaichinrj and documeniiiKj l l ie slijnilicanl dilleiences lielwee'ti Canadian GAAI* and ll-'KS, assessiiuj ihe imp/id on 

lusl l-jieujy, and a pteliminniy assessmenl ol Hie inlortnalifin leduioloyy syslems. Ihe IFRS learn is cuuenlly enijafjed in Ihe 

implemenlalioii [ihase, whicli i:. llie final phase of Ihe piojecl, 

Sirinilicanl dilfeietuies oxisl which may im|iacl Jusl Fneirjy's financial,mpoi lint). Those areas include, but arc nol limiled to, 

properly, plant and eciuipmoiit, itnpairmcril of assets, accoiinlinr) lor income laxes, financial inslrumenls, sliare-based payments, 

business combinations, provisions and the first-time adoption of IFRS ("IFRS 1"). 

As part of Ihe Conveision, Jusl lineryy.is in the process of analysing the detailed impacts of these identified diflerences find 

developing solutions lo bridge these differences. Although the full impact of the adoption of IFUS on Jusl Energy's financial 

posilion and resulls of opcralions is nol yet reasonably determinable or estimable, Just Energy expects a significant increase in 

financial slalemenl disclosure rcriuircmcnts resulting from the adoplion of IFRS. Just Energy Is currently on target wilh ils 

conversion plan. 

NOTf; i RESTRICTED C A S H 

Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent: (i) rebate monies received from LDCs in Ontario as provided by the 

Independent Electricity System Operator ("lESO") and (ii) Newten Home Comfort Inc. 

i) JE Onlario is obligated to disperse the monies to eligible end-use customers in accordance with the Ontario Power Generation 

Rebate as part of Just Energy Ontario L.P.'s Retailer License conditions. 

ii) As part of the acquisition of Newten Home Comfort Inc. (Note 6(c)) the Company is required to transfer cash into a trust 

account, in trust for the vendors, as part of the contingent consideration, 

NOTE 5 INVENTORY 

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense'during the year was $77,376. There has not been a write down of inventory 

to date. Inventory is made up of the following: 

2011 2010 

Raw materials $ 2,224 $ 2,308 

Work in progress 518 463 

Finished goods 4,164 3,552 

$ 6,906 $ 6,323 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 6 ACQUISITIONS 

(a) Acquisition of Hudson Energy Services, LLC 

On May 7, 2010, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the equity interests of Hudson Parent Holdings, LLC, and all the 

common shares of Hudson Energy Corp., thereby indirectly acquiring Hudson Energy Services, LLC, with an effective date of May 1, 

2010. The acquisition was funded by an issuance of $330 million in convertible debentures issued on May 5, 2010 (see Note 9(e)). 

The acquisition of Hudson was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. Just Energy allocated the purchase price 

to the identified assets and liabilities acquired based on their fair values at the time of acquisition as follows: 

Net assets acquired: 
Current assets (including cash of $24,003) $ 88,696 

Current liabilities (107,817) 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 200,653 

Gas contracts and customer relationships 26,225 

Broker network 84,400 

Brand 11,200 

information technology system development 17,954 
Contract initiation costs 20,288 

Other intangible assets 6,545 

Goodwill 33,574 

Property, plant and equipment 2,559 

Unbilled revenue 15,092 

Notes receivable - !ong-term 1,312 

Security deposits - long-term 3,544 

Other assets - current 124 

Other assets - long-term 100 

Other liabilities - current (74,683) 

Other liabilities - long-term (40,719) 

$ 289,047 

Consideration: 

Purchase price $ 287,790 

Transaction costs 1,257 

$ 289,047 

All contracts and intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over the average remaining life at the time of acquisition. 

The gas and electricity contracts and customer relationships are amortized over 30 months and 35 months, respectively. Other 

intangible assets, excluding brand, are amortized over periods of three to five years. The brand value is considered to be indefinite 

and, therefore, not subject to amortization. The purchase price allocation is considered preliminary and, as a result, it may be 

adjusted during the 12-month period following the acquisition. 

{b) Acquisition of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

On July 1, 2009, Just Energy completed the acquisition of all of the outstanding common shares of Universal Energy Group Ltd. 

("UEG" or "Universal") pursuant to a plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Under the Arrangement, UEG shareholders 

received 0.58 of an exchangeable share ("Exchangeable Share") of JEEC, a subsidiary of Just Energy, for each UEG common share 

held. In aggregate, 21,271,804 Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to the Arrangement. Each Exchangeable Share was 

exchangeable for a trust unit on a one for one basis at any time at the option of the holder, and entitled the holder to a monthly 

dividend equal to 66%% of the monthly distribution paid by Just Energy on a trust unit. JEEC also assumed all the covenants 

and obligations of UEG in respect of UEG's outstanding 6% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures. 
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Wainc hc.'ilcr conliacl:; ami CUSIOIIKII u:lalioii:.hip:; 

C)I|II:I iulamjihlc a:,:;(:l:. 

Goodwill 

I'lopnrly, plant and oi|iii|im(jnl .1 v 1 ,r/j;i 

lailuH: lax lialtililicr, 

Olhcr liabililics - currenl (1G/|,11K) 

Olhcr liabililics - loiirj-icrm {i4a,8ii '/) 

l.oiKj-lcrm dcbl (183,079) 

Non-conlrollintj interest (22,097) 

$ 249,898 

Cons iderat ion: 

Transaction cosls % 9,952 

Exchanycable Shares 239,946 

% 249,898 

Non-controlling interest represented a 33.3% ownership of TGF held by EllisDon Corporation. The non-controlling inleresl was 

subsequently acquired by JEGI on January 4, 2011 (Nole 12). 

All conlracts and intangible assets are amortized over the average remaining life at the lime of acquisition. The gas and electricity 

contracts and cuslomer relationships are amortized over periods ranging from 8 to 57 months. The water heater contracis and 

customer relationships are amortized over 174 months, and the intangible assets were amortized over six months. An adjustment 

in the amount of $10,700 was,made to increase goodwill and decrease working capital during the three months ended June 30, 

2010. The purchase price for this acquisition is final and no longer subject to change. 

to Newten Home Comfort Inc. 

On July 2, 2009, NHS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Just Energy, acquired Newten Home Comfort Inc., an arm's length third party 

that held a 20% interest in Newten Home Comfort L.P. for $3.2 million, of which $520 was paid in cash and determined to be the 

purchase price consideration. The purchase price consideration excludes contingent payments to the 20% interest holders that 

will become payable in July 2012 based omthe number of completed water heater installations. Any contingent paymenls made 

will result in an increase to the balance of goodwill generaied by the acquisition. 

JUST ENERGY » ANNUAL REPORT 2011 

m 
11 
'•Mm 
''Wk 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Accumulated Net book 

As at M a r c h 31, 2011 Cost amortization value 

Furniture and fixtures $ 6,090 $ 3,561 $ 2,529 

Office equipment 17,976 9,520 8,456 

Computer equipment 7,750 4,958 2,792 

Water heaters 78,223 6,887 71,336 

Furnaces and air conditioners 3,813 179 3,634 

Leaseholdimprovements 8,567 5,077 3,490 

Vehicles 215 88 127 

Ethanol plant and equipment 157,842 16,222 141,620 

Building 640 17 623 

Land 299 - 299 

$ 281,415 $ 46,509 $ 234,906 

Accumulated Net book 
As at March 31, 2010 Cost amortization value 

Furniture and fixtures $ 5,581 $ 2,972 $ 2,609 

Office equipment 14,810 5,930 8,880 

Computer equipment 6,417 3,763 2,654 

Water heaters 51,059 2,481 48,578 

Furnaces and air conditioners 317 4 313 

Leasehold improvements 8,409 4,116 4,293 

Vehicles 197 46 151 

Ethanol plant and equipment 159,500 10,054 149,446 

Land 299 " - 299 

$ 246,589 $ 29,366 $ 217,223 

NOTE 8 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Accumulated Net book 
As at M a r c h 31, 2011 Cost amortization value 

Gas contracts and customer relationships $ 248,828 $ 144,568 $ 104,260 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 436,339 248,673 187,666 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 23,164 2,813 20,351 

Computer software 9,540 6,616 2,924 

Commodity billing and settlement systems 6,743 6,450 293 

Broker network 80,561 14,770 65,791 

Brand 10,692 - 10,692 

Information technology system development 19,691 3,478 16,213 

Other intangible assets 9,061 4,216 4,845 

$ 844,619 $ 431,584 $ 413,035 

Accumulated Net book 
As at March 3 1 , 2 0 1 0 Cost amortization value 

Gas contracts and customer relationships S 228,827 $ 63,484 $ 165,343 

Electricity contracts and customer relationships 245,617 92,779 152,838 

Water heater contracts and customer relationships 23,081 1,218 21,863 

Computer software 5,562 4,198 1,364 

Commodity billing and settlement systems 6,544 6,515 29 

Other intangible assets 2,982 2,397 585 

$ 512,613 $ 170,591 $ 342,022 
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[ fo i l LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING 
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2011 w i l l 

f j i i i l i l IncililyC'i) $ 51,03!; 

Kll-*,ii.'ilil lauililyfhMi) 36,080 41,313 

rril :()(:lii:iilHH::; 37,001 37,001 

TGI : U:iiii/n|i(;raliin| lacililif::; (l>)(iii) _ 10,00(1 

NHS linaiuanij ((.) 105,716 f;!i,43!"> 

VJO niilliim c.nnvc.'ilililc (ICIKNIIIIIC:; ((f) 81,706 H3,4 17 

'|.3:i0 million ronvei l iUu ilt:hL;nliin:S (u) 286,139 -

601,577 294,(101; 

Less: curienl poil ion (94,117) <G2;829) 

$ 507,460 % 231,837 

l:iiUtre annual minimuin principal rt-'payuieiils are as lollow.',: 

201^ zoia 2011 2om 201(1 2017-2021 "Inlal 

Crodil Tacilily (a) I - 1. - % 51,035 3 - % - $ - 5 51,035 

TGY- Creclil facilily (l))(i) 36,680 - - - - - 36,080 

TGI : Deljonuires (b)(ii) 37,001 - _ - - - 37,001 

NWS HTC financing (c) 20,436 22,132 23,967 23,442 6,242 9,497 105,716 

$90 million Convertible debentures (d) - - - 90,000 - - 90,000 

$330 million Convertible debentures (e) - - - - - 330,000 330,000 

$ 94,117 $ 22,132 $ 75,002 $ 1 13,442 $ 6,242 $ 339,497 $ 650,432 

The following table details the interest expense. Interest is expensed al the effeclivc inleresl rale. 

Credit facility (a) 

TGF Credit facility (b){i) 

TGF Debentures (b)(ii) 

TGF wheat production financing 

TGF Operating facilities (b)(iii) 

NHS financing.(c) 

$90 million Convertible debentures (d) 

$330 million Convertible debentures (e) 

2011 2010 

$ 7,848 $ 5,258 

2,013 1,365 

4,269 3,049 

- 10 

515 683 

6,464 817 

6,690 4,952 

22,638 -

$ 50,437 $ 16,134 

(a) As at March 31, 2011, Just Energy holds a $350 million credit facility to meet working capital requirements. The syndicate of 

lenders Includes.Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce, Royat Bank of Canada, National Bank of Canada, Soci£t6 G6n£ra1e, 

Bank of Nova Scotia, The Toronto-Dominion Bank and Alberta Treasury Branches. The repayment of the facility is due on 

December3.1, 2013. 

Interest is payable on outstanding loans at rates that vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or 

U;S. prime rate. Under the terms of the operating credit facility, Just Energy is able to make use of Bankers' Acceptances and 

LIBOR advances at stamping fees that vary between 3.25% and 3.75%. Prime rate advances are at rates of interest that vary 

between bank prime plus 2.25% and 2.75% and letters of credit are at rates that vary between 3.25% and 3.75%. Interest 

rates are adjusted quarterly based on certain financial performance indicators. 

As at March 31, 2011, the Canadian prime rate was 3.0% and the U.S. prime rate was 3.25%. As at March 31, 2011, 

Just Energy had drawn $51,035 (March 31, 2010- $57,500) against the facility and total letters of credit outstanding 

amounted to $78,209 (March 31, 2010- $49,444). As at March 31, 2011, Just Energy has $218,791 of the facility remaining 

for future working capital and security requirements. Just Energy's obligations under the credit facility are supported by 

guarantees of certain subsidiaries and affiliates and secured by a^pledge of the assets.and securities of Just Energy and the 

majority of its operating subsidiaries and affiliates. Just Energy is required to meet a number of financial covenants under the 

credit facility agreement. As.at March 31, 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants have been met. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(b) In connection with the acquisition of UEG on July 1, 2009, Just Energy acquired the debt obligations of TGF, which currently 
comprise the following separate facilities: 

(i) TGF credit facility 

A credit facility of up to $50,000 was established with a syndicate.of Canadian lenders led by Conexus Credit Union and was 

arranged to finance the construction of the ethanol.plant in 2007. The facility was revised on March 18, 2009, and was 

converted to a fixed repayment term of ten years, commencing March 1, 2009, which includes interest costs at a rate of prime 

plus 3% with principal repayments scheduled to commence on March 1, 2010. The credit facility is secured by a demand 

debenture agreement, a.first priority security interest on all assets and undertakings of TGF, and a general security interest on all 

other current and acquired assets of TGF. As a.result, the facility is fully classified as a current obligation. The facility was further 

revised on Aprils, 2010, to postpone the principal payments due for April 1 to June 1, 2010, and to amortize them over the six-

month period commencing October 1, 2010, and ending March 1, 2011. The credit facility includes certain financial covenants, 

the most significant of which relate to current ratio, debt to equity ratio, debt service coverage and minimum shareholders' 

capital. The lenders deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. TGF is currently in discussions with the 

lenders over future covenants. As at March 31, 2011, the amount owing under this facility amounted to $36,680. 

(ii) TGF debentures 

A debenture purchase agreement with a number of'private parties providing for the issuance of up to $40,000 aggregate 

principal amount of debentures was entered into in 2006. The interest rate is 10.5% per annum, compounded annually. 

Quarterly principal payments.commenced October 1, 2009, in the amount of $1,000 per quarter. On April 5, 2010, 

TGF entered into an agreement with the holders of the debenture to defer scheduled principal payments owing under the 

debenture until April 1, 2011. The agreement includes certain financial covenants, the more significant of which relate to 

current ratio, debt to capitalization ratio, debt service coverage, debt to EBITDA, and minimum shareholders' capital. The 

lender deferred compliance with the financial covenants until April 1, 2011. The current debenture agreement matures in 

the second quarter of fiscal 2012. TGF is in negotiations with the lender to renew the financial covenants and to extend 

the maturity date. As at March 31, 2011, the amount owing under this debenture agreement amounted to $37,001. 

(iii) TGF term/operating facilities 

TGF's term loan for $10:000 with a third party lender bearing interest at prime plus 1% was.due in full.on December 31, 

2010. This facility was secured by liquid investments on deposit with the lender. As of December 31, 2010, the amount 

owing under the facility for $10,000 was repaid in full. 

(iv) TGF has a working capital operating line of $7,000 bearing interest at a rate of prime plus 2 %. In addition, total letters of 

credit issued amounted to $250. 

(c) In fiscal 2010, NHS entered into a long-term financing agreement for the funding of new and existing rental water heater and 

HVAC contracts in the Enbridge gas distribution territory. On July 16, 2010, NHS expanded this facility to cover the Union Gas 

territory. Pursuant to the agreement, NHS receives financing of an amount equal to the present value of the first five, seven or 

ten years of monthly rental income, discounted at the agreed upon financing rate of 7.99% and, as settlement, it is required 

to remit an amount equivalent to the rental stream from customers on the water heater and HVAC contracts for the first five, 

seven or ten years. As security for performance of the obligation, NHS has pledged the water heaters, HVAC equipment and 

rental contracts, subject to the financed rental agreement, as collateral. 

The financing agreement is subject to a holdback provision, whereby 3% in the Enbridge territory and 5% in the Union Gas 

territory of the outstanding balance of the funded amount is deducted and deposited into a reserve account in the event of 

default. Once all obligations of NHS are satisfied or expired, the remaining funds in the reserve account will immediately be 

released to NHS. 

NHS has $105,716 owing under this agreement, including $3,978 relating to the holdback provision, included in long-term 

receivable, as at March 31, 2011. NHS is required to meet a number of covenants under the agreement. As at March 31, 

2011, all of these covenants have been met. 

(d) In conjunction with the acquisition of Universal on July 1, 2009, the Company also acquired the obligations of the convertible 

unsecured subordinated debentures (the " $90 million convertible debentures") issued by Universal in October 2007. The fair 

value of the convertible debenture was estimated by discounting the remaining contractual payments at the time of 

acquisition. This discount will be accreted using an effective interest rate of 8%. These instruments have a face value of 

$90,000 and mature on September 30, 2014, unless converted prior to that date, and bear interest at an annuai rate of 6% 

payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year. Each $1,000 principal amount of the $90 million 

convertible debentures is convertible at any time prior to maturity or on the date fixed for redemption, at the option of the 
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1,90 million convei lihle del>eiMures, 

(e) In order lo fund ihe aciiulsilion ol Mutlson, on May i">, 2010, Jusl iinet'fjy cnlcrcd inln an aritccmcnt willi a syndicate ol 

underwrilers lor $330 million ol conveilible exlctiilihle unsecured suhoidiualctl dehcnliiies (Ihe "$330 million eonverlihlc 

(Ichcnlures"}. The $330 million eonverlihlc dehenlures bcai inleresl a! a rale of 0.0% per annum payable semi-annually 

in arrears on June 30 and tieceinber 31, wilh a malurily tlalc ol June 30, 2017. Hach 3> 1,000.principal amounl.ol llie 

$330 million convei lible dehenlures is convei lible at any lime prior lo malurity or on the dale fixed for redemption, al Ihe 

option of the holder, inlo approximalely 55.0 shares ol ihe Company, represenliny a conversion price of $18 per share. 

Durincj the year, inleresl expense atnounled lo $22,038. 

The $330 million converlible dehorituros arc not redeemable prior lo June 30, 2013, except under cerlain condilidns after a 

change of control has occurred. On or ailcr June 30, 2013, but prior to June 30, 2015, ihe $330 million converlible 

dobenlurcs may bo redeemed by the Company, in whole or in pari, on not more lhan 60 days' and nol less than 30 days' prior 

notice, al a redemption price equal to ihe principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided lhat the 

current market price (as defined herein) on ihe dale on which notice of redemption is given is not less than 125% of the 

conversion price. On and after June 30, 2015, and prior to maturity, the $330 million converlible debentures may be 

redeemed by Jusl Energy, in whole or in part, al a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and 

unpaid interest. 

The Company may, at its own option, on not more than 60 days: and not less than 40 days' prior nolice, subject to applicable 

regulatory approval and provided that no event of default has occurred and is continuing, elect lo satisfy its obligation to repay 

all or any portion of the principal amounl of the $330 million convertible debentures that are to beTedeemed or lhat are to 

mature, by issuing and-delivering to the holders.thereof that number of freely tradable units determined by dividing the 

principal amount of the $330 million convertible debentures being repaid by 95% of the current market price on the date of 

redemption or maturity, as applicable. 

The conversion feature of the $330 million convertible debentures has been accounted for as a separate component of 

Shareholders' deficiency in the amount of $33,914. The remainder of the net proceeds of the $330 million convertible 

debentures has been.recorded.as long-term debt, which will be accreted up to the face value of $330,000 over the term of 

the $330 million convertible debentures using an effective interest rate of'8.8%. If the $330 million convertible debentures are 

converted into common shares, the value of the conversion wiff be reclassified to share capita! along with the principal amount 

converted. On January 1, 2011, as part of the Conversion, JEGI assumed all of the obligations under the $330 million 

convertible debentures. 

NOTE 10 INCOME TAXES 
Just'Energy was a mutual fund trust for income tax purposes up to December 31, 2010. Until the Conversion, Just Energy was 

only subject to current income taxes on any taxable income not distributed to unitholders. Subsequent to the Conversion, JEGI is 

subject to current income taxes on all of its taxable income. Thefund distributed all of Its taxable income earned prior to the ^ 

Conversion. Accordingly, Just Energy did not provide for future income taxes on its temporary differences and those.of its flow-

through subsidiary trust and partnerships expected to reverse prior to 2011 as it was considered tax exempt for accounting 

purposes. i 
JEGI has recognized future income taxes for the temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax values of assets and 

liabilities in respect of the proportion of its income taxed directly to the unitholders that are expected to reverse in or after 2011. 

A valuation allowance that was provided against future tax assets of certain subsidiaries.in the past year has been eliminated in 

full this year, as JEGI determines that it is more likely than not that all of those future tax assets will be realized in the future years. $ 
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Canadian-based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 30% (2010 - 33%). U.S.-based 

corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 40% (2010 - 40%). 

The following table reconciles the difference between the income taxes that would result solely by applying statutory tax rates to 
the pre-tax income for Just Energy and the income tax provision in the consolidated financial statements. 

2011 2010 

Income before income taxes $ ' 545,502 $ 127,588 

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 3 0 % (2010 - 33%) 

Taxes on income attributable to shareholders 

Benefit of mark to market and other tax losses not previously recognized 

Variance between combined basic rate and rate applicable to U.S. subsidiaries 

Non-deductible expenses 

163,651 

(15,456) 

(119,556) 

1,910 

1,593 

42,104 

(42,045) 

(100,459) 

140 

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes $ 32,142 $ (100,260) 

Components of Just Energy's income tax provision (recovery) are as follows: 

2011 2010 

Income tax provision 

Amount credited to Shareholders' capital 

$ 8,182 

1,305 

$ 19,253 

2,501 

Current income tax provision 

Future tax provision (recovery) 

9,487 

22,655 

21,754 

(122,014) 

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes $ 32,142 $ (100,260) 

Components of Just Energy's net future income tax asset are as follows: 

2011 2010 

Partnership income deferred for tax purposes and book carrying amount of 

investments in partnerships in excess of tax cost 

Excess of book basis over tax basis on customer contracts 

Excess of tax basis over book basis 

Mark to market losses on derivative instruments 

$ (14,046) 

(49,141) 

36,700 

132,888 

$ (483) 

(84,840) 

28,339 

245,237 

Less: valuation allowance 

106,40.1 188,253 

80,693 

Future income tax assets (net) $ 106,401 $ 107,560 

A C C U M U L A T E D OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2011 

Foreign currency 
translation 
adjustment 

Cash flow 
hedges Total 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges 

after July i , 2008, net of income taxes of $21,384 

$ 28,584 

334 

$ 193,385 

(98,499) 

$ 221,969 

334 

(98,499) 

$ 28,918 $ 94,886 $ 123,804 

2010 

Foreign currency 
translation 

adjustment 
Cash flow 

hedges Total 

Balance, beginning of year 

Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment 

Amortization of deferred unrealized gain on discontinued hedges 

after July 1, 2008, net of income taxes of $34,339 

$ 1,958 

26,626 

$ 362,608 

(169,223) 

$ 364,566 

26,626 

(169,223) 

$ 28,584 $ 193,385 $ 221,969 

1 , 
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C o m m o n shares of the Company 

Ijllci.liui,' I.Miliary 1, 2011, llic iv.ucil .mil nniritaniliiui iinil:; nl HicTuml, Clav. A piclcmiKc iJiauv. nl 11:0 ;tinl cxrliamjcalilc 

laicii ul IH:C Wi.'lc (.'Xi.'li.'iniicd on a onc-loi-nnc h;i:;i:; Ini l Ojinnon sham:; ol IIIGI. An i nlimiled mmihei nl comiuoi sh.'iiiv, and 

M),()l)f);[)0() prcl i ' i icd shaic:. have hcuii a i i lhni i /cd lo he iy.ucil. 

Iielail:. ol iv.ucd unilliolilei:;' capllal and shan; capllal aie a:; (ollow: 

2011 2010 

Issued and o i i l s land in t j Unlt.s/Shiirci Amounl Unils/Sliau::. Aiinnmi 

Trust units 

Nalana;, liecjiuniiKi nl yeai 121,325,307 $ 593,075 106,138,523 Ii 385,294 

Unit Uiv.ed awaitls cxcidsiMl/cxcliantjcd 38,989 462 4y,07B GHZ 

l.)i:;liil)ulioii I'cinvcsluienl plan 1,324,834 17,935 1,5'y1,074 20; 030 

lixchamjed from lixdiantjoahlc Shares 894,018 10,085 16,583,632 187,003 

Unils cxchancjocl pursuant to Conversion (126,583,148) (621,557) -

[talancc, end o l year - 124,325,307 593,075 

Class A preference shares 

rtalauce, herjinniny of year 5,263,728 13,160 5,263,728 13,160 

Class A preference shares exchanged pursuant to Conversion (5,263,728) (13,160) - -

Balance, end of year - - 5,263,728 13,160 

Exchangeable Shares 

Balance, beginning of year 4,688,172 52,883 - -
Exchangeable Shares issued - - 21,271,804 239,946 

Exchanged'into unils (894,018) (10,085) (16,583,632) (187,063) 

Exchangeable Shares exchanged pursuant lo Conversion (3,794,154) (42,798) - -
Balance, end of year - - 4,688,172 52,883 

Unitholders'-capital, end of year - - 134,277,207 $ 659,118 

Share capital 

Shares issued pursuant to the Conversion; 

Trust units 126,583,148 $ 621,557 -
Class A preference shares 5,263,728 13,160 - -
Exchangeable Shares 3,794,154 42,798 -

Balance on Conversion, January 1, 2011 135,641,030 677,515 - -
Dividend reinvestment plan (i) 546,382 8,112 - -
Share-based awards exercised 86,374 1,097 - -
Shares issued to minority shareholder in exchange 

for interest in TGF (ii) 689,940 10,328 

Share capital, end of year 136,963,726 $ 697,052 -

(i) Dividend reinvestment plan 

Under Just Energy's dividend reinvestment plan ("DRIP"), shareholders holding a minimum of 100 shares can elect to receive 

their dividends in shares rather than cash at a 2% discount to the simple average closing price of the shares for five trading 

days preceding the applicable dividend payment date, providing the shares are issued from treasury and not purchased on the 

open market. 

(ii) Shares issued 

During the year ended March 31, 2011, Just Energy issued 689,940 shares to acquire the share interest held by the minority 

shareholder of TGF. The shares were valued at $10,328. The difference between $18,616 representing the value of the 

minority interest of TGF at the time of issuance and .the value of the shares has been recorded as a reduction to goodwill 

on the original acquisition of UEC. Just Energy issued 894,018 (2010- 16,583,632) units relating to the exchange of 

Exchangeable Shares of JEEC. The Exchangeable Shares were issued pursuant to Just Energy's acquisition of UEG. 

f 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 13 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS 

(a) Stock option plan 

Just Energy grants awards under its 2010 share option plan (formerly the 2001 Unit Option Plan) to directors, officers, full time 

employees and service providers (non employees) of Just Energy and its subsidiaries and affiliates. In accordance with the share 

option plan, Just Energy may grant options to a maximum of 11,300,000 shares. As at March 31, 2011, there were 1,179,166 

options still available for grant under the plan. Of the options issued, 135;000 options remain outstanding at year-end. The 

exercise price of the share options equals the closing market price of the Company's shares on the last business day preceding 

the grant date. The share options vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date and expire after five or 

ten years from the grant date. No share options have been granted since June 2008. 

A-summary of the changes in Just Energy's option plan during the year and status at March 31, 2011, is outlined, below. 

Outstanding 
options 

Range of 
exercise prices 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price' 

Balance, beginning of year 

Forfeited/cancelled 

Balance, end of year 

352,500 

217,500 

,1S.09~%MA7 

$15.63 

15.92 

15.63 

135,000 $15.09-517.47 $ 16.38 

1 The weighted average exercise price is calculated 

2011 

by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 

Options outstanding Options exercisable 

i 

Range of exercise prices 
Number 

outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

\ • 
$15 .09 -517 .47 135,000 0.59 $ 16.38 98,000 $ 16.51 

!• 
2010 Options outstanding Options exercisable 

A 
t 

Range of exercise prices 
Number 

outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 

t • 
$15 .09 -$15 .63 

$16 .65 -$17 .47 

267,500 

85,000 

0.49 

1.20 

$ 15.53 

17.13 

200,000 

51,000 

$ 15.63 

17.13 

• i 
Balance, end of year 352,500 0.66 5 15.92 251,000 $ 15.94 

i •• 

^ • 
Options available for grant 2011 2010 

t 

;•(• 
1 : 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: Cancelled/forfeited during the year 

Balance, end of year 

961,666 

217,500 

1,179,166 

758,666 

203,000 

961,666 

(b) Restricted share grants 
Just Energy grants awards under the 2010 Restricted Share Grants Plan (formerly the 2004 unit appreciation rights) to senior 

officers, employees and sen/ice providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid RSGs. On June 29, 2010, the 

unitholders of Just Energy approved a 2,000,000 increase in the number of RSGs available for grant. As at March 31, 2011, there 

were 1,969,883 (2010-74,472) RSGs still available for grant under the plan. Of the RSGs issued, 2,711,494 remain outstanding 

at March 31, 2011 (2010-2,640,723). Except as otherwise provided, (i)the RSGs vest from one to five years from the grant date 

providing, in most cases, on the applicable vesting date the RSG grantee continues as a senior officer, employee or service 

provider of Just Energy or any affiliate thereof; (ii) the RSGs expire no later than ten years from the grant date; (iii) a holder of 

RSGs is entitled to payments at the same rate as dividends paid to JEGI shareholders; and (iv) when vested, the holder of an RSG 

may exchange one RSG for one common share. On January 1,2011 as part of the Conversion, all unit appreciation rights 

outstanding on that date were replaced by RSGs. 

k 
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Add: IIII:II,'.')MI in KSG:; available lni'(|iaiii 

At Id: Ĉ ajK elled/lot leileil duiiui| llie yeai 

Add: Fxeiriseil iluiinii Ihe ye.n 

Halaiice, end ul year 

201 1 / D i l l 

'/A,ATA y/d.ni.u 
12:11,020) (1,307,11):') 

2,000,000 1,00(1,0(10 

A.GGS r>,:j% 

125,363 

• -1,969,883 VA,A 72 

(0 Deferred share grants 
lusl linertiy ijranls awards undei ils 2010 Oiieclni:;' Cnm|>en:;al!on Mian (Iniuieily llie 2004 Directors' deleried cuiii|)i:n:;alinii plan) 

to all intlependenl diujcUns tin llie basis each diiecUtr is teijim'ed Ui uiceive annually %]':> ni bis coin)u:iis;i\iviii v:nlill(:iiit:nl in 

defeued share tjrauls ("DSGs") and may elect lo receive all or any iioilion ot llie.balance ol his annual coiii|)eii:;alion in DSGs 

and/or common shares. The holders ol DSGs and/or common shaies ate also (jranled additional DSGs/common shares on a 

monlhly basis equal lo the monthly dividends'|jaid lo ihe sliateholders oi htsl linertiy. The DSGs vest on llie eatlier ol the dale ol 

the Direclor's resignation or Ihree years lollowing Ihe date of yrani and expire I en years following Ihe dale ol grant. As at 

March 31, 2011, ihere were SA, 118 (2010 - 108,248) DSGs available for grant under Ihe plan. 01 Ihe DSGs issued, 109,G!i!> DSGs 

remain outstanding at March 31, 2011. In accordance wilh ihe Conversion, all outstanding Directors' defciTcd unit grants were 

replaced with DSGs. 

DSGs available for gram 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: Increase in DSGs available for grant 

Loss: Granted during the year 

Balance, end of year 

2011 2010 

108,248 31,568 

100,000 

(24,130) (23,320) 

84,118 108,248 

(d) Contributed surplus 
Amounis.credited lo contributed surplus include share based compensation.awards, restricted share grants and deferred share 

grants. Amounts charged lo contributed surplus are awards exercised during the year. 

Contributed surplus 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: Share-based compensation awards 

Non-cash deferred share grant distributions 

Less: Share-based awards exercised 

Balance, end.of year 

2011 2010 

18,832 

5,509 

121 

(1,559) 

14,671 

4,754 

89 

(682) 

$ 22,903 $ 18,832 

Total amounts credited to shareholders' capital in respect of share options, restricted share grants and deferred share grants 

exercised or exchanged during the year ended March 3,1, 2011, amounted to $1,559 (2010 - $682). 

NOTE 14 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Fair value 

Just Energy has a variety:of gas and electricity supply contracts that are captured under CICA Handbook Section 3855, Financial 

Instruments - Measurement and Recognition. Fair value is the estimated amount that Just Energy would pay or receive to dispose 

of these supply contracts in.an arm's length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to 

act. Management has estimated the value of electricity, unforced capacity, heat rates, heat rate options, and renewable and gas 

swap and forward.contracts using a discounted cash flow method which employs market forward curves that are either directly 

sourced from third parties or are developed internally based'On third party market data. These curves can be volatile thus leading 

to volatility in the mark to market with no impact to cash flows. Gas options have been valued using the Black option value model 

using the applicable market forward curves and the implied volatility from other market traded'gas options. 

Effective July 1, 2008, Just Energy ceased the utilization of hedge accounting. Accordingly, all the mark to market changes on 

Just Energy's derivative instruments are recorded on a single line on the consolidated statements of operations. Due to the 

commodity voiattlity and size of Just Energy, the quarterly swings in mark to market on these positions will increase the volatility 

in Just Energy's earnings. 

tl 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The following tables illustrate (gains)/losses related to Just Energy's derivative financial instruments classified as held-for-trading 

recorded against other assets and other liabilities with their offsetting values recorded in change in fair value derivative 

instruments for the yearended March 31, 2011: 

For the For the For the For the 
year ended year ended year ended year ended 

March 31, March 31, March 31, March 31, 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments 2011 2011(USD) 2010 2010(USD) 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) $ (232,806) $ n/a $ 5,041. $ n/a 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 987 n/a (480) n/a 

Verified emission-reduction credits (ill) 952 n/a (9) n/a 

Options (iv) (333) n/a (1,593) n/a 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) (138,623) n/a 70,568 n/a 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) (11,365) n/a 21,353 n/a 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) 1,217 n/a - n/a 

Uni ted States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) (45,009) (44,913) 11,295 11,761 

Physical electricity forwards (ix) (46,472) (46,421) 2,332 4,737 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 416 _ 388 (423) (274) 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 1,955 1,908 563 544 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 1,077 1,032 1,856 1,744 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 140 136 644 604 

Options (xiv) (1,160) (1,142) 1,082 879 

Physical gas forward contracts (xv) (118,077) (116,831) (30,742) (25,350) 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) (568) (578) 1,303 1,287 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 1,789 1,592 (4,264) (3,965) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 47,792 45,967 34,201 33,370 

Foreign exchange forward contracts (xix) (1-116) n/a 3,322 n/a 

Ethanol physical forward contracts (xx) (135) - - -
Amortization of deferred unrealized gains on discontinued hedges (119,883) n/a (203,562) n/a 

Amortization of derivative financial instruments related 

to acquisitions 149,821 n/a 88,795 n/a 

Change in fair value of derivat ive instruments $ (509,401) $ 1,282 
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Can rid.'i 

l :ixi.'(l-U)i-lloalini| nlri.liicily :.wa|i:; (i) 

Hnnewahln nin.'Hjy ct.'ililicalns (ii) 

Vt.'iiltcd i.'iiiiM.ifHi-iL'rluc.linn (.Kidil:. (iii) 

Oiiliun:. (iv) 

I'liysical [)iv.\ Im ward aml iac ls (v) 

Trarispnrlalinn fcnwaid ronliac:ls.(vi) 

l:ixr:(l linancial swaps (vii) 

Uni ted States 

Fixed-for-floating eleclricily swaps (viii) 

Physical eleclricily forwaids (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward coniracis (x) 

Unlurced capacity physical conlracts (xi) 

Rcnewahlc energy.certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas forward contracts'(xv) 

Transportation forward conlracts (xvi) 

l-leat rale swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign exchange forward conlracts (xix) 

Ethanol physical forward contracts (xx) 

As at March 31, 2011 

March 31, 2010: 

Canada 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (i) 

Renewable energy certificates (ii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (iii) 

Options (iv) 

Physical gas forward contracts (v) 

Transportation forward contracts (vi) 

Fixed financial swaps (vii) 

Uni ted States 

Fixed-for-floating electricity swaps (viii) 

Physical electricity forwards (ix) 

Unforced capacity forward contracts (x) 

Unforced capacity physical contracts (xi) 

Renewable energy certificates (xii) 

Verified emission-reduction credits (xiii) 

Options (xiv) 

Physical gas forward.contracts (xv) 

Transportation forward contracts (xvi) 

Heat rate swaps (xvii) 

Fixed financial swaps (xviii) 

Foreign.exchange forward contracts (xix) 

Ethanol physical forward contracts.(xx) 

As at March 31, 2010 

Olhei Othei Olhei Olhci 
nv . i 'K II v.i i K li.'il>lllil<-. l i. iMlii ic. 

( c imon l ) (Iniui-leun) (uincnl) (Ic>r»j-li!i in) 

$ $ 131,279 $ 93,397 

194 196 158 417 

- - 315 628 

815 692 4,403 -
- - 166,634 134,847 

- 24 5,301 2,858 

- 1,037 2,235 19 

125 45 29,028 25,719 

310 55,548 37,535 

309 177 581 118 

100 410 1,606 1,280 

44 49 1,037 1,610 

13 36 275 491 

1 - 1,056 165 

40 32,883 19,354 

- - 1,526 1,281 

639 2,408 180 131 

40 - 51,361 .35,562 

1,391 - - -
135 - - -

$ 3,846 $ 5,384 $ 485,406 $ 355,412 

s and liabilities.recorded in the financial statements as at 

Olher Other Other Other 
assets assets liabilities liabilities 

(current) (long-term) (current) (long-term) 

$ $ $ 244,563 $ 212,920 

350 621 30 139 

2 7 -
757 416 -

- - 237,145 203,088 
— — 

11,060 8,439 

31,291 30,464 

- 38,015 39,035 

523 102 445 9 

33 146 731 -
107 130 918 945 

- - 167 447 

- - 912 .915 

- - 96,938 75,142 

- - 1,265 2,262 

654 3,605 - -
- 21,720 16,767 

277 - - — 

$ 2,703 $ 5,027 E 685,200 $ 590,572 

! I 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIALSTATEMENTS 

The following table summarizes financial instruments classified as held for trading as at March 31, 2011 to which Just'Energy 

has committed: 

r.. 

1̂" 

w 

Contract type 
.Notional 

volume 

Total 
remaining 

volume Maturity date Fixed price 

Fair value 
favourable/ 

(unfavourable) 
Notional 

value 

Canada 

(i) Fixed-for-floating 0.0001-85 9,688,499 April 30, 2011 - $28.75-$128.13 ($224,677) $623,260 
electricity swaps* MWh MWh October 11, 2018 

(ii) Renewable energy 10-90,000 1,106,558 December 31, 2011- $3.00-$26.00 ($184) $7,149 
certificates MWh MWh December 31, 2015 

(iii) Verified emission- 6.000-55,000 527.000 December31, 2011 - $6.25-511.50 ($943) $4,964 

reduction credits tonnes tonnes December 31,2014 

(iv) Options 46-40,500 3,098,430 April 30, 2011 - $7.16-51239" $1,507 $5,500 
GJ/month GJ February 28, 2014 

(v) Physical gas 1-28;558 105,394,304 April 30, 2011 - J3.39-S10.00 ($301,481) $759,167 
forward contracts GJ/day GJ March 31, 2016 

(ui) Transportation 74-20; 000 43,307,681 April 30, 2011 - S0.01-Sl.57 ($8,134) 533,686 

forward contracts GJ/day GJ May 31, 2015 

(vii) Fixed financial swaps 14,500-139,500 . 9,684,500 April 30, 201.1 - $4.47-$8.79 ($1,217) $46,196 

GJ/month GJ July31, 2016 

Un i ted States 

(viii) Fixed-for-floating 0.10-57 7.522,842 April 30, 2011 - $23.56-$132.59 ($52,917) $393,405 
electricity swaps* MWh MWh December31, 2015 (US$24,30-$136.75) {US($54,576)) (US$405,739) 

(ix) Physical electricity 1-55 9,253,968 April 30, 2011 - $14.54-$106.90 ($89,953) $480,536 
forwards MWh MWh May31,2016 (US$15,00-$110.25) (US($92,773)) (US$495,602) 

(x) Unforced capadty 5-36 571 April 30, 2011 - i824-$7,757 ($207) $2,677 
forward contracts MWCap MWCap November 30, 2012 (US$850-$8,000) (US($213)) (US$2,761) 

(xi) Unforced capacity 1-50 2,369 April 30, 2011 - $630-$8,484 ($2,305) $11,037 
physical contracis MWCap MWCap May 31, 2014 (US$650-$8,750) (US$(2,377)) (US$11,383) 

(xii) Renewable energy 5,000-160,000 2,220,400 Decembers],2011 - $2.62-$24.00 ($2,476) $13,716 
certificates MWh MWh December 31. 2015 (US$2.70-$24.75) (U5($2.554)) (US$14,146) 

(xiii) Verified emission- 10,000-50,000 ' 585,000 December 31, 2011 - $4.36-$8.48 ($696) $4,097 
reduction credits tonnes tonnes December31, 2016 (US$4,50-$8.75) (US($718)) (US$4,225) 

(xiv) Options 5-90,000 3,287,880 April 30, 2011 - $7.51-$13.38 ($617) $4,245 
mmBTU/month mmBTU December 31. 2014 (US$7.75-$13.80} (US($636)) (US$4,378) 

(xv) Physical gas 1-7,700 16,890,058 April 30, 2011 - I3.98-J11.52 ($50,609) $136,499 
forward contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU July31, 2014 (US$4.10-$ 11.88) (US($52,196)) (US$140,779) 

(xvi) Transportation 3-15.500 39,949,590 April 30, 2011 - $0.0048-$1.2100 ($2,721) ($84,548) 
forward contracts mmBTU/day mmBTU August31, 2015 (US$0.005O-$ 1.2500) (US{$2,806)) (US$87,199) 

(xvii) Heat rate swaps 1-30 3,924,952 April 30, 2011 - $18.85-$75.02 $2,653 $165;659 
MWh MWh September 30, 2015 (US$19.44-$77.37) . (US$2,736) (US$170,853) 

(xviii) Fixed financial swaps 930-380,000 62,881,529 April 30, 2011 - $3.93-$9.11 ($84,243) $397,449 
mmBTU/month mmBTU May 31,2017 (US$4.05-$9.40) (US($86,884)) (US$409,910) 

(xix) Foreign exchange ($569-$4,460) n/a April 01, 2011 - $0.9750-$1.0457 $1,391 $28,413 

forward contracts (US $587-14,000) January 03, 2012 (US$27,733) 

(xx) Ethanol physical 396,258 7.132.645 April 01, 2011 - $2.34-$2.65 $136 $17,860 

forward contracts gallons gallons December 01, 2011 

* The electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of Alberta are predominantly load-following and some contracts in Ontario are also 
load-following, wherein the quantity of electricity contained in the supply contract "follows" the usage of customers designated by the supply 
contract. Notional volumes associated with these contracts are estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. There are also 
load shaped fixed-for-floating contracts in these and the rest of Just Energy's electricity markets wherein the quantity of electricity is established but 
varies throughouL the term of the contracts. 
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Fair value ("FV") hierarchy 

Lcval 1 
Ihe lair value meai.utemenls are classified as leve l 1 in Ihe IV Hieraichy il Ihe lair value Is delermined uslnij i iuoled, unadjusleil 

markel pi ire:;. Jusl lineiijy values ils cash, resliii'.leil cash, accounls receivable, hank indehieduess, account:; payable and.accrued 

liahililies and lumj-lemi debl under Levi;! 1. 

Level 2 

Fair value measuremenls which require inpuls olher lhan quoled prices in Level 1, eilher direclly or indireclly, are classified as 

Level ?. in ihe FV hierarchy. Ibis could include ihe use ol slalislical (echniques lo deiive the FV curve from ohsorvable markel 

prices. Flowever, in order In be classilied under Level 2, inputs must he subslanlially obseivable in ihe market. Jusl Lnerrjy values 

ils New York Mercantile Fxchange ("NYMEX") linancial rjas lixed-lor-lloalinc] swaps under Level ?.: 

Level 3 

Fair value measurements which require unobservable market dala or uso statistical techrii(|iK:s lo derive forward curves from 

observable markel dala and unobservable inputs are classified as Level 3 in Ihe FV hierarchy. For the electricity supply contracts, 

Jusl linerciy uses quoled market prices as per available markel forward dala and applies a price-shaping profile to calculate the 

monthly prices from annual strips and hourly prices from block strips for the purposes of mark lo market calculations. The profile 

is based on historical settlements wilh,counterparties or with the system operator and is considered an unobservable input for the 

purposes of establishing the level in the hierarchy. For the nalural gas supply contracts. Just Energy uses three different market 

observable curves: 1) Commodity (predominantly NYMEX}, 2) Basis and 3) Foreign Exchange. NYMEX curves extend for over five 

years (thereby covering ihe length of Just Energy's contracis); however, most basis curves only extend 12-15 months into the 

future. In order to calculate basis curves for remaining years, Just Energy uses extrapolation which leads lo natural gas supply 

contracts to be classified under Level 3. 

Fair value measurement input.sensitivity 

The main cause of changes in the fair value of derivative instruments is changes in the forward curve prices used for the fair value 

calculations. Just Energy provides a sensitivity analysis of these forward curves under the commodity price risk section of this note. 

Other inputs, including volatility and correlations, are driven off historical settlements. 

The following table illustrates the classification of financial assets/{llabilities) in the FV hierarchy as at March 31, 2011: 

March 31, 2011 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets 

Trading assets 

Loans and receivable 

Derivative financial assets 

Financial l iabil i t ies 

Derivative financial liabilities 

Other financial liabilities 

Total net derivat ive l iabil i t ies 

$ 98,466 $ 
286,254 

(886,696) 

1,077 

- $ 98,466 
286,254 

8,153 9,230 

(89,177) (751,641) (840,818) 

(886,696) 

$ (501,976) $ (88,100) $ (743,488) $(1,333,564) 

The following table illustrates the changes in net fair value of financial assets/(liabilities) classified as Level 3 in the FV hierarchy for 

the year ended March 31, 2011: 

March 31, 2011 

O p e n i n g balance, Apr i l 1, 2010 $(1,229,555) 

Total gain/(losses) - Net income 6,891 

Purchases (256,294) 

Sales 3,795 

Settlements 731,675 

Transfer out of Level 3 

Clos ing balance, March 31, 2011 $ (743,488) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

{bj Classification of financial assets and liabilities 
The following table represents the fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost. 

Asat March 31,2011 

Carrying 
amount Fair value 

Cash and restricted cash 

Accounts receivable 

Long-term receivable 

Other assets 

Bank indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and unit distributions payable 

Long-term debt 

Other liabilities 

Interest expense on financial liabilities not held-for-trading 

$ 98,466 $ 98,466 

281,685 281,685 

4,569 4,569 
9,230 9,230 

285,119 285,119 

601,577 • 663,407 

840,818 840,818 

For the years ended March 31 
2011 2010 

$ 50,437 $ 16,134 

The carrying value of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and unit distributions 

payable approximates their fair value due to their short-term liquidity. 

The carrying value of long-term debt approximates its fair value as the interest payable on outstanding amounts is at rates that 

vary with Bankers' Acceptances, LIBOR, Canadian bank prime rate or U.S. prime rate, with the exception of the $90 million and 

$330 million convertible debentures, which are fair valued, based on market value. 

(O Management of risks arising from financial instruments 
The risks associated with Just Energy's financial instruments are as follows: 

0) Market risk 

Market risk is the potential loss that may be incurred as a result of changes in the market or fair value of a particular 

instrument or commodity. Components of market risk to which Just Energy is exposed are discussed below. 

Foreign currency risk 

Foreign currency risk is created by fluctuations in the fair value or cash flows of financial instruments due to changes in foreign 

exchange rates and exposure as a result of investment in U.S. operations. 

A portion of Just Energy's income is generated in U.S. dollars and is subject to currency fluctuations. The performance of the 

Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar could positively or negatively affect Just Energy's income. Due to its growing 

operations in the U.S. and its recent acquisition of Hudson, Just Energy expects to have a greater exposure to U.S. fluctuations 

in the future than in prior years. Just Energy has hedged between 25% and 90% of certain forecasted cross border cash flows 

that are expected to occur within the next year. The level of hedging is dependent on the source of the cash flow and the time 

remaining until the cash repatriation occurs. 

Just Energy may, from time to time, experience losses resulting from fluctuations in the values of its foreign currency 

transactions, which could adversely affect its operating results. Translation risk is not hedged. 

With respect to translation exposure, as at March 31, 2011, if the Canadian dollar had been 5% stronger or weaker against 

the U.S. dollar, assuming that all the other variables had remained constant, net income for the year ended would have been 

$4,823 higher/lower and other comprehensive income would have been $3,365 lower/higher. 

Interest rate risk 

Just Energy is also exposed to interest rate fluctuations associated with its floating rate credit facility. Just Energy's current 

exposure to interest rates does not economically warrant the use of derivative instruments. Just Energy's exposure to interest 

rate risk is relatively immaterial and temporary in nature. Just Energy does not currently believe that this long-term debt 

exposes it to material financial risks but has set out parameters to actively manage this risk within its Risk Management Policy. 

A 1 % increase (decrease) in interest rates would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in income before income taxes for the 
year ended March 31, 2011, of approximately $1,023. 
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pir.llion:, in llie rja:; and eleiliit ily pi nl folio:, which al:;o I ceil a Value al Ui:;!: limit; Mmiild any el lln: limil:, he exi ceded, lliey 
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and liijuiilily oi markel:;. Ju:;l lineiijy elileis inlo dciivalive iicilmmenls in nuler lo manage exjiOMiie:. lo chanije:; in r.ummudily 

juice:.. Ihe del iva live insliumeul:. lhal are u:.ed aie ile:;iijned lo lix the pi ice ul supply loi eslimaled ruslnmei cominmlily 

demand and Iheir.'by lix m.'iiijiiis such lhal Shareholder dividends can lie appropiialdy e:.lahli:,lied, Deiivalive insliiimenls aie 

(jeneially Iransaclerl over-lhe-coiinter. The inabilily or lailure of Iii:.l lineiijy In manarje and mnuiloi ihe ahtive maikel risks 

could have a malerial arlversi.' el I eel on ihe ojieralioi r; ai id cash Mow ol Just linenjy, 

Commodity price sensitivity - All derivalive financial instruments 

As.al March 31, 2011, if llic energy juices, includinrj nalural (jas, eleclricily/veiilierl emission-reduclion credits, .•mil renewable 

energy ceililicales, had risen ((alien) liy 10%, assuming lhal all Ihe oilier variables had remained ronslant, income before 

laxes fur llie quarler ended March 31, 2011, would have increased (decreased) hy $193,338 ($192,492) primarily as a resull ol 

Ihe change in the fair value ol Jusl linergy's dciivalive instruments. 

Commodity price sensitivity - Level 3 derivative financial instruments 

As at March 31, 2011, if the energy jirlces, including nalural gas, eleclricily, verilicd emission-reduction credils, and renewable 

energy certificates, had risen (fallen) by 10%, assuming lhat all the other variables had remained constant, income before 

taxes for the quarter ended March 3'!, 2011, would have increased (decreased) by $169,292 ($168,613) primarily as a resull of 

the change in the fair value of Jusl Energy's derivative inslruments. 

di) Credit risk 

Credit risk.is the risk that one parly lo a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation and causes financial loss to 

another party. Just Energy is.exposed to credit risk in two specific areas: customer credit risk and counterparty credit risk. 

Customer credit risk-

In Alberta, Texas, Illinois, Pennsylvania, California, Maryland, New York and New Jersey, Just Energy has customer credit risk 

and therefore, credit review processes have been implemented lo perform credit evaluations of customers and manage 

customer default. If a significant number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse 

effect on the operations and cash flows of Just Energy. Management factors default from credit risk in its margin expectations 

for all the above markets. 

As at March 31, the aging of the accounts receivable from the above markets was as follows: 

Current 

1-30 days 

31-60 days 

61-90 days 

Over 91 days 

2011 2010 

$ 61,695 $ 44,531 
15,088 13,873 

5,533 4,598 
5,652 1,768 

10,322 3,973 

98,290 $ 68,743 

For the year ended March 31, 2011, changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

Balance, beginning of year 

Provision for doubtful accounts 

Bad debts written off 

Others 

Balance, end of year 

$ 23,110 

27,627 

(23,801) 

(1,821) 

$ 25,115 

For the remaining markets, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the risk of any bad debts owing from Just Energy's 

customers for a fee. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver payment to Just Energy is minimal. There 

is no assurance that the LDCS that provide these services will continue to do so in the future. 
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I NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Counterparty credit risk 

Counterparty credit risk represents the loss that Just Energy would incur if a counterparty fails to perform under its contractual 

obligations- This risk would manifest itself in Just Energy, replacing contrarted supply at prevailing market rates, thus impacting 

the related customer margin. Counterparty limits are established within the Risk Management Policy. Any exceptions to these 

limits require approval from the Board of Directors of JEGI. The Risk Department and Risk Committee monitor current and 

potential credit exposure to individual counterparties and also monitor overall aggregate counterparty exposure. However, the 

failure of a counterparty to meet its contractual obligations could have a material adverse effect on the operations and cash 

flows of Just Energy. 

As at March 31, 2011, the maximum counterparty credit risk exposure amounted to $107,520, representing the risk relating 

to its derivative financial assets and accounts receivable. 

(Mi) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the:potential inability to meet financial obligations as they fall due. Just Energy manages this risk by monitoring 

detailed weekly cash flow forecasts covering a rolling six-week period; monthly cash forecasts for the next 12 months, and 

quarterly forecasts for the following two-year period to ensure adequate and efficient use of cash resources and credit facilities. 

The following are the contractual maturities, excluding interest payments, reflecting undiscounted disbursements of Just 

Energy's financial liabilities as at March 31, 2011. 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

Less than 
1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 

More than 
5 years 

Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities 

Bank indebtedness" 

Long-term debt* 

Derivative instruments 

282,805 

2,314 

601,577 

840,818 

282,805 

2,314 

652,397 

3,173,789 

282,805 

2,314 

94,117 

1,498,293 
99,099 

1,405,699 

119,684 

267,505 
339,497 

2,292 

$ 1,727,514 $4,111,305 $ 1,877,529 $ 1,504,798 $ 387,189 $ 341,789 

* Included in long-term debt is 5330,000 and $90,000 relating to convertible debentures, which may be settled through the issuance of shares at 
the option of the holder. 

In addition to the amounts noted above, at March 31, 2011, net interest payments over the life of the long-term debt and 

bank credit facility are as follows: 

Interest payments 

Less than 
1 year 1 to 3 years 4 to 5 years 

More than 
5 years 

$ 45,430 $ 61,282 $ 45,470 $ 21,427 

(iv) Supplier risk 

Just Energy purchases the majority of the gas and electricity delivered to its customers through long-term contracts entered 

into with various suppliers. Just Energy has an exposure to supplier risk as the ability to continue to deliver gas and electricity 

to its customers is reliant upon the ongoing operations of these suppliers and their ability to fulfill their contractual obligations. 

Just Energy has discounted the fair value of its financial assets by $1,207 to accommodate for its counterparties' risk of default. 

NOTE is CAPITAL DISCLOSURE 
Just Energy defines capital as Shareholders' equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive income).and long-term debt. 

Just Energy's objectives when managing capital are to maintain flexibility between: 

(a) enabling it to operate efficiently; 

(b) providing liquidity and'access to capital for growth opportunities; and 

(c) providing returns and generating predictable cash flow for dividend payments to shareholders 

Just Energy manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 

characteristics of the underlying assets. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 

management; but rather promotes year over year sustainable, profitable growth. Just Energy's capital management objectives 

have remained unchanged from the prior year. Just Energy is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements other 

than financial covenants in its credit facilities and as at March 31, 2011 and 2010, all of these covenants have been met. 
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INCOME PER SHARE 
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Diluled income: per share1 

Nnl income available lo Shaieholilers 

llasic unils aiul shares milslanclint| 

Dilulive cffecl of: 

Itcslricled share cjrants 

Defeued share (jranls 

Shares oulsl/indiny on a ililuled basis 

Dilulcd income per share/unit 

^1)11 2 l l | i ) 

$ 515,317 $ 231 ,4 :K ; 

128,171,630 1 17,074,1^1 
4,009,086 5,2(i3,72H 
3,098,124 5,027,(i2fi 

135,278,840 127,!)fi5,:i.')4 

$ 3.81 1. 1.H1 

$ 515,347 % 231,496 

135,278,840 127,905,534 

2,737,214 1,392,423 

93,231 71,137 

138,109,285 12.9,429,094 

$ 3.73 % 1.79 
1 The tai) million and 1330 million converlible debentures and slock nplion rlijlits arc iinlklilulive lor fisCiil 2011 ;IIKI 2010. 

UOK 17 REPORTABLE BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

Just linergy operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United Stales. Ileporting by geographic region is in 

line with Jusl Energy's performance measurcmen.l parameters. The gas and electricity business segments have operations in bolh 

Canada and the United States. 

Just Energy evaluates segment performance based on geographic segments and operating segments. 

The following tables present Just Energy's resulls by geographic segments and operating segments; 

2011 
Gas and electricity marketing 

Canada United States 

Ethanol 

Canada 

Home services 

Canada Consolidated 

Sales gas $ 660,457 $ 526,311 $ $ 1,186,768 
Sales electricity 619,985 1,015,347 - - 1,635,332 
Ethanol - - 108,526 - 108,526 
Home services - - - 22,566 22,566 

Sales $ 1,280,442 $ 1,541,658 £ 108,526 $ 22,566 $2,953,192 

Gross margin $ 188;949 $ 263,291 t 14,266 $ 15,697 $ 482,203 
Amortization of property, plant and equipment (3,726) (494) (1,171) (307) (5,698) 
Amortization of intangible assets (47,392) (71,832) (22) (1,595) (120,841) 
Other operating expenses (68,653) (179,524) (11,164) (17,020) (276,361) 

Income (loss) before the undernoted 69,178 11,441 1,909 (3,225) 79,303 
Interest expense 34,720 2,387 6,862 6,468 50,437 
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (370,083) (139,345) 27 - (509,401) 
Other income (7,036) (132) (42) (25) (7,235) 
Non-controlling interest - - (1,987) - (1,987) 
Provision (recovery) of income taxes 13,636 21;007 (2,501) 32,142 

Net income (loss) $ 397,941 $ 127,524 1 E (2,951) $ (7,167) $ 515,347 

Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 3,091 $ 2;659 3 » 266 $ 30,625 $ 36,641 

Total goodwill $ 153,043 $ 58,108 S $ 283 $ 211,434 

Total assets $ 596,-738 $ 698,502 3 165,244 $ 128,160 $ 1,588,644 

f 
1 * •! •',] 
it 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Gas and electricity marketing Ethanol Home services 
2010 Canada United States Canada Canada Consolidated 

Sales gas $ 788,661 $ 425,975 $ - $ $ 1,214,636 
Sales electricity 637,580 381,674 - 1,019,254 

Ethanol - - 56,455 - 56,455 

Home services - - - ' 8,886 8,886 

Sales $ 1,426,241 $ 807,649 $ 56,455 $ 8,886 $ 2,299,231 

Gross margin $ 231,147 $ 172,627 $ 4,510 $ 7,049 $ 415,333 

Amortization of property, plant and equipment (3,418) (251) (1,059) (766) (5,494) 

Amortization of intangible assets (37,309) (22,413) (20) (1,209) (60,951) 

Other operating expenses (68,156) (121,394) (9,089) (8,760) (207,399) 

Income before the undernoted 122,264 28,569 (5,658) (3,686) 141,489 

Interest expense 9;079 1,130 5,107 818 16,134 

Change in fair value of derivative instruments 37,058 (35,776) - - 1,282 

Other income (3,122) (82) (311) - (3,515) 

Non-controlling interest - - (3,593) (55) (3,648) 

Provision (recovery) for income tax (123,113) 24,415 (1,562) (100,260) 

Net income (loss) $ 202,362 . $ 38,882 $ (6,861) $ (2,887) $ 231,496 

Additions to property, plant and equipment $ 11,267 $ 797 $ 4,599 $ 24,544 $ 41,207 

Total goodwill $ 138,905 $ 31,053 $ - $ 7,929 $ 177,887 

Total assets $ 727,395 $ 330,912 $ 161,028 $ 91,492 $ 1,310,827 

NOTE 18 GUARANTEES 

(a) Officers and directors 
Corporate indemnities have been provided by Just Energy to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and affiliates for 

various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with Just Energy and its 

subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. Just Energy has purchased'directors' and officers' liability insurance to 

mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to certain exceptions, applies for so long as the 

indemnified person is a director or officer of one of Just Energy's subsidiaries and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any 

potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

(b) Operations 

In the normal course of business. Just Energy and/or Just Energy's subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements that 

include guarantees in favour of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and transportation 

agreements. These guarantees may require Just Energy and/or its subsidiaries to compensate counterparties for losses incurred by 

the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions 

that may be suffered by the counterparty as a.consequence of the transaction. The maximum payable under these guarantees is 

estimated to be $88,282. 

NOTE 19 COMMITMENTS 

Commitments for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 

Premises and 
equipment 

leasing 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

Thereafter 

Grain Master Services 
produaion agreement 

contracts with EPCOR 

Long-term 
commodity 

contracts 
with various 

suppliers 

$ 8,333 $ 7,082 $ 4,974 $ 1,498,293 

6,222 1,703 - 915,844 

4,733 396 - 489,855 

3,855 - - 209,069 

2,678 - - 58,436 

4,841 - - 2,292 

$ 30,662 $ 9,181 $ 4,974 $ 3,173,789 
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iidii: vii CONTINGENCIES 
lln: M.itn ui (".'ililnnii.i li.i:. lik'd .1 IUIIMIH:! ul 11 iinplninlr. In flu: I ndi.'i.'il l.m.'n.iy Ui.'jul.'iluiyCninmis'.idu ('T'l.liC ") ,'it|.-|iiii;l many 

i.ii|i|ill'itnl clccltii.ily, im luilinii CIHIIIIK.II.I.', a Mibsidiaiy nl lu:;l l:in;ii_iy, wilh ICI-IIIJCI In cvuul:. :,li:iiiinlii(| Imm tin: 21)1)1 nnnniy 

(;ii:,i:, in Calilninia. hiiMianl in llu: t'umiilainls, Hu: Slain ul Calilninia i:. 1 hallentjini) llic l!|iHC':. cnlim nmcnl ul il:, maikul-li.'iM.'il 

rah: :.y:,U:iii. Alllmuijli Cnmmc.'u 1: iliii nnl own (ji'iieialiuji, Ihe Slain nl Calilninia i:; daiminjj lhal CdNimcicc wa:. iinjnslly 

'jniiclnul hy llic IIIII-II|) caitM.'il hy llic alleijed maikel mani|)iilalbn hy nlhei maikel iiailidpanl;,, 'lln.' pioceeiliiKj:, ate i:iiin:ully 

nnijuiiii}. On Match W; 2010, (lie Adininii.tialiuc Law iudcje iiranled llie mulinn In :,liifa: Inr all pat/ies in (itie ol (lie Cfiinplainl:, 

linlilintj lhal Calilni nia did nol piove lhal Ihe icpoi ting eiicn:, masked llu: acciimulalion of maikel |iowct..Cali[0[iiia ha:; appealed 

Ihe decision. 

Al (his lime, llie likelihood of ilainarjes nr lecoveries and Ihe ullimale amounl:., if .'my, wilh resped lo (his lilicjalion is 

nol ilelenninahle. 

Noil: xi ADJUSTMENTS REQUIRED TO REFLECT NET CASH RECEIPTS FROM GAS SALES 

Chanyes in: 

Accrued cjas accounls payable 

Unbilled revenues 

Gas delivered in excess of consumplion 

Deferred revenue 

2011 ?.0M) 

$ 4,266 5 (26,286) 

(5,749) 36,986 

3,763 (8,508) 

(4,005) 8,357 

$ (1,725) 3 10,549 

2011 2010 

$ 4,513 5 (60,021) 

(2,355) 2,430 
(583) (41) 

15,511 25,869 

(49,637) 5,931 

(5,662) (8,303) 

- (1,388) 

NOiT: 22 NET CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL 

Accounls receivable 

Gas in storage 

Inventory 

Prepaid expenses 

Accounts payable and accrued fiabililies 

Corporate taxes recoverable 

Other 

$ (38,213) $ (35,523) 

NOTE 23 COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Certain figures from the comparative consolidated financial'Statements have been reclassified from statements previously 

presented to conform to the presentation of the current year's consolidated financial statements. 

NOTE 24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Declared dividends 

On April 4, 2011, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per common share 

($1.24 annually). The dividend will be paid on.April 30, 2011, to shareholders of record atthe close of business on April 15, 2011. 

On May 3, 2011, the Board of Directors of Just Energy declared a dividend in the amount of $0.10333 per common share 

($1.24 annually). The dividend will .be paid on May 31, 2011, to shareholders of record at the dose of business on May 15, 2011. 
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